Gulhane Med J September 2022 Volume 64 Issue 3

ISSN: 1302-0471 e-ISSN: 2146-8052



www.gulhanemedj.org



Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Executive Editor-in-Chief

Cevdet ERDÖL, M.D., Prof. Rector of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Istanbul, Türkiye Editor-in-Chief

M. Ali GÜLÇELİK, M.D., Prof. Dean of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8967-7303

Editors

Emre ADIGÜZEL, M.D., Assoc. Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara City Hospital, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-2447-5065

Melih AKINCI, M.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0001-8719-6584

Simel AYYILDIZ, DDS, Ph.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Prosthodontics, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4679-0629

Muhammet ÇINAR, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6150-3539

Ahu PAKDEMİRLİ, M.D., Ph.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID ID: 0000-0001-9224-3007

Y. Alper SÖNMEZ, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-9309-7715

İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-0936-2476

Duygu TECER, M.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8816-6181

Yusuf TUNCA, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Medical Genetics, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0001-6336-5371



Derya Mor Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpınar Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülay Saday

Gülşah Özgül

Sevinç Çakmak

Finance Coordinator

Galenos Publishing House

Owner and Publisher

Project Coordinators Aysel Balta Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Pınar Akpınar Rabia Palazoğlu

Sümeyye Karadağ Research&Development

. Nihan Karamanlı

Digital Marketing Specialist Ümit Topluoğlu

Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr • yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Printing at: Son Sürat Daktilo Dijital Baskı Merkezi Sanayi ve Ticaret Ltd. Şti. Gayrettepe Mahallesi, Yıldızposta Caddesi, Evren Sitesi A Blok No: 32 D: 1 - D: 3 34349 Beşiktaş, İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 288 45 75 E-mail: info@sonsuratdaktilo.com Printing Date: September 2022 ISSN: 1302-0471 E-ISSN: 2146-8052 International scientific journal published quarterly.

GÜLHANE MEDICAL JOURNAL Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Managing Editor İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

English Editing

Provided by Galenos for accepted articles

Editorial Board

İsmail Yaşar AVCI, M.D., Prof. Hatice AYHAN, R.N., Assoc, Prof. Tülav BASAK, R.N., Prof. Bilgin B. BASGÖZ, M.D., Asst. Prof. Ahmet COSAR, M.D., Prof. Mehmet Ayhan CÖNGÖLOĞLU, M.D., Prof. Fatma İlknur ÇINAR, R.N., Prof. Ali Hakan DURUKAN, M.D., Prof. Berna EREN FİDANCI, R.N., Assoc. Prof. Sefik GÜRAN. M.D., Prof. Mesut GÜRDAL, M.D., Prof. Ömer KARADAŞ, M.D., Prof. Kazım Emre KARAŞAHİN, M.D., Prof. Necdet KOCABIYIK, M.D., Prof. Tarkan MUMCUOĞLU, M.D., Prof. Mehmet İlkin NAHARCI, M.D., Prof. Sinan ÖKSÜZ. M.D., Assoc. Prof. Oktay SARI, M.D., Prof.

Ayhan SAVAŞER, M.D., Prof.

Mustafa TUNCA, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Dilek YILDIZ, R.N., Prof.

Gülhane Medical Journal is the official scientific publication of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Gülhane Medical Journal (Gulhane Med J) is the official, scientific, peer-reviewed, international journal of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye. The journal accepts submissions on all aspects of general medicine. Featured article types include original articles, case reports, reviews, and letters to the editor. The history of the Gülhane Medical Journal dates back to 1871 and it was named with its current title in 1999.

Reasons to publish with this journal:

- Electronic archive available since 2002
- Covers the broad field of medicine
- Double-blind, peer-review policy
- Published in both print and online versions
- Online early appearance with a doi number
- No fee of any type for submission or publication

The journal is published quarterly in March, June, September and December.

Processing and publication are free of charge with Gülhane Medical Journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process.

All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system which is available through the journal's web page.

For authors submitting to Gülhane Medical Journal, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

Abstracting and Indexing

Gülhane Medical Journal is indexed in Scopus, British Library, Ulakbim TR Index, CABI, Ebsco HOST, Index Copernicus, OCLC Worldcat, Embase, Türk Medline, Türkiye Atıf Dizini, J–Gate and Gale.

Copyright Statement

Gülhane Faculty of Medicine owns the royalty and national and international copyright of all content published in the journal.

About us

Material Disclaimer

The author(s) is (are) responsible for the articles published in Gülhane Medical Journal The editor, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www. budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peerreviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercialNoDerivatives 4.0 International License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncnd/4.0/).

The journal is printed on an acid-free paper.

Publisher Corresponding Address

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti.

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21, 34093 Fındıkzade-İstanbul-Türkiye

Phone: +90 212 621 99 25

Fax: +90 212 621 99 27

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr



Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal (GMJ) is an international, multidisciplinary and peer reviewed journal for researchers and healthcare providers. It is published four times a year, and accepts submissions in English. It is the official journal of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.

GMJ follows the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors's (ICMJE) Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. For authors submitting to GMJ, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

All submissions are evaluated through the online submission system via (<u>http://submit.gulhanemedj.org/login.php</u>). Following submission, all correspondence is sent by e-mail.

Accepted manuscripts are assigned a DOI number, and the content is freely available.

GMJ publishes in categories listed below;

- 1. Original article
- 2 Case report
- 3. Review article
- 4. Letter to the editor (and their responses)

Authors submitting their manuscripts should follow this guide for the authors. Editorial office may send the manuscript back in order to complete the standard requirements before proceeding for review.

Original articles should be designated either basic research or clinical research.

Review articles should include a summary and subheadings in the text to highlight the content of different sections. Authors are recommended to contact journal before submitting a review article in order to get a provision for review.

Case reports should present an actual patient case with a specific disease or condition.

Letters to the editor should be related to the articles published in the last four issues.

Below are the word limits applied by the GMJ, specific to manuscript types;

Type of article	Abstract	Word count*	Number of authors	Number of references	Table/figure
Original article	250	2000 to 5000	Unlimited	40	5
Review article	250	2000 to 4000	3	50	3
Case report	100	500 to 1000	5	15	2
Letter to the editor	-	250 to 500	3	5	-
*Excludes abstract_acknowl	edaments cor	offict of interest state	ement references and ta	ables: minimum and maxim	um word counts

The authors must declare that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Presentations as an abstract at a scientific meeting is an exception but this should be declared in the cover letter.

The Methods section should include a statement indicating that the research was approved by an independent local, regional or national review body (e.g., ethics committee, institutional review board). If the study includes human subjects, the author should declare openly that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans (link- https://www.wma. net/policies-post/wma-international-code-of-medical-ethics/), and Uniform Requirements for manuscripts submitted to Biomedical journals (link- http://www.icmje.org/). The name of the institution and the code of approval (i.e., approval number) must be provided. Authors should include a statement in the manuscript about informed consent obtained from their participants. According to the most recent regulations by the Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (ULAKBIM), the authors (s) of a case report must include a statement in their manuscript that written, informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

GMJ follows the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy for the clinical trials. Therefore, registration of clinical trials in a public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment is a basic requirement in this journal. The name of the public registry and the code of approval should be included in the manuscript.

Animal experiments should comply with the standards as detailed by the <u>EU Directive 2010/63/EU</u> for animal experiments. Different or local regulations may apply provided that this is written in the manuscript and EU Directive is not violated.

Preperation of the manuscript

The text should be in simple, single-column format. Using MS word processor, Times New Roman font and 11- or 12-point font size should be chosen. The text and references should be double-spaced.

Importantly, the title page must be uploaded separately, no page breaks should be used and all pages should be numbered (below, centered) consecutively.

Abbreviations should be defined when first used in the text.

Units must be expressed following the international system of units (SI).

Uploading the Manuscript Submission Form (MSF) (found in online submission system) is mandatory for all submissions. MSF must be filled in English (typewriting is encouraged), signed by the corresponding author and scanned clearly.

Authors should make sure that a good layout is helpful throughout the review and publication process.

Cover Letter

All submissions should include a cover letter and complete contact information for the corresponding author. The authors must declare in this letter that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Whether the authors have published or submitted any related papers from the same study should be stated. Authors may also use this letter for confidential contact with the editor.

Title Page

All manuscripts should start with the title page. It should include; the title of the manuscript, full names, highest academic degrees, and affiliations of all authors including updates, name and complete contact information for the corresponding author, and manuscript word count (not including title, abstract, acknowledgments, references, tables, and figure legends). The title page should also include the "Acknowledgments" section, "Conflict of interest" statement, and information about the previous publications(s) as an abstract with the inclusion of authors list in the presentation. A sample of a title page can be found here.

Abstract

It should be structured according to Aims, Methods, Results, Conclusions

Keywords

Up to six keywords should be included in the manuscript.

Main document

It should be divided into the following sections: Introduction; Methods; Results; Discussion.

A case report should be structured as follows; introduction, Presentation of Case, Discussion, Conclusion.

Acknowledgments (mandatory)

This section must include list of author contributions, credits, and other information. Author contributions must be listed in accordance with ICMJE authorship criteria. Funding must be described in detail including valid codes. Authors are responsible for the completeness of the information that should exist in the acknowledgement.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

Conflict of Interest (mandatory)

Authors must disclose any conflict of interest related to their submission. This statement must include any financial, personal or other relationships within three years of beginning the submitted work. When there is no such relationship, the authors must type "The authors declared they do not have anything to disclose regarding conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript."

References

It is the authors' responsibility to maintain the accuracy and completeness of their references and for correct citation in the text.

References should be numbered and listed in the order they appear in the text. In the text, references should be identified using arabic numerals in parenthesis placed before the period.Up to six authors in a cited article all authors should be listed. When there are seven or more authors, the first three authors' names should be included followed by "et al.". The issue number must be included in journal references, and last page number must be typed in full.

Examples of reference style:

Galant SP, Komarow HD, Shin HW, Siddiqui S, Lipworth BJ. The case for impulse oscillometry in the management of asthma in children and adults. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017;118:664-671.

Willeit K, Pechlaner R, Willeit P, et al. Association between vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 and atrial fibrillation. JAMA Cardiol. 2017;2:516-523.

Taichman DB, Sahni P, Pinborg A, et al. Data sharing statements for clinical trials: a requirement of the international committee of medical journal editors [published online June 6, 2017]. Ann Intern Med. doi: 10.7326/M17-1028.

World Health Organization. WHO Criteria for Diagnosis of Osteoporosis. Last Accessed Date: 15.06.2017. Available from: http://www.4bonehealth.org/education/world-health-organization-criteria-diagnosis-osteoporosis/

Venables WN, Ripley BD. Modern Applied Statistics With S. 4th ed. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Co; 2003

Purnell L. Transcultural Diversity and Health Care. In: Transcultural Health Care: A Culturally Competent Approach. 4th ed. Philadelphia: FA Davis Company; 2012:7.

Tables

Tables should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each table should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each table should be uploaded as a separate word file.

Figures

Figures should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each figure should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each figure should be uploaded as a separate JPEG or TIFF file and should not exceed 1 MB in size.

Table and figure Legends

Use of brief legends (captions) for tables and figures is recommended. These can include explanation of the table or figure, markers and expansion of abbreviations. The legends should be uploaded as separate, word files.

GMJ encourages authors to use reporting guidelines such as CONSORT for Randomized Controlled Trial, PRISMA for Systematic Reviews or Meta-analyses of controlled trials, STARD for Diagnostic accuracy studies, and STROBE for Observational epidemiology studies.

Fees

GMJ offers entirely free publication. No page charges, article processing charge, or other are applied. The journal does not accept donations.

© 2018 Gülhane Medical Journal. All Rights Reserved.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Peer Review and Ethics

Peer Review Policy

Gülhane Medical Journal is an independent, non-biased periodical publication that adheres to the double-blind peerreview process.

The manuscript evaluation process and ethical principals in this publication conform to the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations) (http://www.icmje.org) and The Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (https://publicationethics.org/).

Submitted manuscripts are first evaluated for their scientific value by the managing editor. After the initial evaluation, an editor is assigned by the Editor-in-Chief. Each manuscript is sent to at least two reviewers by the assigning editor. Following review and the decision of the assigning editor, the Editor-in-Chief makes a decision. The procedure is the same for the initial submission and the revised manuscript. The whole evaluation process is aimed to be completed within 12 weeks. Where necessary, manuscripts are also evaluated by the statistics editor.

The dates of submission and acceptance are displayed on the first page of the accepted manuscripts.

The Editor-in-Chief and editors have the right to reject or return manuscripts to be revised for format or scientific content before the reviewer selection.

All queries should be sent to the editorial office via e-mail the following address: editor@gulhanemedj.org.

Withdrawal Policy

Withdrawal of a manuscript will be permitted only for the most compelling and unavoidable reasons. For withdrawal requests, authors need to submit an "Article Withdrawal Form", signed by all authors. The form is available at (http://glns.co/vsw7j). The submission of this form is not sufficient to complete the withdrawal procedure. The editorial office notifies the authors about the decision of the Editor-in-Chief.

In case the review process exceeds six months following editor assignment, the authors have the right to place a withdrawal request without any reason.

Ethical Considerations

Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal is committed to providing high-quality articles and upholds the publication ethics to advance the intellectual agenda of science. We expect the authors to comply with the best practice in publication ethics.

For experimental and clinical studies, approval by the ethical committee and a statement on adherence of the study protocol to the international agreements (Helsinki Declaration revised 2013 (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/ wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/) are mandatory. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures are in accordance with animal rights (Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals, www.nap.edu.catalog/5140.html) and they should obtain animal ethic committee approval.

The collected data cannot be shared with third-party persons, organizations or other affiliations. Patients' private data cannot be published.

The "Materials and Methods" should include sufficient information about the ethical approval along with its source and code. This section should also include the required statements that the study procedures conformed to the international standards of human and animal studies, and written, informed consent was obtained for each participant.

The declaration of the conflict of interest between the authors and institutions, and acknowledgement of any funding or financial or material support should appear at the end of the manuscript.

Editors and Reviewers

Editors and reviewers are required to report any potential conflict of interest with the submitting authors and their institutions.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Peer Review and Ethics

Evidence of the following attempts is subject to sanctions in this journal:

Plagiarism: Republishing the data or intellectual material of someone else as one's own original work.

Fabrication: Publishing data and findings/results that do not exist.

Duplication (multiple publications): Publishing the same data or intellectual material more than once. Publication as an abstract presentation in a scientific meeting is outside this definition.

Salami publication/slicing: Publishing multiple articles by dividing the results of a single study preternaturally.

We use Crossref Similarity Check powered by "iThenticate" to screen all submissions for plagiarism before the review step and before the publication.

Author Contributions

In accordance with the ICMJE recommendations, contributions of all authors must be listed in the manuscript. Contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should not be listed as authors, but they should be acknowledged.

GÜLHANE MEDICAL JOURNAL Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Contents

REVIEW

208 A systematic review and meta-analysis on blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in COVID-19 cases

Mazaher Ramezani, Houshang Nemati, Farid Najafi, Babak Sayad, Masoud Sadeghi; Kermanshah, Iran

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

217 Changes in neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio following treatment with dapagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus

Süleyman Baş, Funda Müşerref Türkmen; İstanbul, Türkiye

- 222 Characteristics of fetal conotruncal heart anomalies Ayşe Keleş, Osman Yılmaz, Özge Yücel Çelik, Gülşah Dağdeviren, Gülşah Aynaoğlu Yıldız, Aykan Yücel, Dilek Şahin; Ankara, Türkiye
- **229** Efficacy of ifosfamide, carboplatin and etoposide chemotherapy protocol in relapsed refractory germ cell tumors

Musa Barış Aykan, İsmail Ertürk, Ramazan Acar, Gül Sema Keskin, Ece Örnek, Nuri Karadurmuş; Ankara, Türkiye

235 The impact of oocyte denudation without a pre-incubation on intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes

Zehra Beyza Düzgün, Mehmet Cıncık, Yaprak Dönmez Çakıl, Şenay Kanaat, Belgin Selam; İstanbul, Türkiye

- 240 The relationship of atherogenic index of plasma with endothelial dysfunction biomarkers in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease Ali Kırık, Hasan Gürel, Halil Genç, Gürkan Çelebi, Ali Cem Yekdeş, Serkan Tapan, Ali Fuat Çiçek, Sultan Türel, Cemal Nuri Erçin, Alper Sönmez, Teoman Doğru; Balikesir, Samsun, Izmir, Ankara, Nigde, Türkiye
- **248** Association between diabetes mellitus and disability in hand osteoarthritis Sanem Aslıhan Aykan, Serdar Kaymaz; Istanbul, Denizli, Türkiye
- 255 Epithelium-off corneal cross-linking versus transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis-assisted corneal cross-linking in keratoconus patients with thin corneas Betül Seher Uysal, Murat Yüksel, Mehmet Cüneyt Özmen, Bahri Aydın, Kamil Bilgihan; Ankara, Türkiye
- **262** Caffeine intake and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women Kübra Tel Adıgüzel, Özlem Köroğlu; Ankara, Türkiye
- 268 Decreased vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with Celiac disease: A nationwide cross-sectional study Zülfikar Akelma, Melikşah Keskin, Şenay Savaş Erdeve, Nurbanu Bursa, Osman Çelik, Ersan İmrat, Mustafa Mahir Ülgü, Murat Çağlayan, Naim Ata, Şuayip Birinci; Ankara, Türkiye
- 274 Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of residents and specialists working in tertiary healthcare institutions about drug allergy Hale Ateş, Enes Seyda Şahiner; Ankara, Türkiye

CASE REPORT

281 Hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis coexistence in patients with Down syndrome: A case series Neslihan Demirel Öğüt, Pelin Eşme, Ercan Çalışkan; Usak, Ankara, Türkiye

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Contents

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR

- **285** Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination" Kazım Emre Karaşahin; Ankara, Türkiye
- **287** Reply to: Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination"

Seyhan Demir Karabulut; Ankara, Turkey

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Message from the Editor-in-Chief

Message from the Editor-in-Chief,

While the COVID-19 pandemic and the threat of new variants follow a lower pressure during this summer, the world has been dealing with growing concerns about food and energy shortage in the richest global regions. Its potential public health consequences are predictable in the long term.

Concerning COVID-19, yet there is no cure, and much has been learned about the transmission and potential prevention measures. Ongoing research has shown that the pandemic has been a continuous threat, even greater than what has been predicted, to the biological and mental health of the populations.

A significant proportion of our readers and authors have been involved in the fight against COVID-19. We understand from the increasing number of COVID-19 submissions that they have also kept their research works active, taking directions to pandemic-related variables and outcomes.

In the third issue of GMJ in 2022, we have selected highly interesting original articles, reviews, and case reports. As the journal's publishing team, we try to keep covering a wide range of articles from different disciplines.

We thank all contributors to GMJ.

M. Ali Gülçelik, M.D., Prof. Editor-in-Chief



A systematic review and meta-analysis on blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in COVID-19 cases

Mazaher Ramezani¹, D Houshang Nemati², D Farid Najafi³, D Babak Sayad⁴, D Masoud Sadeghi⁵

¹Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Imam Reza Hospital, Molecular Pathology Research Center, Kermanshah, Iran

²Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Health Technology Institute, Fertility and Infertility Research Center, Kermanshah, Iran

We assessed the blood levels of the most important factors such as cytokines/chemokines

in Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). PubMed/Medline and Scopus as two important

databases were searched up to March 26, 2020. To analyze the data, we used Review Manager

5.3 software. Out of forty-two records retrieved from two databases, 10 studies were involved

in the analysis. Thirty-three cytokines/chemokines were checked. The levels of 27 cytokines/ chemokines in COVID-19 patients were higher than the healthy controls, and among 20 cytokines/chemokines; the levels of 10 cytokines/chemokines in severe COVID-19 patients

were higher than non-severe COVID-19 patients. Also, out of three cytokines, one had a higher

level in the intensive care unit (ICU) patients compared to the non-ICU patients. The findings

showed the cytokine storm syndrome in COVID-19 patients, especially in patients with severe

³Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences Faculty of Public Health, Research Center for Environmental Determinants of Health, Kermanshah, Iran

⁴Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences Faculty of Medicine, Department of Infectious Disease, Kermanshah, Iran ⁵Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Medical Biology Research Center, Kermanshah, Iran

ABSTRACT

disease.

Date submitted: 10.02.2021

Date accepted: 05.07.2021

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Masoud Sadeghi, Ph.D., Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Medical Biology Research Center, Kermanshah, Iran sadeghi_mbrc@yahoo.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3586-3012

Keywords: Chemokine, cytokine, COVID-19, blood, meta-analyses

Introduction

In January 2020, severe acute respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) extend to various cities in China, and cases with novel Coronavirus disease-19 (nCoV-19) or Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) have now been confirmed in several countries (1-5). Patients with poor prognostic characteristics at the time of hospitalization often experience significant mortality complications, particularly acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) with various conditions such as multiple organ failure and blood clots (6). Human-tohuman transmission is highly correlated with the SARS-CoV-2, and respiratory droplets and human-to-human contact can be the main routes of transmission (7,8). At present, no specific drug is available to treat patients with COVID-19 infection. Hence, there is an immediate need for safe and effective treatment for COVID-19, particularly in severe patients (9). Excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines or even hypercytokinemia (cytokine storms) occurs in the

Middle East respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus (MERS-CoV)

[©]Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

and SARS-CoV infections (10-12) and is associated with acute lung damage and ARDS development (9,11). Storm cytokines have been described as a systemic inflammatory response to infections and drugs, leading to overactive immune cells and the production of proinflammatory cytokines (13). Recent studies have reported a reduction in the number of peripheral blood lymphocytes and an increase in the level of inflammatory cytokines in COVID-19 patients (14,15). However, it is largely obscure how various subtypes of lymphocytes, as well as the kinetics of inflammatory cytokines in peripheral blood, alter during COVID-19 (16). One research also found that COVID-19 mortality might be due to "cytokine storm syndrome" activated by the virus or fulminant myocarditis (17). Another study (18) reported high morbidity and mortality due to increased levels of interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, IL-2R, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α). The cytokine level may even be used as a prognostic factor for critically ill patients (18). In the study of Takahashi et al. (19), the levels of both IL-8 and IL-18 in the male patients were higher than in female ones; however, a worse prognosis was seen in females with an increased cytokine level. They suggested a bias for gender while interpreting the result. Here, this meta-analysis evaluated the blood levels of cytokines/ chemokines in the patients with COVID-19 for better clarification of some aspects of this disease.

Methods

The meta-analysis was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) protocols (20).

Search strategy

Two PubMed/Medline and Scopus databases were comprehensively searched by an author (M.S) to retrieve all relevant references published until March 26, 2020, without restrictions. The searched queries were ("COVID-19" or "nCoV-19" or "Coronavirus disease-19" or "SARS-CoV-2") and ("cytokine" or "interleukin" or "interferon" or "chemokine"). The citations (all types of studies) correlating with our topic were manually searched, as well.

Eligibility criteria

The inclusion criteria were (1) studies including two separation groups; (2) studies assessing the relationship between blood cytokine levels and COVID-19; (3) the presence of SARS-CoV-2 found by the quantitative polymerase chain reaction method; (4) studies that the data to estimate the mean difference (MD) and 95% confidence interval (CI) in COVID-19 patients and healthy controls.

The exclusion criteria were as (1) studies with insufficient and irrelevant data; (2) conference papers, review articles, book chapters, and meeting abstracts. The severe type of COVID-19 is defined by the Diagnosis and Treatment Protocol for Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (21) in the studies as follows: 1. Respiratory distress with a respiratory rate greater than 30 per minute; 2. Oxygen saturation $\leq 93\%$ in the resting state; 3. Arterial blood oxygen partial pressure (PaO₂)/oxygen concentration (FiO₂) ≤ 300 mmHg. Additionally, intensive care unit (ICU) patients were the patients who had been admitted to the ICU because they required high-flow nasal cannula or higher-level oxygen support measures to correct the hypoxemia.

Study selection

The titles and abstracts of the retrieved studies were independently checked by two authors (M.R and M.S). Then, both authors selected the relevant articles, while the full-text articles were retrieved by another author (H.N) and he excluded several full-texts.

Data extraction

The data from each study included in the analysis were independently extracted by two authors (M.R and M.S). If there was a discrepancy between the two authors, another author (H.N) helped make the last decision. All the authors endorsed the quality of the articles and reviewed the manuscript.

Statistical Analyses

The crude MD and 95% CI were estimated using Review Manager 5.3 software. Heterogeneity was evaluated across the studies applying both Cochran Q (22) and I² metrics (23). Additionally, P_{heterogeneity} or P_h <0.1 and I² >50% identified a statistically significant heterogeneity; hence, the analysis of the random-effects model was used to estimate the values of the pooled MD (95% CI). Otherwise, we used the fixed-effects model. The publication bias across the studies with Egger and Begg's tests for the analyses of more than three studies was analyzed by comprehensive meta-analysis version 2.0 software with a p<0.05 as statistically significant.

Some studies presented the values of cytokines/chemokines in standard errors and medians (interquartile), which were changed into standard deviation (SD) and mean SD, respectively (24). The blood cytokine/chemokine levels are presented in "pg/ mL." The levels of cytokines/chemokines in some studies were estimated based on the graphs by GetData Graph Digitizer 2.26 software. The quality score of each study was performed based on the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale (http:// www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp).

Results

Forty-two records were retrieved from both databases and after removing the duplicate and irrelevant records, seventeen articles met the criteria (Figure 1). Seven full-text articles were excluded for other reasons (one case report, two reviews, and four articles without healthy control groups). Finally, ten studies (7,16,25-32) were involved in the meta-analysis.

The characteristics of the studies included in the analysis are identified in Table 1. Eight studies (7,16,26-31) compared the cytokine levels in both severe and non-severe COVID-19 patients, two studies (25,29) compared the cytokine levels between non-ICU and ICU patients, and three studies (29,30,32) included healthy control groups. The quality score of each study is shown in Table 1.

The funnel plots are shown in Supplementary Appendix 1 and a summary of the main results is shown in Tables 1, 2, and 3. Table 2 shows the comparison of the levels of cytokines/chemokines in COVID-19 patients versus healthy controls in serum and plasma. The pooled results showed a significant difference between the two groups (COVID-19 patients versus healthy controls) evaluating the levels of IL-1 β (MD: 1.02; p<0.00001),

IL-1Ra (MD: 692.22; p=0.002), IL-2 (MD: 5.02; p=0.0001), IL-2Rα (MD: 35.84; p=0.02), IL-4 (MD: 1.12; p<0.00001), IL-5 (MD: 5.58; p=0.007), IL-6 (MD: 10.54; p=0.009), IL-7 (MD: 14.21; p<0.0001), IL-8 (MD: 12.27; p=0.008), IL-9 (MD: 28.45; p<0.00001), IL-10 (MD: 9.31; p=0.0003), IL-12 (p70) (MD: 2.65; p=0.0006), IL-13 (MD: 3.32; p<0.00001), IL-15 (MD: 70.15; p=0.01), IL-17 (MD: 1.02; p<0.00001), TNF-α (MD: 18.94; p=0.0002), IFN-y (MD: 12.42; p=0.0002), IP-10 (MD: 1725.35; p=0.003), G-CSF (MD: 86.33; p=0.0002), MIP-1α (MD: 1.60; p<0.0001), M-CSF (MD: 19.10; p=0.01), CTACK (MD: 325.52; p<0.00001), GM-CSF (MD: 1.22; p<0.001), MCP-1 (MD: 26.88; p=0.003), FGF basic (MD: 10.37; p<0.00001), RANTES (MD: 3010.06; p=0.03), and Eotaxin (MD: 9.57; p=0.02), not for HGF (MD: 546.77; p=0.05), MCP-3 (MD: 3.37; p=0.05), MIG (MD: 636.66; p= 0.05), MIP-1ß (MD: 14.42; p=0.08), VEGF (MD: 105.15; p=0.05), and PDGF-BB (MD: 857.47; p=0.26).



Table 1. Characterist	Table 1. Characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis (n=10)	he meta-an	alvsis (n=10)					
Study, year	No of cases	No of controls	Median age of cases, year	Median age of controls, year	Male % of cases	Male % of controls	Quality score	Marker
Cai et al. (25) 2020	240 (no ICU care) & 58 (ICU care)	NA	40 & 64	NA	46.3 & 56.9	NA	9	II-6
Diao et al. (27) 2020	249 (non-severe) & 20 (severe)	NA	Range: 5-97	NA	NA	NA	9	II-10, TNF-α, II-6
Gao et al. (28) 2020	28 (non-severe) & 15 (severe)	NA	43 & 45.2	NA	57 & 60	NA	7	II-6
Huang et al. (29) 2020	28 (no ICU care) & 13 (ICU care)	4	49 & 49	Adult	9 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	Ą	۵	IL-1b, IL-1RA, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10, IL-17, IFN-γ, TNF-α, PDGF-BB, IP-10, G-CSF, IL-13, IL-9, Eotaxin, VEGF MIP-14, RANTES, MIP-1α, FGF basic, IL-12 (p70), IL-5, IL-15, MCP-1
Chen et al. (26) 2020	15 (non-severe) & 9 (severe)	NA	56	NA	72	NA	9	LL-1b, IL-2R, IL-6, IL-10, IL-8, TNF-α
Liu et al. (30) 2020	4 (non-severe) & 8 (severe)	ω	62.5	58	66.7	20	Ø	M-CSF, IL-10, IL-17, IL-4, IP-10, IL-7, IL-1RA, G-CSF, IFN-γ, IL-2, PDGF- BB, HGF, MCP-3, MIG, MIP-1α, MIP-1b, TNF-α, IL-8, IL-13, IL-9, Eotaxin, VEGF, RANTES, MIP-1α, FGF basic, IL-12 (p70), IL-5, IL-15, MCP-1
Liu et al. (16) 2020	27 (non-severe) & 13 (severe)	NA	43.2 & 59.7	NA	29.6 & 53.8	NA	9	IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF-α, IFN-γ
Qin et al. (31) 2020	166 (non-severe) & 286 (severe)	NA	53 & 61	NA	54.2 & 48.2	NA	7	TNF-α, II-1β, II-2R, II-6, II-8, II-10
Wan et al. (7) 2020	45 (non-severe) & 18 (severe) for IL-6, 97 (non-severe) & 21 (severe) for IFN-y, 102 (non-severe) & 21 (severe) for others	NA	43.0 & 61.3	¢ Z	53.9 & 52.4	Ϋ́Α	۵	IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-17, TNF-α, IFN-γ
Yang et al. (32) 2020	19 (non-severe) & 34 (severe)	ω	51 & 63.5	¢ Z	47.3 & 64.7	AA	۵	FN-y, IL-1RA, IL-2RA, IL-6, IL-10, IL-18, HGF, MCP-3, MIG, M-CSF, G-CSF, MIG-1a, CTACK, IP-10
NA: Not available, ICU: Int	NA: Not available, ICU: Intensive care unit, CI: Confidence interval, IL: Interleukin, TNF-o: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha	erval, IL: Interl	eukin, TNF-α: Tumor ne	ecrosis factor-alpha				

Table 3 shows the comparison of the blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in severe versus non-severe COVID-19 patients. The pooled results illustrated a significant difference between severe and non-severe COVID-19 patients in IL-1R α (MD: 1427.24; p=0.008), IL-2R (MD: 504.98; p=0.02), IL-2R α (MD: 33.14; p<0.00001), IL-6 (MD: 20.52; p<0.00001), IL-8 (MD: 7.27; p<0.01), IL-10 (MD: 2.13; p<0.00001), G-CSF (MD: 80.58; p<0.00001), HGF (MD: 700.67; p=0.005), MCP-3 (MD: 6.48; p<0.00001), and MIG (MD: 1039.43; p=0.0005) levels, not for the IL-1 β (MD: 0.15; p=0.84), IL-2 (MD: 2.12; p=0.29),

IL-4 (MD: 0.88; p=0.06), IL-17 (MD: 2.50; p=0.33), IFN-γ (MD: 4.66; p=0.09), TNF-α (MD: 0.47; p=0.28), IP-10 (MD: 7991.86; p=0.21), CTACK (MD: 82.97; p=0.42), MIP-1α (MD: 0.82; p=0.54), and M-CSF (MD: 34.62; p=0.18) levels.

The comparison of the blood levels of three cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-10) in ICU versus non-ICU patients is shown in Table 4. The pooled results indicated a significant difference between the two mentioned groups just in the TNF- α (MD: 14.46; p=0.004) level, not IL-6 (MD: 12.88; p=0.10) and IL-10 (MD: 4.41; p=0.06) levels.

Cutokino na/ml	No of	МП	95% CI		n value	Chi ²	z	1 ²	D
Cytokine, pg/mL	studies	MD	Min	Мах	– p-value	Chr	2	1-	P _h
IL-6	3	10.54	2.62	18.47	0.009	25.07	2.61	80%	0.0001
IL-10	3	9.31	4.25	14.37	0.0003	50.65	3.61	90%	<0.00001
TNF-α	2	18.94	8.94	28.95	0.0002	8.46	3.71	65%	0.04
IFN-γ	3	12.42	5.80	19.04	0.0002	37.24	3.68	87%	<0.00001
IL-1b	2	1.02	0.57	1.47	<0.00001	6.70	4.48	55%	0.08
IL-1Rα	3	692.22	257.31	1127.12	0.002	30.98	3.12	84%	<0.00001
IL-2	2	5.02	2.47	7.57	0.0001	9.14	3.86	67%	0.03
IL-4	2	1.12	0.67	1.57	<0.00001	16.99	4.87	82%	0.0007
IL-17	2	4.98	3.00	6.96	<0.00001	4.80	4.94	38%	0.19
IL-8	2	12.27	3.23	21.30	0.008	31.70	2.66	91%	<0.00001
IL-2Rα	2	35.84	4.77	66.91	0.02	36.93	2.26	92%	<0.00001
P-10	3	1725.35	579.14	2871.57	0.003	45.17	2.95	89%	<0.00001
G-CSF	3	86.33	41.20	131.45	0.0002	26.21	3.75	81%	<0.0001
MIP-1α	3	1.60	0.83	2.38	<0.0001	15.23	4.05	67%	0.009
M-CSF	2	19.10	4.13	34.06	0.01	21.12	2.50	86%	<0.0001
HGF	2	546.77	-10.01	1103.55	0.05	15.59	1.92	81%	0.001
MCP-3	2	3.37	-0.00	6.75	0.05	25.10	1.96	88%	<0.0001
MIG	2	636.66	13.96	1259.37	0.05	16.87	2.00	82%	0.0008
CTACK	2	325.52	186.28	464.75	<0.00001	2.83	4.58	0%	0.42
MIP-1b	2	15.42	-2.11	32.95	0.08	6.26	1.72	52%	0.10
GM-CSF	2	1.22	0.62	1.83	<0.0001	2.20	3.95	0%	0.53
MCP-1	2	26.88	9.07	44.70	0.003	18.39	2.96	84%	0.0004
IL-15	2	70.15	13.96	126.33	0.01	2.71	2.45	0%	0.44
IL-5	2	5.58	1.53	9.63	0.007	0.12	2.70	0%	0.73
IL-12 (p70)	2	2.65	1.14	4.16	0.0006	3.32	3.45	10%	0.34
FGF basic	2	10.37	6.65	14.09	<0.00001	4.52	5.46	34%	0.21
RANTES	2	3010.06	226.48	5793.67	0.03	10.73	2.12	72%	0.01
VEGF	2	105.15	-1.64	211.95	0.05	41.23	1.93	93%	<0.00001
Eotaxin	2	9.57	1.84	17.30	0.02	0.70	2.43	0%	0.87
IL-9	2	28.45	23.50	33.41	<0.00001	1.34	11.25	0%	0.72
IL-13	2	3.32	1.86	4.77	<0.00001	8.04	4.47	63%	0.05
PDGF-BB	2	857.47	-655.68	2406.63	0.26	31.24	1.12	90%	<0.00001
IL-7	2	14.21	7.89	20.52	<0.0001	13.41	4.41	78%	0.004

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, MD: Mean difference, CI: Confidence interval, P_h: P_{heterogeneity}, IL: Interleukin, TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Both Egger and Begg's tests on the analyses with more than three studies were used (IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , and IFN- γ levels in severe COVID-19 compared to non-severe COVID-19 patients) (Figure 2). The results didn't show any publication bias across the studies (p>0.05).

Discussion

Studies have shown that cytokines and chemokines can play a significant role in the immunity and immune system of patients with viral infections (9). The nCoV-19 can lead to severe and even fatal respiratory illnesses such as ARDS (14) and COVID-19 treatment depends primarily on the patient's immune system. When the overactive immune system kills the virus, it produces many inflammatory agents, which lead to severe cytokine storms (33). The virus can activate immune cells (such as T-cells, B-cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, and monocytes) and living tissue cells, which produce a large number of inflammatory cytokines (34). This meta-analysis of cytokines reported that the blood levels of most cytokines were higher in the COVID-19 patients than in the healthy controls. Moreover, several cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, G-CSF, IL-10, IL-1Ra, IL-2, HGF, IL-2Ra, MIG, and MCP-3) had higher levels in more severe than non-severe COVID-19 patients. Additionally, the blood levels of TNF- α in the ICU patients were higher than in the non-ICU patients. Finally, generalizations cannot be made for other cytokines.

SARS-CoV-2 is a novel beta-Coronavirus dependent on the Sarbecovirus subgenus of the Coronaviridae family (2). Inflammatory responses due to viral infections play a significant role in the severity of pulmonary pathology (35,36). The virus

	No of	MD	95% CI		n velve	Ch :2	7	1 ²	
Cytokine, pg/mL	studies	MD	Min	Max	p-value	Chi ²	Z	1-	P _h
IL-6	8	20.52	13.83	27.21	<0.00001	18.61	6.01	62%	0.010
IL-10	6	2.13	1.69	2.57	<0.00001	6.08	9.57	18%	0.30
TNF-α	5	0.47	-0.38	1.32	0.28	11.96	1.08	67%	0.02
IFN-γ	4	4.66	-0.70	10.02	0.09	19.85	1.71	85%	0.0002
IL-1b	3	0.15	-1.31	1.62	0.84	2.16	2.16	54%	0.14
IL-1Rα	2	1427.24	372.97	2481.51	0.008	1.38	2.65	27%	0.24
IL-2	2	2.12	-1.82	6.07	0.29	17.48	1.06	94%	<0.0001
IL-4	3	0.88	-0.05	1.82	0.06	17.77	1.85	89%	0.0001
IL-17	2	2.50	-2.50	7.50	0.33	20.03	0.98	95%	<0.0001
IL-8	3	7.27	1.68	12.87	0.01	6.06	2.55	67%	0.05
IL-2R	2	504.98	44.66	965.31	0.03	138.73	2.15	99%	<0.00001
IL-2Rα	2	33.14	23.49	42.79	<0.00001	0.07	6.37	0%	0.79
IP-10	2	7991.86	-4397.72	20381.45	0.21	4.46	1.26	78%	0.03
G-CSF	2	80.58	45.78	115.38	<0.00001	0.01	4.54	0%	0.94
MIP-1α	2	0.82	-1.79	3.42	0.54	4.95	0.61	80%	0.03
M-CSF	2	34.62	-16.34	85.57	0.18	2.22	1.33	55%	0.14
HGF	2	700.67	210.5	1190.78	0.005	0.00	2.80	0%	0.96
MCP-3	2	6.48	4.13	8.84	<0.00001	1.34	5.39	26%	0.25
MIG	2	1039.43	455.75	16.23.11	0.0005	0.60	3.49	0%	0.44
CTACK	2	82.97	-120.31	286.24	0.42	0.23	0.80	0%	0.63

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, MD: Mean difference, CI: Confidence interval, P_h: P_{heterogeneity}, IL: Interleukin, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum, TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

Table 4. Comparison of blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in ICU versus non-ICU patients with COVID-19

Cutokino na/ml	No of studies	MD	95% CI		n voluo	Chi ²	7	12	D
Cytokine, pg/mL	NO OI Studies		Min	Max	— p-value	CIII-	2	1-	P _h
IL-6	2	12.88	-2.28	28.04	0.10	1.36	1.67	26%	0.24
IL-10	2	4.41	-0.12	8.94	0.06	0.00	1.91	0%	0.95
TNF-α	2	14.46	4.71	24.21	0.004	0.47	2.91	0%	0.49

MD: Mean difference, CI: Confidence interval, P_h: P_{heterogeneity} IL: Interleukin, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum, ICU: Intensive care unit, TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

particles extend via the respiratory mucosa and infect other cells, inducing a cytokine storm in the body, triggering many immune responses, and altering peripheral leukocytes and lymphocytes (28), like SARS-CoV-2 (14,31). One study (28) reported that IL-6 levels could be applied to estimate and diagnose the adult COVID-19 severity. SARS-CoV-2 infection increases the secretion of IL-4 and IL-10 and inflammation, which makes a difference with the SARS-CoV infection (37). Due to the high levels of cytokines caused by 2019-nCoV-19 infections, corticosteroids have been continuously applied to remedy patients with severe diseases to get the potential benefits by decreasing inflammatory lung injury (29). One study (30) confirmed that the levels of cytokines could increase in COVID-19 patients because several cytokines/chemokines (IL-1RA, IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IFN-α2, IFN-γ, IL-10, IL-12, IL-17, IP-10, M-CSF, and G-CSF) were linearly related to lung injury and would be potential biological markers for COVID-19 severity. Studies have shown serum elevated levels of IP-10, MIP-1α, IL-6, IL-8, and MCP1 in the SARS-CoV-infected patients (38,39), and IFN-a2, IFN-y, IL-10, IL-15, and IL-17 in the plasma levels of the patients with MERS-CoV (40). A study suggested that a subgroup of severe COVID-19 patients have cytokine storm syndrome (41).

The pathophysiology of the above unusual pathogenicity for SARS-CoV or MERS-CoV is not fully understood. Preliminary studies have shown that elevated serum proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IFN- γ , IP10, MCP1, IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-12) are associated with pulmonary inflammation and extensive

lung damage in SARS patients (36). Patients infected with coronavirus had high levels of IL-1_β, IP10, IFN-y, and MCP1, which may lead to the activation of T-helper-1 cell responses. Additionally, patients who required ICU admission had higher concentrations of TNF-a, IP10, G-CSF, MCP1, and MIP-1a, than patients who did not require ICU admission, indicating that cytokine storms were associated with disease severity (29). Lymphocyte subsets play an important role in regulating the body's immune system, with each cell restricting and regulating each other. One study showed that among nCoV-19 pneumonia patients, the reduction in CD4 + T-cells was 52.90% and 95.24% in the mild and severe groups, respectively. The reduction in CD8 + T-cells was 28.40% and 61.90% in the mild and severe groups, respectively, which indicates that T lymphocytes are inhibited in severe patients when the body is resistant to nCoV-19 infection (7).

Although the mechanism of cytokines is largely unknown, efforts to use them or their inhibitors for treating diseases have been successful and acceptable (42,43). Despite their unpleasant side effects, IFN- α and IFN- γ are often used clinically (42,44,45), based on which, IFN- γ is an official drug that is recommended for the diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19-infected pneumonia (46,47). Additionally, one study showed that IL-6 was an early index of the cytokine release syndrome in this pneumonia (48). Therefore, we should consider the potential therapeutic role of extracorporeal cytokine removal in treating COVID-19-associated cytokine storms (49-51) in the future.



Figure 2. Funnel plots of IL-6, IL-10, TNF-α, and IFN-γ levels in severe COVID-19 compared with non-severe COVID-19 patients TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, IL: Interleukin

Study Limitations

Limitations of the study were 1) the disease is new and not much research has been done raising concerns of bias across studies, 2) additional analyses were not available (e.g., subgroup and meta-regression analyses), 3) several studies reported their data on the graphs and we had to estimate them based on the software, 4) several studies did not report the mean (±SD) and we had to estimate them based on the formula. The strength of the study was the inclusion of all studies with English and non-English full-texts and preprint studies.

Conclusion

The results confirmed the cytokine storm syndrome in COVID-19 patients, particularly the severe cases. Therefore, the treatment of this syndrome in this disease in the future is recommended as a new treatment to reduce the possible side effects, and studies with more samples and different regions are needed to confirm the results of this meta-analysis. However, generalizations cannot be made for cytokines, which were evaluated in only two studies.

Ethics

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: M.R., M.S., Design: M.R., M.S., Data Collection or Processing: H.N., F.N., B.S., Analysis or Interpretation: M.R., M.S., Literature Search: M.S., Writing: M.R., H.N., F.N., B.S., M.S.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors gratefully acknowledge the Research Council of Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences (Grant number: 4010091) for the financial support.

References

- Lu H, Stratton CW, Tang YW. Outbreak of Pneumonia of Unknown Etiology in Wuhan China: the Mystery and the Miracle. J Med Virol. 2020;92:401-402.
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:727-733.
- Chan JF, Yuan S, Kok KH, et al. A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating personto-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. Lancet. 2020;395:514-523.
- Zu J, Li ML, Li ZF, Shen MW, Xiao YN, Ji FP. Transmission patterns of COVID-19 in the mainland of China and the efficacy of different control strategies: a data- and model-driven study. Infect Dis Poverty. 2020;9:83.
- Xu X, Chen P, Wang J, et al. Evolution of the novel coronavirus from the ongoing Wuhan outbreak and modeling of its spike protein for risk of human transmission. Sci China Life Sci. 2020;63:457-460.

- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020;395:1054-1062.
- Wan S, Yi Q, Fan S, et al. Characteristics of lymphocyte subsets and cytokines in peripheral blood of 123 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia (NCP). Medrxiv. 2020.
- Leng Z, Zhu R, Hou W, et al. Transplantation of ACE2mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Aging Dis. 2020;11:216-228.
- Channappanavar R, Perlman S. Pathogenic human coronavirus infections: causes and consequences of cytokine storm and immunopathology. Semin Immunopathol. 2017;39:529-539.
- Sheng WH, Chiang BL, Chang SC, et al. Clinical manifestations and inflammatory cytokine responses in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. J Formos Med Assoc. 2005;104:715-723.
- 11. Zhang Y, Li J, Zhan Y, et al. Analysis of serum cytokines in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. Infect Immun. 2004;72:4410-4415.
- Niu P, Zhao G, Deng Y, et al. A novel human mAb (MERS-GD27) provides prophylactic and postexposure efficacy in MERS-CoV susceptible mice. Sci China Life Sci. 2018;61:1280-1282.
- Chien JY, Hsueh PR, Cheng WC, Yu CJ, Yang PC. Temporal changes in cytokine/chemokine profiles and pulmonary involvement in severe acute respiratory syndrome. Respirology. 2006;11:715-722.
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet. 2020;395:507-513.
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020;323:1061-1069.
- Liu J, Li S, Liu J, et al. Longitudinal characteristics of lymphocyte responses and cytokine profiles in the peripheral blood of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients. EbioMedicine. 2020;55:102763.
- Ruan Q, Yang K, Wang W, Jiang L, Song J. Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan, China. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46:846-848.
- Liu QQ, Cheng A, Wang Y, et al. Cytokines and their relationship with the severity and prognosis of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2020;10:e041471.
- Takahashi T, Ellingson MK, Wong P, et al. Sex differences in immune responses that underlie COVID-19 disease outcomes. Nature. 2020;588:315-320.
- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. 2015;4:1.
- 21. The Fifth Revised Trial Version the of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Treatment Diagnosis and Guidance. Available at: http://www.nhc.gov.cn/yzygj/ s7652m/202002/41c3142b38b84ec4a748e60773cf9d4f.shtml

- 22. Zintzaras E, Hadjigeorgiou GM. The role of G196A polymorphism in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene in the cause of Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. J Hum Genet. 2005;50:560-566.
- 23. Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med. 2002;21:1539-1558.
- Wan X, Wang W, Liu J, Tong T. Estimating the sample mean and standard deviation from the sample size, median, range and/ or interquartile range. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014;14:135.
- 25. Cai Q, Huang D, Ou P, et al. COVID-19 in a designated infectious diseases hospital outside Hubei Province, China. Allergy. 2020;75:1742-1752.
- Chen L, Liu HG, Liu W, et al. [Analysis of clinical features of 29 patients with 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia]. Zhonghua Jie He He Hu Xi Za Zhi. 2020;43:203-208.
- Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, et al. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front Immunol. 2020;11:827.
- Gao Y, Li T, Han M, et al. Diagnostic Utility of Clinical Laboratory Data Determinations for Patients with the Severe COVID-19. J Med Virol. 2020;92:791-796.
- 29. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020;395:497-506.
- Liu Y, Zhang C, Huang F, et al. 2019-novel coronavirus (2019nCoV) infections trigger an exaggerated cytokine response aggravating lung injury. ChinaXiv. Available from: https:// chinaxiv.org/abs/202002.00018
- Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, et al. Dysregulation of Immune Response in Patients With Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71:762-768.
- Yang Y, Shen C, Li J, et al. Plasma IP-10 and MCP-3 levels are highly associated with disease severity and predict the progression of COVID-19. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020;146:119-127.
- Chen L, Zhang W, Yue H, et al. Effects of human mesenchymal stem cells on the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34(+) cells. Stem Cells Dev. 2007;16:719-731.
- Krischuns T, Günl F, Henschel L, et al. Phosphorylation of TRIM28 Enhances the Expression of IFN-β and Proinflammatory Cytokines During HPAIV Infection of Human Lung Epithelial Cells. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2229.
- Born WK, Lahn M, Takeda K, Kanehiro A, O'Brien RL, Gelfand EW. Role of gammadelta T cells in protecting normal airway function. Respir Res. 2000;1:151-158.
- Zheng J, Perlman S. Immune responses in influenza A virus and human coronavirus infections: an ongoing battle between the virus and host. Curr Opin Virol. 2018;28:43-52.

- Wong CK, Lam CW, Wu AK, et al. Plasma inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in severe acute respiratory syndrome. Clin Exp Immunol. 2004;136:95-103.
- Jiang Y, Xu J, Zhou C, et al. Characterization of cytokine/ chemokine profiles of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171:850-857.
- Kuba K, Imai Y, Rao S, et al. A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. Nat Med. 2005;11:875-879.
- Mahallawi WH, Khabour OF, Zhang Q, Makhdoum HM, Suliman BA. MERS-CoV infection in humans is associated with a pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cytokine profile. Cytokine 2018;104:8-13.
- 41. Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, et al. COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. Lancet. 2020;395:1033-1034.
- 42. Ferrari SM, Fallahi P, Elia G, et al. Novel Therapies for Thyroid Autoimmune Diseases: an update. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;34:101366.
- 43. Bi Y, Tan S, Yang Y, et al. Clinical and immunological characteristics of human infections with H5N6 avian influenza virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;68:1100-1109.
- 44. Shim JM, Kim J, Tenson T, Min JY, Kainov DE. Influenza virus infection, interferon response, viral counter-response, and apoptosis. Viruses. 2017;9:223.
- 45. Pestka S, Krause CD, Walter MR. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. Immunol Rev. 2004;202:8-32.
- 46. Karki R, Sharma BR, Tuladhar S, et al. Synergism of TNF-α and IFN-γ Triggers Inflammatory Cell Death, Tissue Damage, and Mortality in SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Cytokine Shock Syndromes. Cell. 2021;184:149-68.
- 47. Gadotti AC, de Castro Deus M, Telles JP, et al. IFN-γ is an independent risk factor associated with mortality in patients with moderate and severe COVID-19 infection. Virus Res. 2020;289:198171.
- Wang W, Liu X, Wu S, et al. Definition and Risks of Cytokine Release Syndrome in 11 Critically III COVID-19 Patients With Pneumonia: Analysis of Disease Characteristics. J Infect Dis. 2020;222:1444-1451.
- Tang L, Yin Z, Hu Y, Mei H. Controlling Cytokine Storm Is Vital in COVID-19. Front Immunol. 2020;11:570993.
- 50. Lee CH. Role of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators and their receptors in virus infection: a promising therapeutic strategy for SARS-CoV-2 cytokine storm. Arch Pharm Res. 2021;44:84-98.
- 51. Kim JS, Lee JY, Yang JW, et al. Immunopathogenesis and treatment of cytokine storm in COVID-19. Theranostics. 2021;11:316-329.



Changes in neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio following treatment with dapagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus

Süleyman Baş¹, Funda Müşerref Türkmen²

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Sancaktepe Sehit Prof. Dr. Ilhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Istanbul, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Haydarpasa Numune Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Istanbul, Türkiye

Date submitted: 05.07.2021

Date accepted: 21.12.2021 Online publication date:

08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Süleyman Baş, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Sancaktepe Sehit Prof. Dr. Ilhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Istanbul, Türkiye suleymanbas.2012@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5883-445X

Keywords: Dapagliflozin, neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor, type 2 diabetes mellitus

ABSTRACT

Aims: Dapagliflozin, a sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor, is indicated for glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). In this study, we investigated the changes in neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), a marker of inflammation, in patients with T2DM after the initiation of dapagliflozin.

Methods: This retrospective study included patients (aged 18 to 75 years) with T2DM who were prescribed dapagliflozin 10 mg once daily additional to their existing diabetic treatment. Patients with a history of chronic liver disease, chronic renal failure, infection, inflammatory disease, and the use of drugs affecting bone marrow were included. The duration of treatment was set at 12 weeks.

Results: The study included 98 patients with a mean age of 54.3 ± 8.0 years, with a female predominance of 61.2%. At 12^{th} week, there was a statistically significant decrease in fasting glucose (199.6 mg/dL vs. 164.3 mg/dL, p<0.001), glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) (8.92% vs. 8.01%, p<0.001), leukocyte count (7.79 10^3 /mm³ vs. 8.36 10^3 /mm³, p=0.018) and neutrophil count (4.44 10^3 /mm³ vs. 4.84 10^3 /mm³, p=0.027). Lymphocyte count (2.56 10^3 /mm³ vs. 2.72 10^3 /mm³, p=0.150) and NLR (1.86 vs. 1.89, p=0.758) also showed some increase but the difference was not statistically significant.

Conclusions: This study showed significant increases in leukocyte and neutrophil counts in T2DM patients taking dapagliflozin, but lymphocyte count and NLR remained unaltered.

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease characterized by the inability of the body to use insulin effectively or the inability of the pancreas to produce sufficient insulin (1).

Chronic inflammation plays an important role in the development and progression of DM and its complications. Some studies show that there is an increase in the levels of inflammatory cytokines such as C-reactive protein, interleukin-1

(IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) in patients with diabetes (2,3).

The ratio of neutrophil count to lymphocyte count (neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, NLR) is accepted as an indicator of systemic inflammation. NLR has been increased in inflammatory conditions such as hepatosteatosis, malignant conditions, thyroiditis, cardiac conditions, and inflammatory bowel disease (4-10). NLR is considered a marker of inflammation in diabetes and its microvascular and macrovascular complications (11-13).

Additionally, studies have described the relationship between NLR and glycemic control in patients with diabetes. Studies have shown that mean NLR values are higher in patients with poor glycemic control compared to patients with good glycemic control (14,15).

Dapagliflozin is a sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitor used for treating type 2 DM (T2DM). SGLT-2 inhibitors cause SGLT-2 inhibition in the renal proximal tubules, reducing the glucose reabsorption from the kidney and increasing glucose excretion through the urinary tract (1). Since they act independently of insulin, they can be used in any stage of diabetes (1).

Dapagliflozin has positive effects on the heart and kidneys (16-18). While it shows these effects, its effects on inflammation are not exactly known. In our study, we investigated the effect of dapagliflozin on inflammation by looking at NLR levels before and after dapagliflozin.

Methods

This retrospective study included patients with T2DM who were started treatment with dapagliflozin 10 mg once daily at the Internal Medicine Outpatient Clinics of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital between July 2017 through December 2018. The main enrollment criterion was the use of dapagliflozin in addition to the existing treatment for at least 12 weeks. Additional inclusion criteria were age between 18 and 75 years and estimated glomerular filtration >60 mL/min/1.73 m². Patients with chronic liver disease and/or transaminase levels above 5 times the upper limit of normal, hematological diseases, on drugs affecting the bone marrow, splenic disease, active infectious diseases, acute or chronic inflammatory diseases, and malignancy were excluded. Patients on glucagon-like peptide 1 analogs were excluded. Patients who were on statins for more than 24 weeks at the time of dapagliflozin treatment were included.

The demographic characteristics, chronic diseases, fasting glucose, glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, hematocrit, thrombocyte count, leukocyte count, neutrophil count, and lymphocyte count were recorded. NLR was calculated by dividing the absolute neutrophil count by the absolute lymphocyte count from the complete blood count. The same variables were recorded in the next visit, at least after 12 weeks of dapagliflozin treatment.

The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Haydarpasa Numune Training and Research Hospital (22.04.2019/5386). All human studies were conducted under the rules of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis for the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Statistics 23 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) software was used to perform statistical calculations. The normality of the distribution was evaluated by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Descriptive statistical methods, including percentage and mean±standard deviation or median (interquartile range), were used to display the basic characteristics. Associations between glucose, HbA1c and NLR variables were assessed using Pearson's correlation analysis. A paired t-test was used to compare biochemical and hematological parameters before and after dapagliflozin in patients with T2DM. The statistical significance level was set as p<0.05.

Results

A total of 98 patients, including 60 females (61.2%) and 38 males (38.8%), were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 54.3 years. The median diabetes duration of the patients was 7 years (Table 1). Thirty-eight patients had hypertension, 41 patients had dyslipidemia, 10 patients had coronary artery disease and 2 patients had cerebrovascular disease. Four patients had diabetic retinopathy and 22 patients had diabetic neuropathy.

Mean basal glucose was 199.6 ± 73.2 mg/dL, HbA1c was $8.9\pm1.7\%$, BUN was 13.9 ± 3.5 mg/dL, creatinine was 0.79 ± 0.08 mg/dL, leukocyte count was 7.79 ± 1.35 10^3 /mm³, neutrophil count was 4.44 ± 1.08 10^3 /mm³, lymphocyte count was 2.56 ± 0.67 10^3 /mm³, and NLR was 1.86 ± 0.76 (Table 2).

A statistically significant positive correlation was observed between glucose and NLR values (r=0.206, p=0.043). There was no significant correlation between HbA1c and NLR values (r=0.140, p=0.170) (Table 3).

A significant decrease was observed in glucose and HbA1c levels after dapagliflozin treatment (p<0.001, p<0.001). Although there was an increase in BUN and creatinine levels, this change was not statistically significant (p=0.07, p=0.614). A statistically significant increase was detected in leukocyte and neutrophil levels (p=0.018, p=0.027). A statistically insignificant

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and (n=98)	d comorbid diseases
Age (years), mean±SD (range)	54.3±8.0 (31-69)
Gender, n (%)	
Female	60 (61.2)
Male	38 (38.8)
Diabetes duration (years), median (IQR)	7 (4.75-9)
Diabetic retinopathy, n (%)	4 (4.1)
Diabetic neuropathy, n (%)	22 (22.4)
Hypertension, n (%)	38 (38.8)
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	41 (41.8)
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	10 (10.2)
Cerebrovascular disease, n (%)	2 (2)
SD: Standard deviation, IQR: Interquartile range	

increase was detected in lymphocyte and NLR levels (p=0.150, p=0.758). Significant increases were detected in HbA1c and hematocrit levels (p=0.028, p=0.028). A nonsignificant increase was documented in the platelet level (p=0.573).

Discussion

In this study, we observed no significant change in the NLR values in patients with diabetes after dapagliflozin treatment. On the other hand, there was a significant relationship between glucose and NLR, and significant increases in leukocyte, neutrophil, HbA1c, and hematocrit levels. A significant decrease was also observed in glucose and HbA1c levels. There was no significant change in lymphocyte or platelet levels.

DM is not only a metabolic disease but also inflammatory mechanisms play an important role from its development to its complications (19). NLR has been used as an inflammatory marker (20). Concerning potential correlations between NLR, glucose, and HbA1c, different results can be encountered in the literature. Buyukkaya et al. (21) showed a positive association between serum glucose and NLR elevation. Although Verdoia et al. (8) reported a statistically significant positive correlation between NLR and serum glucose, they did not observe any relationship between NLR and HbA1c. However, Sefil et al. (22) showed a positive association between NLR and positive association between NLR and HbA1c levels. Kim et al. (23) also reported a positive correlation between NLR and fasting plasma glucose in T2DM patients,

but they could not find a relationship between NLR and HA1c. In our study, a positive statistically significant correlation was noted between NLR and glucose in T2DM patients, and no significant relationship was found between NLR and HbA1c. NLR values may differ according to age (24). The different ages of the patients included in the studies may have been effective in obtaining the different results between NLR and HbA1c in the studies. The patient ages in our study were similar to those in the study by Kim et al. (23).

Several authors have shown the effects of SGLT-2 inhibitors on inflammation. Maayah et al. (25) demonstrated the positive effects of empagliflozin on lipopolysaccharide-induced septic shock in mice. It has also been shown that empagliflozin reduces systemic and renal inflammation that leads to the development of sepsis-related kidney injury. Heerspink et al. (26) showed that canagliflozin decreases the levels of TNF receptor-1, IL-6, matrix metalloproteinase-7, and fibronectin-1 in patients with T2DM. Kohlmorgen et al. (27) reported that dapagliflozin did not affect leukocyte, neutrophil, and lymphocyte counts. Although there was a significant increase in leukocyte and neutrophil levels in our study, there was no change in NLR values. Wortmann et al. (28) reported that empagliflozin increased neutrophil levels and improved neutrophil functions by decreasing the intracellular 1,5-anhydroglucitol-6-phosphate (1,5-AG-6-P) level in patients with glycogen storage disease type 1b (GSD1b) (28). Resaz et al. (29) showed improvement in neutrophil functions by reducing the accumulation of 1,5-AG-6-P in myeloid cells in their study

Table 2. Biochemical and hematolog	ical parameters before and after dapag	liflozin in patients with T2DM	
	Before dapagliflozin treatment	After dapagliflozin treatment	р
Glucose (mg/dL), mean±SD	199.63±73.24	164.30±53.07	<0.001*
HbA1c (%), mean±SD	8.92±1.70	8.01±1.63	<0.001*
BUN (mg/dL), mean±SD	13.90±3.50	14.50±3.46	0.07
Creatinine (mg/dL), mean±SD	0.79±0.08	0.80±0.14	0.614
Leukocyte (10³/mm³), mean±SD	7.79±1.35	8.36±1.92	0.018*
Neutrophil (10 ³ /mm ³), mean±SD	4.44±1.08	4.84±1.37	0.027*
Lymphocyte (10 ³ /mm ³), mean±SD	2.56±0.67	2.72±0.81	0.150
NLR, mean±SD	1.86±0.76	1.89±0.68	0.758
HbA1c (g/dL), mean±SD	13.12±1.76	13.69±1.83	0.028*
Hematocrit (%), mean±SD	40.05±4.94	41.64±5.10	0.028*
Platelet (10 ³ /mm ³), mean±SD	267.24±66.72	261.64±71.53	0.573
*n<0.05			

NLR: Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio, HbA1c: Glycated hemoglobin, BUN: Blood urea nitrogen, T2DM: Type 2 diatebes mellitus

Table 3. Pearson correlation anal	ysis between glucose and HbA1c and	NLR before dapagliflozin treatment in patients with T2DM
	NLR	
	٢*	р
Glucose	0.206	0.043**
HbA1c	0.140	0.170
*r: Pearson's correlation coefficient. **p<0.	05.	

HbA1c: Glycated hemoglobin, NLR: Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio, T2DM: Type 2 diatebes mellitus

on induced GSD1b mouse models. In our study, the increase in neutrophil count may be due to the effect of dapagliflozin on the intracellular 1,5-AG-6-P level.

Hematocrit levels increase during SGLT-2 inhibitor therapy (30). Since this increase in hematocrit during SGLT-2 inhibitor treatment was accompanied by an increase in the BUN creatinine ratio, it was interpreted that it could be related to hemoconcentration due to the diuretic effect of the SGLT-2 inhibitor (31). Recent studies show that this increase in hematocrit is not solely due to hemoconcentration. It is estimated that erythropoiesis increases with treatment with SGLT-2 inhibitor treatment (32). In patients with diabetes, the erythropoietin level increases after the initiation of SGLT-2 inhibitors (33). After an increase in the number of reticulocytes, HbA1c and hematocrit levels increase (33). Ghanim et al. (34) showed that another mechanism may be effective in the increase in hematocrit values. They suggested that the increase in hematocrit values was related to increased erythropoiesis due to decreased hepcidin levels after dapagliflozin treatment (34).

In our study, a statistically significant increase was observed in HbA1c and hematocrit levels before and after dapagliflozin treatment. This increase in HbA1c and hematocrit values was not accompanied by a significant increase in BUN and creatinine values, which we can count as hemoconcentration indicators. As mentioned in the literature (32,34), this increase may be due to the improvement of possible tubulointerstitial damage in our patients, as well as to the increase in erythropoiesis due to the decrease in hepcidin level.

SGLT-2 inhibitors are recommended in the ADA2021 diabetes guideline as the second choice after lifestyle modification and metformin therapy in patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and chronic kidney disease (35). Ferrannini et al. (36) reported that dapagliflozin monotherapy provided a statistically significant reduction of 0.66% in HbA1c after 24 weeks of treatment compared to placebo. In our study, a statistically significant decrease of 0.91% in mean HbA1c was detected after 12 weeks of treatment with dapagliflozin 10 mg once daily.

This study has some limitations. This study was a retrospective study. The most important limitation is the lack of detailed information about the use of drugs and/or the diseases affecting the biochemical and hematological parameters of the patients. The absence of a control group is also among the limitations of the study.

Conclusion

This study showed that treatment of patients with T2DM with dapagliflozin beyond 12 weeks was not associated with a significant change in NLR, despite alterations observed in some other hematological indices. Changes in hematological parameters in patients using dapagliflozin suggest that

leukocytes, neutrophils, lymphocytes, and NLR cannot be used as inflammatory markers in these patients.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for this study was given by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Haydarpasa Numune Training and Research Hospital (protocol no: 5386, date: 22.04.2019).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: S.B, F.M.T., Design: S.B, F.M.T., Data Collection or Processing: S.B., Analysis or Interpretation: S.B., Literature Search: S.B, F.M.T., Writing: S.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- The Society of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Turkey (SEMT) Diabetes Mellitus Working Group. Clinical Practice Guideline for Diagnosis, Treatment and Follow-up of Diabetes Mellitus and Its Complications 2019. 12th ed. (English Version). Ankara: Bayt;2019.
- de Rooij SR, Nijpels G, Nilsson PM, et al. Low-grade chronic inflammation in the relationship between insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular disease (RISC) population: associations with insulin resistance and cardiometabolic risk profile. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:1295-1301.
- Garcia C, Feve B, Ferré P, et al. Diabetes and inflammation: fundamental aspects and clinical implications. Diabetes Metab. 2010;36:327-338.
- Aktas G, Taslamacioglu Duman TT, Kurtkulagi Ö, et al. Liver steatosis is associated both with platelet distribution width, neutrophil/lymphocyte and monocyte/lymphocyte ratios. Prim Health Care. 2020;10:1-4.
- Sit M, Aktas G, Erkol H, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is useful in differentiation of malign and benign thyroid nodules. P R Health Sci J. 2019;38:60-63.
- Aktas G, Sit M, Dikbas O, et al. Elevated neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio in the diagnosis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2017;63:1065-1068.
- Paquissi FC. The predictive role of inflammatory biomarkers in atrial fibrillation as seen through neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio mirror. J Biomark. 2016;2016:8160393.
- Verdoia M, Schaffer A, Barbieri L, et al. Impact of diabetes on neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and its relationship to coronary artery disease. Diabetes Metab. 2015;41:304-311.
- 9. Azab B, Chainani V, Shah N, McGinn JT. Neutrophillymphocyte ratio as a predictor of major adverse cardiac

events among diabetic population: a 4-year follow-up study. Angiology. 2013;64:456-465.

- Posul E, Yilmaz B, Aktas G, Kurt M. Does neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio predict active ulcerative colitis? Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2015;127:262-265.
- Shiny A, Bibin YS, Shanthirani CS, et al. Association of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio with glucose intolerance: an indicator of systemic inflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2014;16:524-530.
- Akbas EM, Demirtas L, Ozcicek A, et al. Association of epicardial adipose tissue, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio with diabetic nephropathy. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7:1794-1801.
- Moursy EY, Megallaa MH, Mouftah RF, Ahmed SM. Relationship between neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and microvascular complications in Egyptian patients with type 2 diabetes. Am J Intern Med. 2015;3:250-255.
- Hussain M , Babar MZM , Akhtar L , Hussain MS. Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR): A well assessment tool of glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. Pak J Med Sci. 2017;33:1366-1370.
- Devamash GN, Parvathi M, Madhumathi R, Leela R. Study of neutrophil lymphocyte ratio in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and its correlation with glycemic control. Int J Adv Med. 2019;6:1637-1641.
- Tanajak P, Sa-Nguanmoo P, Sivasinprasasn S, et al. Cardioprotection of dapagliflozin and vildagliptin in rats with cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Endocrinol. 2018;236:69-84.
- Wang FZ, Wei WB, Li X, et al. The cardioprotective effect of the sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor dapagliflozin in rats with isoproterenol-induced cardiomyopathy. Am J Transl Res. 2021;13:10950-10961.
- Thomas MC. Renal effects of dapagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2014;5:53-61.
- Öztürk ZA, Kuyumcu ME, Yesil Y, et al. Is there a link between neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and microvascular complications in geriatric diabetic patients? J Endocrinol Invest. 2013;36:593-599.
- Liu CC, Ko HJ, Liu WS, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as a predictive marker of metabolic syndrome. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98:e17537.
- Buyukkaya E, Karakas MF, Karakas E, et al. Correlation of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio with the presence and severity of metabolic syndrome. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2014;20:159-163.
- 22. Sefil F, Ulutas KT, Dokuyucu R, et al. Investigation of neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and blood glucose regulation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Int Med Res. 2014;42:581-588.
- Kim JK, Lee AY, Kang JH, Yu BY, Kim SJ. Association of fasting glucose level with neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio compared to

leukocyte count and serum c-reactive protein. Korean J Fam Med. 2018;39:42-50.

- Li J, Chen Q, Luo X, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio positively correlates to age in healthy population. J Clin Lab Anal. 2015;29:437-443.
- Maayah ZH, Ferdaoussi M, Takahara S, Soni S, Dyck JRB. Empagliflozin suppresses inflammation and protects against acute septic renal injury. Inflammopharmacology. 2021;29:269-279.
- Heerspink HJL, Perco P, Mulder S, et al. Canagliflozin reduces inflammation and fibrosis biomarkers: a potential mechanism of action for beneficial effects of SGLT2 inhibitors in diabetic kidney disease. Diabetologia. 2019;62:1154-1166.
- Kohlmorgen C, Gerfer S, Feldmann K, et al. Dapagliflozin reduces thrombin generation and platelet activation: implications for cardiovascular risk reduction in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2021;64:1834-1849.
- Wortmann SB, Van Hove JLK, Derks TGJ, et al. Treating neutropenia and neutrophil dysfunction in glycogen storage disease type lb with an SGLT2 inhibitor. Blood. 2020;136:1033-1043.
- 29. Resaz R, Raggi F, Segalerba D, et al. The SGLT2-inhibitor dapagliflozin improves neutropenia and neutrophil dysfunction in a mouse model of the inherited metabolic disorder GSDIb. Mol Genet Metab Rep. 2021;29:100813.
- Sano M, Goto S. Possible mechanism of hematocrit elevation by sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors and associated beneficial renal and cardiovascular effects. Circulation. 2019;139:1985-1987.
- Aberle J, Menzen M, Schmid SM, et al. Dapagliflozin effects on haematocrit, red blood cell count and reticulocytes in insulintreated patients with type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2020;10:22396.
- Sano M, Takei M, Shiraishi Y, Suzuki Y. Increased hematocrit during sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor therapy indicates recovery of tubulointerstitial function in diabetic kidneys. J Clin Med Res. 2016;8:844-847.
- Lambers Heerspink HJ, de Zeeuw D, Wie L, Leslie B, List J. Dapagliflozin a glucose regulating drug with diuretic properties in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2013;15:853-862.
- Ghanim H, Abuaysheh S, Hejna J, et al. Dapagliflozin suppresses hepcidin and increases erythropoiesis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105:dgaa057.
- American Diabetes Association. 9. Pharmacologic approaches to glycemic treatment: standards of medical care in diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(Suppl 1):111-1124.
- Ferrannini E, Ramos SJ, Salsali A, Tang W, List JF. Dapagliflozin monotherapy in type 2 diabetic patients with inadequate glycemic control by diet and exercise: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:2217-2224.



Characteristics of fetal conotruncal heart anomalies

Ø Ayşe Keleş¹, Ø Osman Yılmaz², Ø Özge Yücel Çelik¹, Ø Gülşah Dağdeviren¹, Ø Gülşah Aynaoğlu Yıldız¹,
 Ø Aykan Yücel³, Ø Dilek Şahin³

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Etlik Zubeyde Hanim Gynecological Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, Ankara, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Etlik Zubeyde Hanim Gynecological Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

³University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 29.11.2021 Date accepted: 24.12.2021 Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Ayşe Keleş, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Etlik Zubeyde Hanim Gynecological Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, Ankara, Türkiye ayseistekdr@hotmail.com

ORCID:

orcid.org/0000-0002-0570-9014

Keywords: Conotruncal heart anomalies, fetal echocardiography, prenatal diagnosis, ultrasonography

ABSTRACT

Aims: We investigated the clinical characteristics and pregnancy outcomes of conotruncal heart anomalies (CTAs), which constitute a significant part of congenital heart diseases in the prenatal period.

Methods: This study analyzed patients with CTA diagnosed between 2015 and 2020. The incidence of tetralogy of Fallot (TOF), transposition of the great arteries (TGA), double outlet right ventricle (DORV), truncus arteriosus (TA), and interrupted aortic arch type B (IAA-B) was identified. The time of diagnosis and accuracy of CTAs, concomitant anomalies (cardiac and extracardiac), and chromosomal disorders observed together were examined. Pregnancy outcomes and neonatal survival rates were evaluated.

Results: A total of 396 congenital heart diseases were examined. CTA was diagnosed in 102 (25.8%) of the patients. Ninety-nine patients with available data were analyzed. A total of 33 (33.3%) patients were diagnosed with TOF, 30 (30.3%) with DORV, 16 (16.2%) with TA, 16 (16.2%) with TGA, and 4 (4%) with IIA-B. CTA was an isolated anomaly in 28 (28.3%) of the patients. The other patients had one or more accompanying cardiac/extracardiac anomalies. The prenatal invasive diagnostic was examined in 40 (40.4%) of the patients, and chromosomal anomalies were detected in 16 (40%) of them. In 18 (18.4%) of the patients, pregnancy was terminated at the request of the parents. Intrauterine demise occurred in 4 (4.9%) pregnancies that were not terminated, and neonatal death occurred in 26 (32.1%) of the newborns.

Conclusions: The presence of additional cardiac, extracardiac, and genetic abnormalities are common in CTAs and are associated with adverse outcomes.

Introduction

During the embryological development of the heart, abnormalities in the division and rotation of the primordial heart tube lead to the formation of conotruncal heart anomalies (CTAs), which are characterized by impaired ventriculoarterial connection (1,2). CTAs are a type of congenital heart disease that includes anomalies such as tetralogy of Fallot (TOF), transposition of the great arteries (TGA), double outlet right ventricle (DORV), truncus arteriosus (TA), and interrupted aortic arch type B (IAA-B) (3,4). CTAs constitute 10-12% of congenital heart diseases in the postnatal series (5). Their prevalence in the prenatal period ranges between 16% and 30%, with variable diagnostic accuracy (4,6,7). Because each defect has more than one variation, making a definitive diagnosis in the prenatal period is challenging (4,8). The diagnosis rates and diagnostic accuracy have gradually increased in parallel with advances in cardiac screening programs and techniques (4).

The course of pregnancies in patients with CTAs is associated with concomitant structural and genetic abnormalities. In the absence of concomitant comorbidities, the prognosis depends primarily on the anatomy of the lesion (9). In cases where postnatal cardiac adaptation is impaired, the need for intervention in the early stages of life makes prenatal diagnosis a crucial factor (2,10).

This study primarily evaluated data from fetuses with CTAs diagnosed in the perinatology and pediatric cardiology units, and examined the accompanying cardiac/extracardiac structural anomalies, genetic disorders, and outcomes of pregnancy. In this way, a reference that can be used in prenatal counseling during pregnancies diagnosed with fetal CTA will be created.

Methods

Study design

This single-center and retrospective study analyzed data from the patients followed up after a diagnosis of fetal CTA in the perinatology and pediatric cardiology units of a tertiary hospital, between 2015 and 2020. The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Etlik Zubeyde Hanim Gynecological Diseases Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (decision no: 03, date: 14.02.2020). Owing to the retrospective nature of the study, the need for informed consent was waived. Data were obtained from the hospital's electronic record system and patient files. The demographic characteristics of the patients, history of diabetes, diagnosis of congenital heart disease in a previous pregnancy, gestational week at diagnosis, CTA type, accompanying cardiac and extracardiac anomalies, chromosomal disorders, and pregnancy outcomes were analyzed.

Fetal echocardiography

The study included subjects who underwent fetal echocardiography between the abovementioned dates. In the routine clinical protocol, fetal echocardiography is performed by an experienced perinatology specialist and a pediatric cardiologist. The final diagnosis is made, and follow-up procedures are planned by a shared decision. The same device and 4C probe were used for all patients in the analysis (Voluson E6 convex volumetric probe, GE Healthcare, Milwaukee, WI, USA; Vivid S6 ultrasound, GE Medical Systems, Horten, Norway). The clinical protocol during the study period agreed with the ISUOG guidelines. In the routine, following the examination of the upper abdominal image, four-chamber view of the heart, ventricular outflow tracts, three vessels, three vessels and tracheal sections, pulmonary and systemic venous connections, ductal and aortic arch images, and Doppler flow patterns in the heart and veins (11,12), CTA is diagnosed by assessing the cardiac examination plans, particularly ventricular outflow tracts, three-vessel view (3VV), three-vessel trachea view, ductal and aortic arch images, and blood flow patterns.

Working protocol

Patients with a prenatal diagnosis of TOF, TGA, TA, DORV, and IAA type B were included in the study (Figures 1 and 2). In routine practice, patients with a suspected cardiac anomaly are screened for fetal anatomy by an experienced perinatology specialist. Patients should are informed of the detected CTA and any other abnormalities, and a prenatal invasive testing procedure appropriate for the week of gestation is recommended to detect concomitant genetic disorders. Karyotype analysis is recommended in line with standard indications such as advanced maternal age, increased risk of aneuploidy in the first or second trimester screening test, and the presence of malformations on ultrasound. Chromosomal microarray (A-CGH) and deletion of 22q11 study are recommended along with karyotype analysis for all patients with CTA.

Parents are given detailed advice on the characteristics, treatment options, and prognosis of the anomaly by a team consisting of a maternal-fetal medicine specialist and a



Figure 1. A) Normal left ventricle outflow tract, B) tetralogy of Fallot, overriding aorta and subaortic ventricular septal defect, C) truncus arteriozus with common truncal valve, D) transposition of great arteries, parallel course of great arteries on outlet section



Figure 2. A, B) Double outlet right ventricle and aorta lie side by side on the right of the pulmonary artery, C, D) interrupted aortic arch tip B, ascending aorta connects to the right common carotid artery; the left subclavian artery exits from the distal aorta

pediatric cardiologist. The final decision regarding the followup or termination of pregnancy is made following the decision of the parents. In cases of intrauterine death or termination of pregnancy, an autopsy is recommended. If patients enrolled in the study according to the above-described algorithm did not have a prenatal invasive genetic diagnosis and had no karyotyping in the postnatal period, their karyotype was considered normal according to the pediatric clinical examination. Finally, patients with a confirmed diagnosis of CTA in the postnatal period were included in the study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 26 (SPSS) (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to assess whether the data were distributed normally. Non-normally distributed numerical data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test and were expressed as medians (interquartile range). Categorical data are expressed as numbers (percentages). A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

During the analyzed period, 396 patients were diagnosed with congenital heart disease. CTA was detected in 102 (25.8%) fetuses. Three patients whose postnatal results could not be acquired were excluded from the study. Thus, data from 99 patients were analyzed. A total of 33 (33.3%) patients were diagnosed with TOF, 30 (30.3%) with DORV, 16 (16.2%) with TA, 16 (16.2%) with TGA, and 4 (4%) with IAA-B. Except for the cases of pregnancy termination and intrauterine demise, the diagnosis was confirmed during postnatal echocardiography, cardiac catheterization, or surgery in all patients. The median maternal age of the patients included in the study was 27 (18-44) years. The median gestational age at the time of diagnosis was 22 (17-37) weeks. No significant difference was observed between the CTA subgroups in terms of maternal age or gestational week at diagnosis (p=0.127 and p=0.781, respectively). Pregestational diabetes was detected in 10% of the patients with TOF. Of the entire cohort, 2% of patients had a history of congenital heart disease in their previous pregnancy. Table 1 presents the subtypes, clinical features, and pregnancy outcomes of CTAs in patients.

Karyotype analysis

The prenatal invasive diagnostic was examined in 40 (40.4%) of the study population. A-CGH was performed on 20 (50%) of these pregnant women who underwent prenatal diagnostic testing. The prevalence of the chromosomal anomaly was 16 (16.2%) in the entire cohort. The most chromosomal anomaly was detected in the DORV subgroup with a rate of 4%. Aneuploidies were identified as the most common group of chromosomal abnormalities. Table 1 presents pregnancy

outcomes and chromosomal disorders of the entire study population by subtypes of CTA. These outcomes appeared worse in cases of DORV and IAA-B.

Additional anomalies

Overall, 28.3% of the cohort had isolated CTA. Among the CTAs, TOF was the most common isolated anomaly. TGA was the subgroup most frequently accompanied by an additional cardiac anomaly [except the ventricular septal defect (VSD)]. The additional extracardiac anomaly was most common in the IAA-B subgroup. Among the subgroups, TA was the group in which the association of both additional cardiac and extracardiac anomalies was most common. Tables 2 and 3 present the associated cardiac and extracardiac anomalies with CTAs.

Discussion

CTAs are a type of congenital heart disease with a high incidence of accompanying structural anomalies and chromosomal disorders. It is characterized by severely adverse fetal and neonatal outcomes. The data obtained in this study serve as a reference for prenatal counseling to parents for fetal CTA in the antenatal period.

Congenital heart diseases are the most common cause of infant death due to congenital anomalies. Their prevalence in live births is 6-10 per 1,000 neonates (13,14). CTAs are a subgroup of congenital heart diseases that may need immediate postnatal intervention (2). Diagnosis of CTAs is made by visualizing the ventricular outflow tracts and major vascular structures and examining their association with echocardiography. The literature emphasizes that cases with CTA in the prenatal period constitute 16-30% of patients with congenital heart disease (4,6,7,15). In our study, patients with CTAs constituted 25.8% of all patients with congenital heart disease with the literature.

The accuracy of prenatal diagnosis of CTAs is low because of the difficulties in identifying the association between the ventricles and great arteries and the great arteries themselves. The diagnosis rates have increased steadily with the inclusion of cardiac outflow tract and 3VV in prenatal fetal cardiac screening programs (4,16,17). The postnatal confirmation rate of prenatal diagnosis was 88% in our study. The most common misdiagnosis was noted in the DORV group. This finding was consistent with the literature (4,7,18). The diagnostic accuracy rates of CTA increase with sequential echocardiographic examinations performed during the prenatal period. In our study, the median number of fetal echocardiography performed in the cases was two. The median gestational age at diagnosis was 22 weeks in our study, which was earlier than that reported in some recent studies (7,19). In this study, the high rate of extracardiac abnormalities led to CTA being diagnosed at early weeks of gestation, as in the study by Lin et al. (20).

	TOF	DORV	TA	TGA	IAA-B	p*	Total
Number of cases, n (%)ª	33 (33.3)	30 (30.3)	16 (16.2)	16 (16.2)	4 (4.0)		99 (100)
Maternal age, median (IQR)⁵	24 (9)	29 (8)	28 (11)	29 (7)	24 (8)	0.127	28 (8.0)
Gestational weeks at diagnosis, median (IQR) ^b	21.5 (7)	22 (7)	22 (3)	21 (7)	21 (12)	0.781	22 (7.0)
Congenital heart disease in past pregnancy, n (%)ª	1 (3.0)	1 (3.3)	-	-	-		2 (2.0)
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)ª	2 (6.1)	3 (10)	1 (6.3)	1 (6.3)	-		6 (6.1)
Additional anomalies, n (%)ª							
None	14 (42.4)	8 (26.7)	2 (12.5)	3 (18.8)	1 (25)		28 (28.3)
Cardiac	4 (12.1)	10 (33.3)	5 (31.3)	9 (56.3)	1 (25)		29 (29.3)
Extracardiac	7 (21.2)	4 (13.3)	4 (25)	1 (6.3)	2 (50)		18 (18.2)
Cardiac+extracardiac	8 (24.2)	8 (26.7)	5 (31.3)	3 (18.8)	-		24 (24.2)
Karyotype analysis, n (%)ª							
Normal	28 (84.8)	22 (73.3)	14 (87.5)	16 (100)	3 (75)		83 (83.8)
Abnormal	5 (15.2)	8 (26.7)	2 (12.5)	-	1 (25)		16 (16.2)
Trisomy 21	3 (9.1)	1 (3.3)	-	-	-		
Trisomy 18	-	3 (10.0)	-	-	-		
Trisomy 13	-	3 (10.0)	1 (6.3)	-	-		
Trisomy 9	-	1 (3.3)	-	-	-		
22q11 del	2 (6.1)	-	1 (6.3)	-	1 (25)		
Pregnancy outcomes, n (%) ^a							
Termination	4 (12.9)	8 (26.7)	3 (18.8)	1 (6.3)	2 (40.0)		18 (18.4)
IUFD	-	33 (10.0)	-	1 (6.3)	-		4 (4.1)
Neonatal death	4 (12.9)	10 (33.3)	2 (12.5)	7 (43.8)	3 (60.0)		26 (26.5)

^aNumber (percentage); ^bMedian (interquartile range); *Kruskal-Wallis test. p <0.05 shows statistical significance. DORV: Double outlet right ventricle, IAA-B: Interrupted aortic arch type B, IUFD: Intrauterine fetal demise, TA: Truncus arteriosus, TGA: Transposition of the great arteries, TOF: Tetralogy of Fallot, 22q11 del: 22q11 microdeletion

Table 2. Cardiac anomalies a	ccompanying CTAs			
TOF (33)	DORV (30)	TA (16)	TGA (16)	AA-B (4)
ASD	ASD	PLSVC	PLSVC	VSD
AVSD	AVSD	ARSA	Mitral atresia	PLSVC
PLSVC	PLSVC	Partial APVC	Tricuspid atresia	ARSA
Right aortic arch	ARSA	Tricuspid regurgitation	Tricuspid regurgitation	Aortic hypoplasia
Sinus bradycardia	Aortic stenosis		Pulmonary stenosis	Heterotaxia
Ductus arteriosus agenesis	Mitral atresia		Pulmonary hypoplasia	
Heterotaxia	Aortic hypoplasia		Aortic hypoplasia	
Absent pulmonary valve	Tricuspid regurgitation		Left ventricle hypoplasia	
Double inlet left ventricle	Tricuspid atresia		Right ventricle hypoplasia	
	Pulmonary stenosis		Single ventricle	
	Pulmonary hypoplasia		Heterotaxia	
	Left ventricle hypoplasia			
	Total APVC			
	Sinus bradycardia			
	Heterotaxia			

APVC: Anomalous pulmonary venous connection, ARSA: Aberrant right subclavian artery, ASD: Atrial septal defect, AVSD: Atrioventricular septal defect, CTA: Conotruncal heart anomalies, DORV: Double outlet right ventricle, IAA-B: Interrupted aortic arch type B, PLSVC: Persistent left superior vena cava, TA: Truncus arteriosus, TGA: Transposition of the great arteries, TOF: Tetralogy of Fallot, VSD: Ventricular septal defect

Table 3. Extracardiac anom	alies accompanying CTAs			
TOF (33)	DORV (30)	TA (16)	TGA (16)	IAA-B (4)
Cystic hygroma	Cystic hygroma	Cystic hygroma	Hydrocephalus	Cystic hygroma
Ventriculomegaly	Ventriculomegaly	Ventriculomegaly	Hydronephrosis	Thymus hypoplasia
CCA	CCA	Mega cisterna magna	SUA	Micrognathia
Unilateral renal agenesis	Cerebellum hypoplasia	Cephalocele		Cleft palate
Bilateral renal agenesis	Encephalocele	Cerebellum hypoplasia		Hydrops fetalis
Unilateral MDK	Hydrocephalus	Micrognathia		
PRUV	Anencephaly	Renal agenesis		
Intestinal obstruction	Diaphragmatic hernia	Omphalocele		
Anal atresia	Omphalocele	Bilateral MDK		
Bronchogenic cyst	Uroenteric fistula	Pes equinovarus		
Limb anomalies	Hydrops fetalis	SUA		
Sirenomelia type 1	Limb anomaly			
SUA	SUA			
CCA: Corpus callosum agenesis.	CTA: Conotruncal heart anomalies. DO	RV: Double-outlet right ventricle, IAA-	B: interrupted aortic arch t	type B. MDK: Multicystic

CCA: Corpus callosum agenesis, CTA: Conotruncal heart anomalies, DORV: Double-outlet right ventricle, IAA-B: interrupted aortic arch type B, MDK: Multicystic dysplastic kidney, PRUV: Persistent right umbilical vein, SUA: Single umbilical artery, TA: Truncus arteriosus, TGA: Transposition of the great arteries, TOF: Tetralogy of Fallot

The most common types of CTA observed in the entire cohort were TOF and DORV cases. Cases of TOF comprised the highest percentage (33.3%) of patients with CTAs, consistent with the literature (7,6,9). TOF, which is the most common CTA type, is also the most common cyanotic congenital heart disease. The absence of pulmonary valve syndrome, which is one subgroup of TOF, was noted in 3% of patients, which agreed with the literature (21). VSD + pulmonary atresia (TOF with pulmonary atresia), previously designated as a severe case of TOF, was observed in one patient (22). Cases with DORV accounted for 30% of the study population and 7.6% of all congenital heart diseases. The frequency of DORV cases among CTAs was higher than that reported in the literature but was similar to a recent study (9). Consistent with previous studies, the IAA-B group was the least common type of CTA (3,8).

The complex pathophysiology underlying the CTA explains the excess of accompanying anomalies. In the study cohort, 42.4% CTAs had extracardiac anomalies. Prior studies of fetal CTAs reported rates of extracardiac anomalies ranging from 25-37% (4,23). Consistent with the literature, the most common additional extracardiac anomalies in our study were associated with the central nervous system, genitourinary system, limbs, and cystic hygroma (4). Additional cardiac anomalies were found in 47.5% of the cases. The most common additional cardiac anomalies associated with CTA in the study population were septal defects and heterotaxy syndromes. Galindo et al. (7) reported an increase in nuchal translucency (NT) thickness in the first trimester in 72% of fetuses with CTA. In this study, there are not enough data about NT measurements of fetuses. However, notably, 10% of the patients have a single umbilical artery, which is a soft marker. The rate and distribution of associated

cardiac/extracardiac anomalies in our study are similar to those reported by Lin et al. (20), who analyzed 129 fetuses with CTA. Key components of current management strategies for CTAs include the identification of required postpartum intervention and delivery at a tertiary care center with expertise in neonatal care. Therefore, fetal anatomy should be carefully examined in terms of concomitant anomalies in fetuses with CTA detected during the prenatal period (24,25).

CTAs are multifactorial anomalies and genetic and environmental factors play a role in their etiopathogenesis. Genetic anomalies are observed with different characteristics and frequencies in CTA subtypes. In our study, the rate of genetic disorders was 16.2%, which agreed with the findings of a study by Sivanandam et al. (4). The most common genetic abnormalities were aneuploidies and 22g11 microdeletion. Consistent with the literature, these genetic anomalies were observed more frequently in the presence of accompanying structural anomalies such as right aortic arch, abnormal right subclavian artery, and thymic hypoplasia/aplasia (26,27). The 22g11 microdeletion detected in this cohort was observed in patients with TA, IAA-B, TOF, and absence of pulmonary valve syndrome; this finding was consistent with the literature (28,29). Consistent with the literature, patients with TGA did not have chromosomal abnormalities, and genetic disorders were more common in the DORV cases (8,30). In a recent study, the genetic imbalance was found in 38% of cases with CTA using the A-CGH method (31). In our study, the genetic anomalies were detected at a lower rate, possibly because not all patients underwent an A-CGH examination.

CTAs are a group of cardiac anomalies that are characterized by poor clinical outcomes (4,7). The neonatal mortality rate in our study was higher than that reported in two recent studies (9,23). It is possible to explain this situation with an excess of accompanying structural anomalies. In our study, survival after the neonatal period was higher in patients with isolated anomalies. This finding was more prominent in patients with TOF.

The limitations of our study lie in its retrospective design, lack of chromosome analysis in the whole sample of patients, and lack of autopsy in cases of pregnancy termination and intrauterine fetal demise. A low number of subjects in the IIA-B subgroup is considered another limitation.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study displays the structural (cardiac and extracardiac) anomalies and genetic disorders accompanying CTAs and their impact on adverse outcomes.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Etlik Zubeyde Hanim Gynecological Diseases Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (decision no: 03, date: 14.02.2020).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: O.Y., D.Ş., A.Y., Design: A.K., O.Y., D.Ş., Data Collection, or Processing: A.K., Ö.Y.Ç., G.D., Analysis, or Interpretation: A.K., Ö.Y.Ç., G.A.Y., Literature search: A.K., G.D., G.A.Y., Writing: A.K., O.Y.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare they have nothing to disclose regarding conflict of interest concerning this manuscript.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- Dorfman AL, Geva T. Magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of congenital heart disease: conotruncal anomalies. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2006;8:645-659.
- Thakur V, Jaeggi ET, Yoo SJ. Ventricular outflow tract anomalies ("conotruncal anomalies"). In: Fetal cardiology: embryology, genetics, physiology, echocardiographic evaluation, diagnosis, and perinatal management of cardiac diseases. 3th ed. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis Group, LLC; 2019:329-341.
- Mahani MG, Agarwal PP, Lu JC, Dorfman AL. Conotruncal Anomalies. In: Caffey's Pediatric Diagnostic Imaging. 13th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2019:678-688.
- 4. Sivanandam S, Glickstein JS, Printz BF, et al. Prenatal diagnosis of conotruncal malformations: diagnostic accuracy,

outcome, chromosomal abnormalities, and extracardiac anomalies. Am J Perinatol. 2006;23:241-246.

- Hoffman JI, Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39:1890-1900.
- Tometzki AJ, Suda K, Kohl T, Kovalchin JP, Silverman NH. Accuracy of prenatal echocardiographic diagnosis and prognosis of fetuses with conotruncal anomalies. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;33:1696-1701.
- Galindo A, Mendoza A, Arbues J, Graneras A, Escribano D, Nieto O. Conotruncal anomalies in fetal life: accuracy of diagnosis, associated defects and outcome. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2009;146:55-60.
- Valente AM, Sanders SP. Complex Conotruncal Anomalies. In: Practice of Clinical Echocardiography. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2021:934-953.
- Vaidyanathan B, Kumar S, Sudhakar A, Kumar RK. Conotruncal anomalies in the fetus: referral patterns and pregnancy outcomes in a dedicated fetal cardiology unit in South India. Ann Pediatr Cardiol. 2013;6:15-20.
- Morris SA, Ayres NA, Espinoza J, Maskatia SA, Lee W. Sonographic Evaluation of the Fetal Heart. In: Callen's Ultrasonography in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2017:371-459.
- International Society of Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology, Carvalho JS, Allan LD, et al. ISUOG Practice Guidelines (updated): sonographic screening examination of the fetal heart. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2013;41:348-359.
- Lee W, Allan L, Carvalho JS, et al. ISUOG consensus statement: what constitutes a fetal echocardiogram? Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;32:239-242.
- Matthews TJ, MacDorman MF. Infant mortality statistics from the 2010 period linked birth/infant death data set. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2013;62:1-26.
- Broussard CS, Gilboa SM, Lee KA, Oster M, Petrini JR, Honein MA. Racial/ethnic differences in infant mortality attributable to birth defects by gestational age. Pediatrics. 2012;130:518-527.
- Boudjemline Y, Fermont L, Le Bidois J, et al. Diagnostic prénatal des cardiopathies conotroncales. A propos de 337 cas [Prenatal diagnosis of conotruncal heart diseases. Results in 337 cases]. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss. 2000;93:583-586.
- Wigton TR, Sabbagha RE, Tamura RK, Cohen L, Minogue JP, Strasburger JF. Sonographic diagnosis of congenital heart disease: comparison between the four-chamber view and multiple cardiac views. Obstet Gynecol. 1993;82:219-224.
- Khoshnood B, De Vigan C, Vodovar V, et al. Trends in prenatal diagnosis, pregnancy termination, and perinatal mortality of newborns with congenital heart disease in France, 1983-2000: a population-based evaluation. Pediatrics. 2005;115:95-101.
- Gedikbasi A, Oztarhan K, Gul A, Sargin A, Ceylan Y. Diagnosis and prognosis in double-outlet right ventricle. Am J Perinatol. 2008;25:427-434.
- Wang Q, Zhao Y, Han L, Zhang Y, Ge S, He Y. Pulmonary hypoplasia in fetuses with congenital conotruncal defects. Echocardiography. 2017;34:1842-1851.

- Lin M, Zheng J, Peng R, et al. Prenatal diagnosis of chromosomal aberrations in fetuses with conotruncal heart defects by genome-wide high-resolution SNP array. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020;33:1211-1217.
- Puchalski MD. Tetralogy of Fallot. In: Fetal cardiology: embryology, genetics, physiology, echocardiographic evaluation, diagnosis, and perinatal management of cardiac diseases. 3th ed. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis Group, LLC; 2019:342-349.
- 22. Baker EJ, Anderson RH. Tetralogy of Fallot with pulmonary atresia. Paediatric Cardiology. 2010;775-793.
- Paladini D, Rustico M, Todros T, et al. Conotruncal anomalies in prenatal life. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 1996;8:241-246.
- Keleş A, Yılmaz O, Dağdeviren G, Çelik ÖY, Yücel A, Şahin D. Persistent Left Superior Vena Cava: Why is Prenatal Diagnosis Important? Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2022;41:592-602.
- Yilmaz O, Celik OY. Prenatal diagnosis of double-outlet right ventricle with tricuspid valve atresia, anomalous pulmonary vein connection, persistent left superior vena cava, and right atrial isomerism. J Clin Ultrasound. 2021;49:262-264.

- Goldmuntz E, Clark BJ, Mitchell LE, et al. Frequency of 22q11 deletions in patients with conotruncal defects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;32:492-498.
- Zapata H, Edwards JE, Titus JL. Aberrant right subclavian artery with left aortic arch: associated cardiac anomalies. Pediatr Cardiol. 1993;14:159-161.
- Fahed AC, Gelb BD, Seidman JG, Seidman CE. Genetics of congenital heart disease: the glass half empty. Circ Res. 2013;112:707-720.
- Momma K. Cardiovascular anomalies associated with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Am J Cardiol. 2010;105:1617-1624.
- Obler D, Juraszek AL, Smoot LB, Natowicz MR. Double outlet right ventricle: aetiologies and associations. J Med Genet. 2008;45:481-497.
- de Souza KR, Mergener R, Huber J, Campos Pellanda L, Riegel M. Cytogenomic evaluation of subjects with syndromic and nonsyndromic conotruncal heart defects. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:401941.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.92905 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:229-34



Efficacy of ifosfamide, carboplatin and etoposide chemotherapy protocol in relapsed refractory germ cell tumors

Musa Barış Aykan¹
 İsmail Ertürk¹
 Ramazan Acar¹
 Gül Sema Keskin¹
 Ece Örnek²
 Nuri Karadurmuş¹

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Ankara, Türkiye ²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 02.11.2021

Date accepted: 04.01.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Musa Barış Aykan, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Ankara, Türkiye musabarisaykan@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7538-9119

Keywords: Germ cell tumor testicular cancer, ifosfamide, carboplatin, etoposide

ABSTRACT

Aims: This study aimed to evaluate the overall survival (OS) after the ifosfamide carboplatin plus etoposide (ICE) protocol for patients with relapsed refractory germ cell tumors (GCT). Differences in the contribution of the ICE protocol to patient survival according to the number of the treatment lines (four or more lines vs. three or fewer lines) were also evaluated.

Methods: This retrospective cross-sectional study included patients with relapsed refractory GCT who had previously received multiple-line chemotherapy. Gender, age, clinical stage at diagnosis, tumor marker levels, visceral metastasis status, previous treatment protocols, response rates to ICE, follow-up time, and hematologic side effects were recorded. The primary endpoint was OS after the ICE. The secondary endpoint was the difference in OS between patients who received the ICE on the fourth and subsequent lines vs. those who received the third and previous lines.

Results: The final sample included 15 patients (median age 26; males: 93.3%). At diagnosis, 80% of the patients had stage IIIC disease. The median OS in the whole group was 14.0 [interquartile range (IQR) 15.4] months. The median (IQR) OS after the ICE protocol in patients with three or fewer lines was significantly higher than in those who received four or more lines [21.6 (34.5) vs 10.8 (11.6), p=0.034]. Grade 3 neutropenia (46.6%), anemia (40%), and thrombocytopenia (40%) were frequently observed.

Conclusions: For heavily pretreated relapsed/refractory GCT, the ICE may show the potential to provide a significant survival. However, more severe hematological side effects may be encountered

Introduction

Germ cell tumors (GCT) are among the most common solid malignancies in the male population, especially in the second and third decades (1). Especially with the platinum-based treatment approach, a good response can be obtained even in advanced GCT patients. The 5-year overall survival (OS) for advanced disease is 80-90% (2).

There is an established systemic treatment approach in the first, second and third lines of advanced GCT. However, chemotherapy protocols that can be preferred in the fourth and next lines in patients with good performance status despite having a resistant disease are lacking (3-6). In this sense, it may be reasonable to evaluate potential treatment options in patients who are few but still need therapy.

The ifosfamide, carboplatin plus etoposide (ICE) protocol has been frequently preferred as a high-dose chemotherapy approach (7,8). However, this approach is usually used in the early lines (7). To the best of our knowledge, there is little information on the use of the ICE protocol in later lines and there is no recent up-to-date data. Considering the abovementioned information, we showed the patient characteristics, posttreatment survival time, and side effects of the ICE protocol in all relapsed refractory GCT patients. As a general oncological concept, the survival benefit provided by the transition to each advanced line therapy is considered to decrease. Therefore, we also aimed in the current study to show whether the use of the ICE protocol in patients receiving four or more lines of chemotherapy shows the same impact on survival compared to those receiving three or fewer chemotherapy lines.

Methods

Study design and population

This retrospective, single-center study was performed using the medical records of outpatients and inpatients with relapsed/ refractory GCT from a tertiary clinic from January 2017 to June 2021. The inclusion criteria were age greater than or equal to 18 years, those with histologically confirmed advanced stage testicular cancer, imaging-proven metastases at diagnosis, or recurrent disease. The exclusion criteria were age <18 years and insufficient clinical data. This study was approved by the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (protocol number: 2021/58, date: 29.09.2021). Gender, age, localization, the histology of the primary malignancy, and stage at the time of diagnosis were recorded. Lung, liver, bone, and lymph node metastasis status before the ICE protocol, serum tumor marker status, and International Germ Cell Cancer Collaboration Group (IGCCCG) risk group and previous systemic treatments (BEP: Bleomycin, Cisplatin, Etoposide. TIP: Paclitaxel, Ifosfamide, and Cisplatin. HDC: High Dose Chemotherapy. GEMPOX: Gemcitabine, Paclitaxel, and Oxaliplatin) were evaluated within the scope of the study (9). Response to treatment and observed side effects were recorded after the ICE protocol. Survival after the ICE protocol, survival times from the first diagnosis, and survival status (alive/died) were evaluated. The patients were divided into two according to the systemic treatment lines they received before the ICE protocol (four or more lines vs. three or fewer lines). The interval between the first diagnosis and the ICE protocol is defined as the time between the first diagnosis of the patient and the date of starting the ICE protocol. OS after ICE protocol was calculated as the time from the start of the ICE protocol to the last seen date or the patient's death date. The interval between the first diagnosis and last visit is defined as the time elapsed from the diagnosis to the last follow-up visit or death. The ICE protocol was as follows: ifosfamide 1667 mg/m²/ day for 3 days, mesna 1667 mg/m²/day for 3 days, carboplatin AUC 5 for a single day, etoposide 100 mg/m²/day for 3 days. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) administration is recommended routinely after the ICE protocol.

Study endpoints

The primary endpoint of the study was to demonstrate OS in the entire group after the ICE protocol. Additionally, any difference between the survival times according to the systemic treatment lines they received before the ICE protocol (four or more lines vs. three or fewer lines) was also studied.

Definition of complete response, partial response, progressive disease, and stable disease

Complete remission was defined as the disappearance of all clinically and radiologically detectable lesions and the normalization of tumor markers. A More than 20% reduction in tumor burden was defined as partial response (PR). A tumor growth greater than 20% was defined as Progressive Disease. Any other response was classified as a stable disease (10).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 22.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive data are presented as a percentage of the total. The normality of the continuous variables was examined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Normally distributed continuous data were expressed as mean±standard deviation and non-normally distributed were expressed as median [interquartile range (IQR)]. Between-group differences were tested using the chi-square test, Student's t-test, or Mann-Whitney U test, as appropriate. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Main characteristics

The final sample included 15 patients (median age 26; males: 93.3%). The median age was 26 (IQR: 14). Eighty percent of the sample had stage IIIC disease at the time of initial diagnosis. All GCTs were in the non-seminomatous histological type. In 73.3% of patients, the serum tumor marker levels were S3 [S3: lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) >10 × ULN or hCG (mIU/mL) >50,000 or AFP (ng/mL) >10,000]. According to the IGCCCG risk classification, 66.6% of the patients were in the poor risk category. In both groups, lung and liver metastases were frequently detected before the ICE protocol (53.3% for lung metastases and 80% for liver metastases, respectively). Patients who received \geq 4 lines of treatment before the ICE protocols, respectively. The characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1.

Response rates and side effects

The response rate to the ICE protocol (sum of complete response rate and PR rate) was 53.2%. The median OS in the general group after ICE was 13.9 (IQR: 15.3) months. The patients were divided into two groups according to the order in which they received the ICE protocol (four or more lines vs. three or fewer lines). The median OS (IQR) after the ICE protocol in patients with three or fewer lines was significantly higher than

Table 1. Demographic and clinica	al characteristics of the	e patients	
	Total (n=15)	Before ≤3 lines of systemic therapy (n=6)	Before ≥4 lines of systemic therapy (n=9)
Gender, male, n (%)	14 (93.3)	6 (100)	8 (88.8)
Age, years, median (IQR)	26 (14)	23.5 (11.8)	31 (14)
Clinical stage (AJCC 8 th), n (%)			
I	2 (13.3)	1 (16.6)	1 (11.1)
IIIB	1 (6.6)	-	1 (11.1)
IIIC	12 (80.0)	5 (83.3)	7 (77.7)
Serum tumor markers, n (%)			
SO	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)
S1	1 (6.6)	-	1 (11.1)
S3	11 (73.3)	5 (83.3)	6 (66.6)
IGCCCG risk groups, n (%)			
Good risk	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)
Intermediate risk	1 (13.3)	-	3 (22.2)
Poor risk	10 (66.6)	5 (83.3)	5 (55.5)
Visceral metastasis, n (%)			
Lung	8 (53.3)	3 (50.0)	5 (55.5)
Liver	12 (80.0)	5 (83.3)	7 (77.7)
Bone	3 (20.0)	2 (33.3)	1 (11.1)
Systemic treatments before ICE proto	ocol, n (%)		
BEP+TIP+HDC+GEMPOX	9 (60.0)	-	9 (100)
BEP+TIP	4 (26.6)	4 (66.6)	-
BEP+TIP+VIP	2 (13.3)	2 (33.3)	-

AJCC 8th: The eighth edition American Joint Committee on Cancer, S0: Marker's blood level within normal limits, S1: LDH <1.5 × ULN, hCG (mIU/mL) <5000 and AFP (ng/mL) <1000, S2: LDH : 1.5 to 10 × ULN or hCG (mIU/mL) 5000 to 50,000 or AFP (ng/mL) 1000 to 10,000, S3: LDH >10 × ULN or hCG (mIU/mL) >50,000 or AFP (ng/mL) >10,000, IGCCCG: International Germ Cell Cancer Collaborative Group, ICE: Ifosfamide, carboplatin, etoposide chemotherapy protocol, BEP: Bleomycin, cisplatin, etoposide, TIP: Paclitaxel, ifosfamide and cisplatin, HDC: High dose chemotherapy, GEMPOX: Gemcitabine, paclitaxel and oxaliplatin, VIP: Ifosfamide, etoposide, cisplatin, RBPC: Red blood packed cells, PAS: Platelet additive solution, IQR: Interquartile range

in those who received four or more lines [21.6 (34.5) vs 10.8 (11.6), p=0.034]. Grade 3 neutropenia (46.6%), anemia (40%), and thrombocytopenia (40%) were frequently observed in all patients. Treatment side effects and responses to treatment are presented in Table 2.

Discussion

GCT is considered among the chemosensitive malignancies like lymphomas. However, the therapeutic management of patients with relapsed/refractory GCT is still challenging. Despite repeated chemotherapy lines and even HDC treatment, there are still patients with residual tumor burden and good performance status. Although the number of patients reaching this clinical condition is generally low, chemotherapy protocols that are expected to be effective in patients who are still relapsed or refractory despite receiving multi-line therapy are needed. The ICE protocol is an approach that comes to the fore at this point. In this study, the use of the ICE protocol was evaluated in patients with relapsed/refractory GCT who received multi-line therapy. There was a significant difference in the time to the last visit after ICE in patients who received ≤3 lines of treatment before compared to those who received ≥4 lines of treatment. The explanation for such a difference may be the higher fragility and lower performance of patients receiving more chemotherapy. Thanks to the use of chemotherapy protocols containing cisplatin, especially in patients with extensive visceral metastases and different negative prognostic features, advanced GCT can be successfully treated initially (5,6). All patients included in our study had been treated with combination chemotherapy protocols containing at least two lines of cisplatin in the past. The majority of the patients in the current study had liver metastases before the ICE protocol. The liver is the most common site of extrapulmonary organ metastases in patients with advanced GCT (11). In contrast to lung metastases, liver, brain, and bone metastases represent a poor prognostic feature in GCT (12-14). Given that the patients in the current analysis received multi-line therapy, a high frequency of liver metastases may be predictable. Lung metastases were also detected in more than half of our patients.

For men with good-risk advanced testicular GCTs, relapse-

Table 2. Treatment-related characteristics of the patients				
	Total (n=15)	Prior to ≤3 lines of systemic therapy (n=6)	Prior to ≥4 lines of systemic therapy (n=9)	р
Best objective response after ICE protocol, n (%)				
Complete response	1 (6.6)	1 (16.6)	-	-
Partial response	7 (46.6)	2 (33.3)	5 (55.5)	-
Stable disease	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)	-
Progressive disease	4 (26.6)	2 (33.3)	2 (22.2)	-
Interval between first diagnosis and ICE protocol, mean (SD), months	51.06 (35.04)	62.16 (41.61)	43.66 (30.20)	0.335
Overall survival after ICE protocol, median (IQR), months	13.95 (15.36)	21.62 (34.54)	10.80 (11.63)	0.034
Interval between first diagnosis and last visit, mean (SD), months	73.77 (43.21)	94.09 (37.25)	60.23 (43.41)	0.143
Haematologic side effects after ICE protocol				
Neutropenia, n (%)				
None	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	1 (22.2)	-
Grade 1	4 (26.6)	-	2 (44.4)	-
Grade 2	1 (6.6)	1 (16.6)	-	-
Grade 3	7 (46.6)	4 (66.6)	3 (33.3)	-
Anemia, n (%)				
None	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	1 (22.2)	-
Grade 1	2 (13.3)	-	1 (22.2)	-
Grade 2	4 (26.6)	2 (33.3)	2 (22.2)	-
Grade 3	6 (40.0)	3 (50.0)	3 (33.3)	-
Thrombocytopenia, n (%)				
None	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)	-
Grade 1	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)	-
Grade 2	3 (20.0)	1 (16.6)	2 (22.2)	-
Grade 3	6 (40.0)	3 (50.0)	3 (33.3)	-
Febrile neutropenia, n (%)	7 (46.6)	4 (66.6)	3 (33.3)	-
RBPC infusion counts, median (IQR)	2 (6)	3 (7.75)	2 (4)	-
PAS infusion counts, median (IQR)	1.5 (3)	2 (6)	2 (5.67)	-

free survival has been reported to be above 70% following firstline chemotherapy. Up to 50% of men with intermediate or poorrisk disease traits with the relapsed disease following first-line chemotherapy require additional treatment (15-18). In our study, most patients had IGCCCG moderate or poor-risk disease, most patients received \geq 3 lines of chemotherapy before the ICE protocol. One of the important indicators of prognosis in GCT is the high course of serum tumor markers (12). In our study, serum tumor markers in were in the highest category in most patients, namely, S3 [S3: LDH >10 × ULN or hCG (mIU/ mL) >50,000 or AFP (ng/mL) >10,000] before the ICE protocol. This finding may be explained by the resistant clinical course and poor prognosis characteristics of the patients in the current

additive solution

analysis. Patients who show relapse after the second-line chemotherapy and patients who progress within one month of completing the first cisplatin-based chemotherapy or during the treatment are considered platinum-resistant diseases. This group is often treated with HDC therapy. HDC achieves successful endpoints for treating patients with relapsed or treatment refractory GCT. HDC is also a treatment approach that achieves a favorable outcome when used after the second line (19-21). Erturk et al. (22) reported a 1-year progression-free survival (PFS) rate of 57.8% and a 1-year OS rate of 77.5% after a single course of HDC in patients with relapsed/refractory GCT. Additionally, median OS and PFS were 21.5±1.8 and 20±2 months, respectively. In our study, more than half of the patients
had received HDC treatment before. Patients who still require treatment despite receiving this dose-dense treatment are one of the main groups for which survival outcomes are to be evaluated in this study. The treatments available for cases with relapsed or still a residual disease, even after dose-dense therapy such as HDC, are very limited. In these difficult-to-manage clinical situations, gemcitabine-based therapies such as gemcitabine plus oxaliplatin, gemcitabine, oxaliplatin, and paclitaxel (GEMPOX) can be used. Surgery may be recommended if the patient has a residual tumor suitable for surgery. A second HDC treatment may also be recommended if the patient's performance and tumor burden are suitable. GEMPOX therapy has shown a positive impact on PFS and OS endpoints in cases of testicular cancer that relapsed or remained refractory after cisplatin-based chemotherapy (23-25). In a previous study, successful real-life data of the combination of GEMPOX in patients with relapsed or refractory GCTs were reported (26). One-year OS, PFS, and overall response rate were reported to be significantly higher in favor of the clinical benefit. In our study, many patients received the GEMPOX protocol before the ICE protocol. In these patients, we can state that there was a significant median time from ICE to the last visit. This gives us an idea that the ICE protocol is useful in the post-GEMPOX period. Hematological side effects were frequently observed after the ICE protocol in the current analysis, which may be considered acceptable as most patients received multiple-line chemotherapy, including HDC. Although G-CSF was used routinely in our cases, neutropenia was frequently observed (27). However, the frequency of febrile neutropenia did not differ between those who received three or fewer systemic treatments and those who received four or more systemic treatments. Also, the frequency of anemia and thrombocytopenia were similar between the groups. Hence, hematological side effects of the ICE chemotherapy protocol are prominent features beyond the past chemotherapy regimens and bone marrow reserve.

This paper has several limitations. First, the number of patients was low, limiting the generalizability of the findings to different populations. Second, the retrospective design of the study raises the possibility of errors in data quality. Third, since the analysis was cross-sectional, the results cannot be assumed to be causal. Finally, follow-up times and intervals cannot be controlled in retrospective analyses.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study that was conducted on a less common, chemotherapy-resistant malignancy with residual tumor requiring advanced-line chemotherapy despite initial multiple-line chemotherapy showed that the ICE protocol was associated with a favorable outcome profile including OS. Nevertheless, hematological side-effects were quite common.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (protocol number: 2021/58, date: 29.09.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.B.A., İ.E., R.A., G.S.K., N.K., Concept: M.B.A., İ.E., N.K., Design: M.B.A., R.A., N.K., Data Collection or Processing: M.B.A., E.Ö., G.S.K., Analysis or Interpretation: M.B.A., İ.E., N.K., Literature Search: M.B.A., G.S.K., Writing: M.B.A., E.Ö.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71:7-33.
- Carver BS, Serio AM, Bajorin D, et al. Improved clinical outcome in recent years for men with metastatic nonseminomatous germ cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:5603-5608.
- Feldman DR, Bosl GJ, Sheinfeld J, Motzer RJ. Medical treatment of advanced testicular cancer. JAMA. 2008;299:672-684.
- Einhorn LH, Williams SD, Loehrer PJ, et al. Evaluation of optimal duration of chemotherapy in favorable-prognosis disseminated germ cell tumors: a Southeastern Cancer Study Group protocol. J Clin Oncol. 1989;7:387-391.
- Massard C, Plantade A, Gross-Goupil M, et al. Poor prognosis nonseminomatous germ-cell tumours (NSGCTs): should chemotherapy doses be reduced at first cycle to prevent acute respiratory distress syndrome in patients with multiple lung metastases? Ann Oncol. 2010;21:1585-1588.
- Kondagunta GV, Bacik J, Donadio A, et al. Combination of paclitaxel, ifosfamide, and cisplatin is an effective second-line therapy for patients with relapsed testicular germ cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6549-6555.
- Yildiz B, Pinar Aral I, Balyemez U, et al. What is the optimal high-dose treatment following autologous stem cell transplantation in relapsed or refractory germ cell cancer: a retrospective comparison of high-dose ICE and high-dose CE. J BUON. 2020;25:1136-1140.
- Simonelli M, Rosti G, Banna GL, et al. Intensified chemotherapy with stem-cell rescue in germ-cell tumors. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:815-822.
- 9. No authors listed. International Germ Cell Consensus Classification: a prognostic factor-based staging system for

metastatic germ cell cancers. International Germ Cell Cancer Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15:594-603.

- Therasse P, Arbuck SG, Eisenhauer EA, et al. New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer, National Cancer Institute of the United States, National Cancer Institute of Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92:205-216.
- Wood MJ, Thomas R, Howard SA, Braschi-Amirfarzan M. Imaging of metastatic germ cell tumors in Male patients from initial diagnosis to treatment-related toxicities: A primer for radiologists. Am J Roentgenol. 2020;214:24-33.
- International Prognostic Factors Study Group; Lorch A, Beyer J, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with metastatic germ cell tumors who experienced treatment failure with cisplatin-based first-line chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4906-4911.
- Pico JL, Rosti G, Kramar A, et al. A randomised trial of highdose chemotherapy in the salvage treatment of patients failing first-line platinum chemotherapy for advanced germ cell tumours. Ann Oncol. 2005;16:1152-1159.
- McCaffrey JA, Mazumdar M, Bajorin DF, Bosl GJ, Vlamis V, Motzer RJ. Ifosfamide-and cisplatin-containing chemotherapy as first-line salvage therapy in germ cell tumors: response and survival. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15:2559-2563.
- 15. Culine S, Kramar A, Théodore C, et al. Randomized trial comparing bleomycin/etoposide/cisplatin with alternating cisplatin/cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin and vinblastine/ bleomycin regimens of chemotherapy for patients with intermediate- and poor-risk metastatic nonseminomatous germ cell tumors: Genito-Urinary Group of the French Federation of Cancer Centers Trial T93MP. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:421-427.
- Motzer RJ, Nichols CJ, Margolin KA, et al. Phase III randomized trial of conventional-dose chemotherapy with or without highdose chemotherapy and autologous hematopoietic stem-cell rescue as first-line treatment for patients with poor-prognosis metastatic germ cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:247-256.
- Hinton S, Catalano PJ, Einhorn LH, et al. Cisplatin, etoposide and either bleomycin or ifosfamide in the treatment of disseminated germ cell tumors: final analysis of an intergroup trial. Cancer. 2003;97:1869-1875.
- de Wit R, Stoter G, Sleijfer DT, et al. Four cycles of BEP vs four cycles of VIP in patients with intermediate-prognosis

metastatic testicular non-seminoma: a randomized study of the EORTC Genitourinary Tract Cancer Cooperative Group. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Br J Cancer. 1998;78:828-832.

- Nichols CR, Tricot G, Williams SD, et al. Dose-intensive chemotherapy in refractory germ cell cancer--a phase I/II trial of high-dose carboplatin and etoposide with autologous bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 1989;7:932-939.
- Einhorn LH, Williams SD, Chamness A, Brames MJ, Perkins SM, Abonour R. High-dose chemotherapy and stem-cell rescue for metastatic germ-cell tumors. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:340-348.
- Beyer J, Kingreen D, Krause M, et al. Long-term survival of patients with recurrent or refractory germ cell tumors after high dose chemotherapy. Cancer. 1997;79:161-168.
- 22. Erturk I, Karadurmus N, Kızıloz H, et al. Treating relapsed and refractory metastatic germ cell tumours with high-dose chemotherapy with carboplatin and etoposide and autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J Oncol Pharm Pract. 2021;27:1657-1664.
- Kollmannsberger C, Rick O, Derigs HG, et al. Activity of oxaliplatin in patients with relapsed or cisplatin-refractory germ cell cancer: a study of the German Testicular Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20:2031-2037.
- Ertürk İ, Yıldız B, Karadurmuş N, et al. Retrospective analysis of long-term survival after combination treatment with gemcitabine, oxaliplatin and paclitaxel in patients with refractory or relapsed testicular cancers. Gulhane Med J. 2018;60:145-150.
- Bokemeyer C, Oechsle K, Honecker F, et al. Combination chemotherapy with gemcitabine, oxaliplatin, and paclitaxel in patients with cisplatin-refractory or multiply relapsed germ-cell tumors: a study of the German Testicular Cancer Study Group. Ann Oncol. 2008;19:448-453.
- Acar R, Ertürk I, Kızıloz H, et al. Gemcitabine, oxaliplatin and paclitaxel (Gempox) in patients with relapsed or refractory germ cell tumors after high dose chemotherapy, a retrospective single-center experience. International Journal of Hematology and Oncology. 2020;30:191-196.
- 27. Pérez-Ruixo JJ. Hematopoietic growth factors. Pharm Biotechnol Fundam Appl. 2019:521-535.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.59454 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:235-9



The impact of oocyte denudation without a pre-incubation on intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes

Zehra Beyza Düzgün¹, Mehmet Cıncık^{1,2}, Yaprak Dönmez Çakıl², Şenay Kanaat³, Belgin Selam⁴

¹Maltepe University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Clinical Embryology, Istanbul, Türkiye

²Maltepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Istanbul, Türkiye

3Acibadem Altunizade Hospital, Unit of Assisted Reproductive Techniques, Istanbul, Türkiye

⁴Acibadem Mehmet Ali Aydinlar University School of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology; Acibadem Altunizade Hospital, Unit of Assisted Reproductive Techniques, Istanbul, Türkiye

Date submitted: 30.11.2021 Date accepted: 10.01.2022 Online publication date:

08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Belgin Selam, M.D., Prof., Acibadem Mehmet Ali Aydinlar University School of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology; Acibadem Altunizade Hospital, Unit of Assisted Reproductive Techniques, Istanbul, Türkiye belgin.selam@acibadem.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4478-7514

Keywords: ICSI, multinucleation, denudation, embryo quality, fertilization, pregnancy

ABSTRACT

Aims: Debate over the optimal timing of oocyte denudation following oocyte retrieval continues. Multinucleation has been associated with lower embryo quality and implantation rate. Defining oocyte characteristics might increase the chances of better embryo selection. This study aimed to investigate the laboratory and clinical outcomes of intracytoplasmic sperm injection when the oocytes were denuded immediately after oocyte retrieval.

Methods: A prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study was performed. The participants were under 40 years of age with more than 5 oocytes. Patients with male factors were excluded. The study and control groups were formed by simple randomization. The study group underwent oocyte denudation immediately. In the control group, oocytes were routinely incubated in an equilibration solution for 2 h until the removal of the cumulus cells. Outcome measures were normal fertilization (two pronuclei, 2PN), multinucleation rate, the proportion of good quality embryos, blastocyst formation, and pregnancy rate.

Results: A total of 792 oocytes were collected from 54 participants (mean age: 30.6 ± 3.7 years). The fertilization rate was higher in the study group (n=209 in 376) compared with the controls (n=201 in 416) (55.6% vs. 48.3%, p=0.041). The multinucleation rate (6.6% vs. 4.3%, p=0.150), proportion of grade 1 embryos on day 3 (48.7% vs. 43%, p=0.112) and day 5 (27.7% vs. 23.8%, p=0.214), the proportion of embryos reaching blastocyst stage (34.0% vs. 28.1%, p=0.072), and the pregnancy rates (78.6% vs. 71.4%, p=1.000) were similar.

Conclusions: Our results demonstrated that immediate removal of cumulus cells does not have any negative impact on intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes.

Introduction

The clinical absence of pregnancy after 12 months of regular and unprotected sex is defined as infertility (1), an issue studied by researchers for years. Since the first successful induction of ovulation followed by pregnancy in 1963, assisted reproductive technologies (ART) have developed rapidly, causing a drastic change to find suitable treatment options for infertile couples (2). Today, intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) has become a widely employed treatment option in every ART unit. ICSI outcome highly relies on oocyte quality (3), and the evaluation of oocyte characteristics and oocyte behavior during ICSI might assist in enhancing cycle outcome rates (4).

Corona cumulus cells originate from granulosa cells and are located around the oocyte. They are implicated in oocyte growth and maturation, ovulation, and fertilization in mammals (5). These cells are removed in a process called oocyte denudation to allow the evaluation of oocyte maturation and microinjection during ICSI. Routinely, the oocytes undergo a pre-incubation period for several hours following oocyte retrieval (6). However, no consensus on the timing of oocyte denudation has been established (6-10). Recent studies using oocytes from mice reported that long-term oocyte culture with the surrounding cumulus cells promotes oocyte aging and induces apoptotic changes (11-13). Also, Zhou et al. (10) demonstrated that 4-hour co-incubation of gametes and early removal of cumulus cells improved the clinical outcomes in patients with initial complete fertilization failure. However, abnormal fertilization with more than two visible pronuclei in couples with good-fertilizing capabilities has also increased significantly increased.

Multinucleation corresponds to the presence of more than one nucleus in a blastomere. Multinucleated blastomeres are frequently observed in ART. The incidence positively correlates with factors such as shorter stimulations, a higher number of oocytes retrieved, and a higher follicle-stimulating hormone dose for stimulation (14). Desch et al. (15) showed that embryo multinucleation at the two-cell stage affects birth potential negatively. Xiong et al. (16) compared the effects of denudation of oocytes after 6 h or 20 h post-insemination on the outcomes of in vitro fertilization (IVF) and reported similar results in terms of multinucleation (16). To our knowledge, the effect of early oocyte denudation on multinucleation in patients undergoing ICSI has not been assessed before.

Defining oocyte characteristics might allow the ART facilities to predict its developmental potential and increase the chances of better embryo selection for transfer (17). This study aimed to investigate the laboratory and clinical outcomes of ICSI when the oocytes were denuded at time points 0 or 2 h after oocyte retrieval.

Methods

Patients

This prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study included participants from Acibadem Altunizade Hospital, Unit of ART (Istanbul, Türkiye) between 01.11.2020 and 30.08.2021. The inclusion criteria were as follows: Females under 40 years of age, at least 5 oocytes retrieved, and no male factor. The local clinical ethics board of Maltepe University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul approved this study with an approval number of 2020/900/82 on 21.10.2020. A written consent form was obtained from the patient. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the revised Declaration of Helsinki (18).

Ovarian stimulation, oocyte pick up, and denudation

Pituitary downregulation was performed either by a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist (GnRH-a) or a GnRH

antagonist. GnRHa leuprolide acetate (Lucrin 0.5 mg/mL, Abbott, Madrid, Spain) was injected in the late luteal phase before the treatment cycle. The GnRH antagonist cetrorelix acetate (Cetrotide, Baxter Oncology GmbH, Halle, Germany) injections started on the fifth day of the treatment cycle. Both were applied daily until the trigger ovulation. Before initiating the IVF cycle, baseline ultrasounds were performed. Gonadotropin injections were started in the absence of more than 2 cm cysts on cycle days 2 or 3 and the dose used ranged from 150 international units (IU) to 300 IU.

A human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) injection was administered when at least 3 follicles equal to or more than 17 mm in diameter were observed. Follicular aspiration was performed 35-36 h after ovulation was triggered.

The oocytes of the patients were divided into two groups by simple randomization using a closed envelope method: (i) control group: cumulus-cell removal was performed 2 h after oocyte pick up (OPU) (time point: 2 h, as in the routine applications), (ii): a study group: cumulus-cell removal was performed immediately (time point: 0). Opaque sealed envelopes with serial numbers contained random allocation cards with the names of the control or study group prepared by an independent laboratory technician. The envelopes were opened sequentially to randomly allocate the sibling oocytes to either group.

The 2-hour incubation of the oocytes of the control group until denudation was performed in equilibration solution (G-IVF, Vitrolife-Swemed/Sweden) in a culture incubator with 5-6% CO_2 , 5% O_2 , 37 °C and 90% humidity. The bonds of the corona cells were loosened using the hyaluronidase enzyme (HYASE, Vitrolife-Swemed/Sweden) and the cells were cleaned using a denudation pipette. After the decellularization of the oocyte, its maturation was evaluated under a light microscope and the morphological evaluation of the oocytes was performed. ICSI was performed following cumulus-cell removal.

Assessment of fertilization and multinucleation

Fertilization was determined 16-18 hours following ICSI. 2PN and two polar bodies were required for normal fertilization.

To determine the multinucleation status, blastomeres were assessed for the presence of more than one nucleus. Each blastomere was evaluated for multinucleation 42 h, 46 h and 50 h after fertilization and multinucleated embryos were noted.

Evaluation of the embryos on days 3 and 5, and assessment of pregnancy

Embryo quality on days 3 and 5 was determined based on the morphological criteria and on the grading system described by Gardner and Schoolcraft (19) in 1999, respectively. Maternal serum β -hCG \geq 10 mIU/mL 10-12 days after embryo transfer was used to define pregnancy.

Statistics Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) (NCSS LLC, Kaysville, Utah, USA). Comparisons of fertilization rates, multinucleation rates, embryo development on days 3 and 5 and the rates of reaching the blastocyst stage were performed using Pearson's chisquare test. Fisher's exact test was employed to compare the pregnancy rates of the patients. Statistical significance was set with a p-value <0.05.

Results

Clinical characteristics of the patients

This study was conducted with 54 patients. The mean age of the patients was 30.6 ± 3.7 (19-36) and the mean number of retrieved oocytes was 14.7 ± 6.4 (5-39). Two groups of oocytes were formed by simple randomization using a closed envelop method according to the denudation timings o and 2 h, corresponding to the study and control groups, respectively. Three hundred and seventy-six oocytes (47.5%) in the study group and 416 oocytes (52.5%) in the control group were observed as suitable for ICSI with a total number of 792.

The association of early oocyte denudation on fertilization, embryo quality and blastocyst formation

As provided in Table 1, the fertilization rate significantly increased when the cumulus cells were removed immediately after OPU without a pre-incubation than the 2 h incubation (55.6% vs. 48.3%, p=0.041). No significant differences were obtained between the study and control groups regarding the multinucleation rate (6.6% vs. 4.3%, p=0.150), the proportions of Grade 1 day 3 (48.7% vs. 43%, p=0.112), and day 5 embryos (27.7% vs. 23.8%, p=0.214) and the proportion of embryos reaching the blastocyst stage (34.0% vs. 28.1%, p=0.072).

The effect of early oocyte denudation on pregnancy

Embryos of 23 patients were frozen and 10 patients received embryos from both groups during transfer. Therefore, among the 54 patients, 21 patients were included to compare their pregnancy rates (Table 2). Pregnancy was detected in 78.6% of the cases in the study group and 71.4% cases in the control group. There was no statistically significant difference between the pregnancy rates in the groups (p=1.000).

Discussion

Cumulus cells are supporting cells that surround the oocvte and protect it from the microenvironment. Bi-directional communication is responsible for oocyte growth, maturation in the follicles, and early embryonic developmental competence (5). The complex regulation between the oocyte and the cumulus cells results in a coordinated function (20). Oocyte denudation should be performed before ICSI as the cumulus cells affect the microinjection process and a pre-ICSI evaluation of oocyte maturity is required (21). However, the debate over the optimal oocyte denudation timing has been going on. Several studies on mice oocytes reported that apoptotic changes and oocyte aging are induced following a long-term oocyte culture with cumulus cells (11-13). Aged oocytes have a reduced developmental competence (22). However, a systematic review by Wang et al. (21) found that the time from OPU to oocyte denudation did not change ICSI outcomes in most of the studies, though some suggested a short pre-incubation following oocyte retrieval.

Multinucleation is a frequently observed phenomenon in ART. In the study by Xiong et al. (16), a pre-incubation of 6 or 20 h was performed in classical IVF and no difference was reported in terms of multinucleation when the two groups were compared similarly to our findings. Multinucleation is one factor compromising the embryo quality and implantation

in the study group and control group	n the study group and control group						
	Study group (n=376)	Control group (n=416)	^a p				
Fertilization (2PN), n (%)	209 (55.6)	201 (48.3)	0.041*				
Multinucleation, n (%)	25 (6.6)	18 (4.3)	0.150				
3 rd day G1, n (%)	183 (48.7)	179 (43.0)	0.112				
5 th day G1, n (%)	104 (27.7)	99 (23.8)	0.214				
Blastocyst development, n (%)	128 (34.0)	117 (28.1)	0.072				
^a Pearson's chi-square test, 2PN: Two pronuclei,	G1: Grade 1						

Table 1. Fertilization rates, multinucleation rates, proportion of grade 1 embryos on day 3 and on day 5, and blastocyst development in the study group and control group

Table 2. Pregnancy rates depending on the timing of oocyte denudation (pregnancy + serum β -human chorionic gonadotropin \geq 10 mIU/mL)

	Study group (n=14)	Control group (n=7)	٥p
Pregnancy (+), n (%)	11 (78.6)	5 (71.4)	1.000
Pregnancy (-), n (%)	3 (21.4)	2 (28.6)	1.000
[▶] Fisher's exact test			

rate. Therefore, the evaluation of embryo multinucleation is considered an important parameter for embryo transfer (23).

In this prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study, we observed similar multinucleation rates between the control and study groups. Moreover, no statistically significant difference was found in embryo quality on days 3 and 5, blastocyst formation rates, and pregnancy rates when the cumulus cells were removed at time points 0 or 2 h. However, a higher fertilization rate was observed in the study group consisting of the oocytes denuded without a pre-incubation.

Patrat et al. (8) determined that a pre-incubation of 2 h may not increase the proportion of mature oocytes, but lead to the optimal combination of fertilization and implantation rates. However, the inclusion criteria of this study were different from those in our study: attempt rank 1 or 2 of ICSI; female age more than 36 years old; patients with male factor infertility. The cytoplasmic maturity process is not well known. The authors suggest that retrieved oocytes from stimulated cycles are cytoplasmically immature although they reach the Metaphase 2 stage, and still require cumulus cells for cytoplasmic maturation (8,24,25). However, several other studies reported no influence of the timing of oocyte denudation after OPU on the fertilization rate (6,26,27).

One of the most important processes in ART is the selection of the best embryo for transfer. The purpose of embryo grading is to select the embryo with the highest implantation potential (28). In our study, we hypothesized that oocytes that were denuded immediately after oocyte retrieval would have a higher development capacity based on the relation between cumulus cells and oocyte aging (11-13). However, no difference was observed between the study group and the control group in terms of embryo quality on days 3 and 5. However, Mizuno et al. (6) obtained a significantly higher percentage of good-quality blastocysts when the oocytes were denuded 2 h after OPU compared to those denuded at time point 0. Wang et al. (21) reviewed the studies focusing on the relationship between OPUoocyte denudation time and embryo quality. The researchers reported that most studies did not demonstrate any effect on embryo quality, while some suggested an extended preincubation to increase the rate of good-quality embryos. Few studies also evaluated the blastocyst formation rates. While Hassan (29) reported a higher blastocyst formation rate after a pre-incubation with intact cumulus cells, Ishikawa et al. (30), Mizuno et al. (6) and Naji et al. (27) demonstrated no significant differences related to OPU-oocyte denudation time. The differences in methodologies, such as hCG-OPU time, inclusion criteria, or sample size might account for the different effects obtained in the studies.

We also included pregnancy rates in our study. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of pregnancy rates. Although the number of patients was limited, our result is in accordance with the studies with a higher sample size (6,10,27,31,32). Bárcena et al. (32) explained this result with high-quality oocytes, which may withstand aging *in vitro*. Others obtained higher pregnancy rates when the oocyte culturing with cumulus cells was performed and proposed that cumulus cells should be maintained during a pre-incubation period (8,26).

Study Limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first report in the literature regarding a relationship between the timing of oocyte denudation and multinucleation in patients undergoing ICSI. Therefore, evaluation of the association between early oocyte denudation and multinucleation in patients undergoing ICSI is the major strength of our study. However, the small number of participants to evaluate the pregnancy outcome is a major limitation. Additionally, the effect of longer periods of culture between OPU and denudation was not assessed. Further multicenter randomized controlled studies with a larger sample size are necessary to confirm the higher fertilization rates obtained with the oocytes denuded immediately after oocyte retrieval and better understand the effects of cumulus removal on embryo quality and developmental fate.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we demonstrated a higher fertilization rate when the oocyte denudation was performed immediately after the oocyte retrieval compared to an incubation period of 2 h. However, other parameters, including multinucleation rates, embryo quality on days 3 and 5, blastocyst formation rates, and pregnancy rates were similar between the groups. Our results indicate that the removal of cumulus cells immediately after OPU does not have any negative impact on ICSI outcome.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained by the Maltepe University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020/900/82, date: 21.10.2020).

Informed Consent: All patients were informed about the study and the consent document received.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Design: Z.B.D., M.C., Y.D.Ç., B.S., Design: Z.B.D., M.C., Y.D.Ç., B.S., Data Collection, or Processing: Z.B.D., Ş.K., Analysis, or Interpretation: Z.B.D., Ş.K., M.C., Y.D.Ç., B.S., Literature Search: Z.B.D., Y.D.Ç., Writing: Z.B.D., M.C., Y.D.Ç., B.S.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Vander Borght M, Wyns C. Fertility and infertility: Definition and epidemiology. Clin Biochem. 2018;62:2-10.
- 2. Lunenfeld E. Specialty Grand Challenge-Assisted Reproduction. Frontiers in Reproductive Health. 2021;3:20.
- Haddad M, Stewart J, Xie P, et al. Thoughts on the popularity of ICSI. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2021;38:101-123.
- Maziotis E, Sfakianoudis K, Giannelou P, et al. Evaluating the value of day 0 of an ICSI cycle on indicating laboratory outcome. Sci Rep. 2020;10:19325.
- Turathum B, Gao EM, Chian RC. The Function of Cumulus Cells in Oocyte Growth and Maturation and in Subsequent Ovulation and Fertilization. Cells. 2021;10:2292.
- Mizuno S, Ishikawa Y, Matsumoto H, et al. The timing of cumulus cell removal for intracytoplasmic sperm injection influences the capability of embryonic development. Reprod Med Biol. 2018;18:111-117.
- Kong P, Yin M, Tang C, et al. Effects of Early Cumulus Cell Removal on Treatment Outcomes in Patients Undergoing In Vitro Fertilization: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:669507.
- Patrat C, Kaffel A, Delaroche L, et al. Optimal timing for oocyte denudation and intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Obstet Gynecol Int. 2012;2012:403531.
- Xue Y, Tong X, Jiang L, Zhu H, Yang L, Zhang S. Effect of cumulus cell removal 4 h post-insemination on fertilization and embryo quality: a prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2013;30:1049-1053.
- Zhou L, Wang J, Xiao L, et al. Differential effects of short coincubation of gametes and early removal of cumulus cells in patients with different fertilizing capabilities. Reprod Biomed Online. 2016;32:591-596.
- Qiao TW, Liu N, Miao DQ, et al. Cumulus cells accelerate aging of mouse oocytes by secreting a soluble factor(s). Mol Reprod Dev. 2008;75:521-528.
- Zhu J, Zhang J, Li H, et al. Cumulus cells accelerate oocyte aging by releasing soluble Fas ligand in mice. Sci Rep. 2015;5:8683.
- Miao YL, Liu XY, Qiao TW, Miao DQ, Luo MJ, Tan JH. Cumulus cells accelerate aging of mouse oocytes. Biol Reprod. 2005;73:1025-1031.
- Van Royen E, Mangelschots K, Vercruyssen M, et al. Multinucleation in cleavage stage embryos. Hum Reprod. 2003;18:1062-1069.
- Desch L, Bruno C, Luu M, et al. Embryo multinucleation at the two-cell stage is an independent predictor of intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes. Fertil Steril. 2017;107:97-103.
- Xiong S, Han W, Liu JX, et al. Effects of cumulus cells removal after 6 h co-incubation of gametes on the outcomes of human IVF. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2011;28:1205-1211.

- Ebner T, Shebl O, Moser M, Sommergruber M, Tews G. Developmental fate of ovoid oocytes. Hum Reprod. 2008;23:62-66.
- World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013;310:2191-2194.
- 19. Gardner DK, Schoolcraft WB. Culture and transfer of human blastocysts. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 1999;11:307-311.
- Biase FH, Kimble KM. Functional signaling and gene regulatory networks between the oocyte and the surrounding cumulus cells. BMC Genomics. 2018;19:351.
- Wang X, Xiao Y, Sun Z, Zhen J, Yu Q. Effect of the time interval between oocyte retrieval and ICSI on embryo development and reproductive outcomes: a systematic review. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2021;19:34.
- Lacham-Kaplan O, Trounson A. Reduced developmental competence of immature, in-vitro matured and postovulatory aged mouse oocytes following IVF and ICSI. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2008;6:58.
- De Cássia Savio Figueira R, Souza Setti A, Paes De Almeida Ferreira Braga D, Iaconelli A Jr, Borges E Jr. Blastomere multinucleation: Contributing factors and effects on embryo development and clinical outcome. Hum Fertil (Camb). 2010;13:143-150.
- Sundström P, Nilsson BO. Meiotic and cytoplasmic maturation of oocytes collected in stimulated cycles is asynchronous. Hum Reprod. 1988;3:613-619.
- Shu Y, Gebhardt J, Watt J, Lyon J, Dasig D, Behr B. Fertilization, embryo development, and clinical outcome of immature oocytes from stimulated intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles. Fertil Steril. 2007;87:1022-1027.
- Carvalho M, Leal F, Mota S, et al. The effect of denudation and injection timing in the reproductive outcomes of ICSI cycles: new insights into the risk of in vitro oocyte ageing. Hum Reprod. 2020;35:2226-2236.
- Naji O, Moska N, Dajani Y, et al. Early oocyte denudation does not compromise ICSI cycle outcome: a large retrospective cohort study. Reprod Biomed Online. 2018;37:18-24.
- Weitzman VN, Schnee-Riesz J, Benadiva C, Nulsen J, Siano L, Maier D. Predictive value of embryo grading for embryos with known outcomes. Fertil Steril. 2010;93:658-662.
- Hassan HA. Cumulus cell contribution to cytoplasmic maturation and oocyte developmental competence in vitro. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2001;18:539-543.
- Ishikawa Y, Inaba M, Matsumoto H, et al. Influence of the duration between removal of cumulus cells and oocyte retrieval on fertilization and embryonic development. Human Reprod. 2016;31(Suppl 1):i1-i2.
- Yanagida K, Yazawa H, Katayose H, Suzuki K, Hoshi K, Sato A. Influence of oocyte preincubation time on fertilization after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Hum Reprod. 1998;13:2223-2226.
- Bárcena P, Rodríguez M, Obradors A, Vernaeve V, Vassena R. Should we worry about the clock? Relationship between time to ICSI and reproductive outcomes in cycles with fresh and vitrified oocytes. Hum Reprod. 2016;31:1182-1191.



The relationship of atherogenic index of plasma with endothelial dysfunction biomarkers in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease

¹Balikesir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Balikesir, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, Samsun, Türkiye ³Batigoz Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, Izmir, Türkiye

⁴University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Ankara, Türkiye

5Ena Laboratory, Section of Biochemistry, Ankara, Türkiye

⁶University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ankara, Türkiye

⁷Health Ministry Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Nigde, Türkiye

⁸University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Ankara, Türkiye

⁹Balikesir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Balikesir, Türkiye

Date submitted: 19.10.2021 **Date accepted:** 18.01.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Ali Kırık, M.D., Balikesir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Balikesir, Türkiye alikirik87@hotmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7982-9262

Keywords: Metabolic associated fatty liver disease, atherogenic index of plasma, endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis

ABSTRACT

Aims: The atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) is a marker used to predict atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease (CVD). In this study, we examined the relationship of AIP with markers of endothelial dysfunction (ED) [asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) and adiponectin] and early atherosclerosis [high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP)] in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD).

Methods: This was a cross-sectional study with retrospective enrollment. AIP was defined as the logarithmically transformed ratio of triglyceride to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. All patients were divided into two groups according to whether they had steatohepatitis or fibrosis and were compared. Mean differences between two independent groups were assessed using the independent Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate.

Results: A total of 129 male subjects with biopsy-proven MAFLD were enrolled. There were no significant differences regarding AIP (0.64 ± 0.039 vs. 0.62 ± 0.033 , p=0.773) between patients with steatohepatitis (n=54) and without steatohepatitis (n=75). Additionally, similar findings were observed among subjects with fibrosis (n=84) and without fibrosis (n=45). However, there was no association of AIP with ADMA, adiponectin, hs-CRP, insulin and HOMA-IR levels (p=0.176, p=0.636, p=0.810, p=0.068, and p=0.126, respectively).

Conclusion: The lack of association between AIP and the biomarkers of ED or early atherosclerosis implies that this index may not be a significant predictor of CVD in MAFLD.

Introduction

Non-alcoholic fatty liver (FL) disease (NAFLD) is the most common chronic liver disease both in Türkiye and in the world. Recently, it was recommended that the disease be named and defined as metabolic associated FL disease (MAFLD) (1). The pathogenesis of MAFLD starts with hepatic fat accumulation, in association with peripheral insulin resistance (2,3). MAFLD is considered the liver component of metabolic syndrome (MetS) and is strongly associated with obesity, hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and dyslipidemia (4,5). Overall, the combination of metabolic disorders leads to a significant increase in cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. Ultimately, it has been reported that MAFLD confers an independent risk of CVD, apart from MetS and traditional cardiovascular risk factors (6-8).

Endothelial dysfunction (ED) plays an important role in the pathogenesis of the initial stage of atherosclerosis and is also a key factor in predicting future CVD (9,10). Multiple factors take part in the pathogenesis of ED, including increased oxidative stress, elevated asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), angiotensin 2 and homocysteine, and decreased adiponectin levels (11-13). ADMA, an analog of L-arginine is a biomarker that decreases nitric oxide synthesis and therefore is associated with ED and CVD (14). Simultaneously, adiponectin is an important peptide secreted by adipocytes and is measured at low levels in obesity, MetS, T2DM, and CVD (15). Both ADMA and adiponectin are well-known biomarkers of ED and atherosclerosis (14,16). However, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), a systemic inflammatory marker connected with ED and atherosclerosis, is directly related to the risk of CVD (17).

The atherogenic index of plasma (AIP), a logarithmically transformed ratio of molar concentrations of triglycerides (TG) and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), is positively and strongly associated with obesity, T2DM, and MetS (18). Therefore, it has been reported to be associated with atherosclerosis and suggested as a novel biomarker for future risk of atherosclerosis and CVD (19). There are few studies in the current literature investigating the role of AIP in patients with MAFLD (20,21). However, the role of AIP in the prediction of increased CVD in MAFLD is unclear. To the best of our knowledge, the association of AIP with ED and atherosclerosis biomarkers has not been previously investigated in subjects with MAFLD. Therefore, this study examined the associations of AIP with cardiometabolic risk factors, and especially the relationship of AIP with ED or atherosclerosis in patients with MAFLD.

Methods

Study design and population

This retrospective study was performed using a previously obtained dataset of routine patient follow-up at the

Gastroenterology Department, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye (22,23). The participants were asymptomatic men who had undergone evaluation for elevated transaminases. Blood tests and liver biopsy were performed as part of the clinical algorithm. Patients with hypertension, T2DM, or those on medications that may affect the glucose or lipid metabolism (e.g., fibrates, statins) were excluded. The current study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of Balikesir University Faculty of Medicine (approval no: 2020/164, date: 23.09.2020) and the study protocol conforms to the Helsinki Declaration.

MAFLD was diagnosed by the presence of one of the specific clinical conditions (overweight, obesity, T2DM, or evidence of metabolic dysregulation) in NAFLD patients. The metabolic dysregulation was defined by the presence of two of the criteria (24); 1) waist circumference (WC) \geq 102 cm for men; 2) TG \geq 150 mg/dL; 3) blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg; 4) HDL-C <40 mg/dL for men; 5) prediabetes [e.g., glycated hemoglobin 5.7-6.4%, fasting plasma glucose (FPG) 100 to 125 mg/dL, or 2 h glucose levels 140 to 199 mg/dL]; 6) hs-CRP >2 mg/L; and 7) homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) index \geq 2.5.

Anthropometric measurements

Clinical and laboratory data were collected at the time of the liver biopsy. Height, weight, and WC of all patients were measured after 8 h of fasting. WC was measured as the midway between the lowest rib and the level of the anterior superior iliac crests. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body weight (kg)/height² (m²). Blood pressure was measured in a seated position three times, and mean blood pressure was determined. The diagnostic criteria for hypertension were systolic and diastolic blood pressure ≥140/90 mmHg.

Biochemical analyses

FPG. aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase, uric acid, bilirubin. gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), total cholesterol (TC), TG, and HDL-C levels were evaluated by the enzymatic colorimetric method (Olympus Diagnostics Hamburg, Germany). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol was calculated by following Friedewald's formula [TC-(TG/5+HDL-C)] (25). Basal insulin levels of the patients were measured by the chemiluminescence method (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Insulin resistance [HOMA-IR=Fasting insulin (µU/mL) × FPG (mg/dL)/405] was measured using a formula correlated with the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp method (26).

Plasma ADMA levels were measured by ELISA (ADMA direct ELISA kit, Immunodiagnostic AG, Bensheim, Germany) (detection limit of ADMA assay=0.04 µmol/L). Intra-assay CV ranged from 5.8% to 7.9%, while inter-assay CV ranged from 7.6% to 10.8% for the ADMA assay. Measurements were

performed using an ELISA BioTek Synergy HT plate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). Serum levels of adiponectin were also measured using the ELISA (Human Adiponectin ELISA Kit, Cat. No: E09; Reutlingen, Germany). Intra-assay CV ranged from 2.35% to 4.66%, while interassay CV ranged from 5.7% to 6.72% for adiponectin. The minimum detectable concentration of adiponectin was 0.6 ng/ mL. Measurements were implemented using an ELISA BioTek Synergy HT plate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). Serum hs-CRP levels were measured using the immune turbidimetric-fixed rate method with a biochemical autoanalyzer (Olympus AU 2700, Olympus Diagnostics, Hamburg, Germany). Intra-assay CV and inter-assay CV were 5.8% and 3.1%, respectively. The minimum detectable concentration for hs-CRP was 0.07 mg/L.

Assessment of AIP

The AIP was calculated as the logarithmic transformation of TG to HDL-C ratio [AIP=Log (TG/HDL-C)].

Liver histology

An experienced hepatopathologist blinded to subjects' details reviewed the histology slides to search for inflammation and/ or fibrosis using the classification of Kleiner et al. (27). NAFLD activity score (NAS) was calculated as the unweighted sum of steatosis [none, mild, moderate, and severe (0-3)], lobular inflammation [inflammatory foci per 200× field (0 is no foci; 1 is <2 foci per 200× field, 2 is 2-4 foci per 200× field, 3 is >4 foci per 200× field)], and hepatocellular ballooning [none, few balloon cells, and many cells/prominent ballooning (0-2)] scores. As a result, the subjects were classified into three groups namely simple steatosis [SS, (NAS=0-2)], borderline steatohepatitis [BSH, (NAS=3-4)] and definite steatohepatitis (DSH) [DSH, (NAS ≥5)]. The fibrosis score was assessed using a 6-point scale [1a, b=mild (1a) / moderate (1b) zone 3 perisinusoidal fibrosis; 1c=portal fibrosis only; 2=zone 3 and portal/periportal fibrosis; 3=bridging fibrosis; 4=cirrhosis].

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 22.0 package program (IBM, Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Normality assumptions were tested via Shapiro-Wilk analysis. Variables were expressed as mean±standard error (SE) when normally distributed and as median (25th-75th percentiles) when non-normally distributed. Mean differences between two independent groups were assessed using the independent samples t-test and Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate. We performed a one-way ANOVA test to determine mean differences between more than two groups. The correlation between numerical parameters was tested by the Pearson or Spearman methods. Differences and correlations were considered significant at p<0.05.

Results

The study included 129 patients with MAFLD (age, mean±SE: 32.1±0.5 years). Anthropometric. clinical. and laboratory data are shown in Table 1. Most patients were in the range of overweight or obesity. The distribution of histopathological parameters is shown in Table 2. Patients with SS and BSH were combined in one group described as non-DSH (n=75), with a mean±SE age of 32.7±0.7 years and DSH (n=54), with mean±SE age of 31.2±0.8 years. Fibrosis (F1-F3) was observed in 84 of 129 patients (65.1%). ALT and AST values were significantly higher in patients with fibrosis or steatohepatitis (p<0.05, for both). However, there was no significant difference in other parameters such as BMI, WC, glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR index, and lipid parameters. Additionally, there were also no significant differences in AIP, ADMA, adiponectin, and hs-CRP levels between the two groups. However, similar findings were observed among subjects with (n=84) and without fibrosis (n=45) except for insulin (p=0.007) and HOMA-IR (p=0.008) (Tables 3, 4).

Table 1. Anthropometric and laboratory data of the study
population

population	
	Values
Age (year)	32.08±0.53*
BMI (kg/m²)	28.2 (26.45-30.25)**
WC (cm)	100 (96-104)**
FPG (mg/dL)	93.67±0.95*
TC (mg/dL)	204±3.89*
TG (mg/dL)	166 (117-256)**
HDL-C (mg/dL)	40 (35-45)**
LDL-C (mg/dL)	124.76±3.07*
AST (U/L)	48 (37.5-58.5)**
ALT (U/L)	101 (74.5-130.5)**
GGT (U/L)	56 (44-76.75)**
UA (mg/dL)	6.6 (5.75-7.16)**
DBil (mg/dL)	0.16 (0.11-0.21)**
IBil (mg/dL)	0.6 (0.41-0.84)**
Insulin (mIU/L)	13.82 (10.11-19.79)**
Adiponectin (µg/mL)	3.94 (2.93-5.26)**
ADMA (µmol/L)	0.4 (0.33-0.49)**
hs-CRP (mg/L)	2.04 (1.19-3.26)**
HOMA-IR	2.98 (2.14-4.73)**
AIP	0.63±0.03*

*Mean±S.E., **Median (25th-75th percentiles). BMI: Body mass index, WC: Waist circumference, FPG: Fasting plasma glucose, TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL-C: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C: Lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, GGT: Gamma-glutamyl transferase, UA: Uric acid, DBil: Direct bilirubin, IBil: Indirect bilirubin, ADMA: asymmetric dimethylarginine, hs-CRP: High-sensitive C-reactive protein, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance, AIP: Atherogenic index of plasma

Table 2. Histopathological findings in the study population							
	n	%					
Fibrosis							
0	45	34.9					
1	76	58.9					
2	6	4.7					
3	2	1.6					
Steatosis							
0	8	6.2					
1	42	32.6					
2	45	34.9					
3	34	26.4					
Lobular inflammation							
0	11	8.5					
1	81	62.8					
2	37	28.7					
Hepatocellular ballooning							
0	28	21.7					
1	83	64.3					
2	18	14.0					

AIP was positively correlated with GGT level (r=0.366, p<0.001) and, negatively correlated with direct bilirubin level (r=-0.487, p<0.001). However, there was no association of AIP with ADMA, adiponectin, hs-CRP, insulin and HOMA-IR levels (p=0.176, p=0.636, p=0.810, p=0.068, and p=0.126, respectively). Moreover, analysis of the AIP with the histological findings (including steatosis, lobular inflammation, hepatocellular ballooning, and fibrosis scores) also showed no association between these parameters (p=0.505, p=0.388, p=0.599 and p=0.849, respectively).

Discussion

The results of this study show that the AIP calculated in patients with MAFLD was not related to inflammation or fibrosis nor the surrogate markers of ED and atherosclerosis. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study searching for the relationship between AIP and inflammation or ED or liver histology in patients with MAFLD (below, the implications of these findings will be discussed in detail).

However, there are limited data regarding the relationship of AIP with NAFLD. Wang et al. (20) evaluated 538 subjects with ultrasonographically diagnosed NAFLD. They found a strong association of AIP with NAFLD in the multivariable logistic

Table 3. Demographic and laboratory characteristics of patients with DSH and non-DSH					
Variable	Non-DSH (n=75)	DSH (n=54)	p-value		
Age (year)	32.71±0.732	31.2±0.76	0.165		
BMI (kg/m²)	28.4 (27-31)	28.15 (26.15-29.5)	0.238		
WC (cm)	99 (96-104.08)	100 (97-103.88)	0.764		
FPG (mg/dL)	93.18±1.257	94.35±1.443	0.541		
TC (mg/dL)	206.33±5.142	201.26±5.979	0.522		
TG (mg/dL)	167 (110-255)	149.5 (122-258.5)	0.854		
HDL-C (mg/dL)	41 (36-46)	38.5 (35-44.25)	0.211		
LDL-C (mg/dL)	128.27±4.088	119.87±4.584	0.178		
AST (U/L)	42 (34-53)	56 (41.75-65.25)	<0.001		
ALT (U/L)	89 (63-112)	120 (93.75-163.25)	<0.001		
GGT (U/L)	56 (41-83)	58 (45-76.5)	0.740		
UA (mg/dL)	6.58 (5.69-7.1)	6.67 (5.92-7.26)	0.344		
DBil (mg/dL)	0.15 (0.11-0.2)	0.16 (0.12-0.25)	0.292		
IBil (mg/dL)	0.57 (0.4-0.77)	0.7 (0.46-0.9)	0.059		
Insulin (mIU/L)	12.16 (9.56-19.78)	14.45 (10.36-20.71)	0.287		
Adiponectin (µg/mL)	4 (2.85-5.61)	3.79 (3.04-4.84)	0.635		
ADMA (µmol/L)	0.41 (0.34-0.48)	0.4 (0.33-0.56)	0.630		
hs-CRP (mg/L)	2.04 (1.18-3.47)	2.06 (1.17-3.06)	0.660		
HOMA-IR	2.78 (2.09-4.62)	3.39 (2.34-4.81)	0.351		
AIP	0.62±0.033	0.64±0.039	0.773		

Data are expressed as the mean±SE, and median (25th-75th interquartile range).

BMI: Body mass index, WC: Waist circumference, FPG: Fasting plasma glucose, TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL-C: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C: Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, GGT: Gamma-glutamyl transferase, UA: Uric acid, DBil: Direct bilirubin, IBil: Indirect bilirubin, ADMA: Asymmetric dimethylarginine, hs-CRP: High-sensitive C-reactive protein, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance, AIP: Atherogenic index of plasma, DSH: Definite steatohepatitis

Variable	Without fibrosis (F0) (n=45)	With fibrosis (F1-F3) (n=84)	p-value
Age (year)	31.4±0.8	32.4±0.7	0.354
BMI (kg/m²)	28.2 (26.9-30.0)	28.3 (26.3-30.5)	0.884
WC (cm)	98.0 (97.0-103.4)	100.0 (96.0-104.8)	0.680
FPG (mg/dL)	92.7±1.8	94.2±1.1	0.451
TC (mg/dL)	206.3±5.7	203.1±5.2	0.700
TG (mg/dL)	169.0 (122.5-264.0)	166.0 (115.3-255.5)	0.729
HDL-C (mg/dL)	40 (34.5-43.5)	40.5 (36.0-46.8)	0.198
LDL-C (mg/dL)	127.1±4.1	123.5±4.2	0.580
AST (U/L)	40 (34-51.5)	51.5 (39.3-64.0)	0.001
ALT (U/L)	84 (66.5-114.0)	108.5 (85-140.8)	0.012
GGT (U/L)	56 (42.5-86.5)	56 (44.0-76.0)	0.855
UA (mg/dL)	6.4 (5.6-7.2)	6.6 (6.07-7.2)	0.243
DBil (mg/dL)	0.2 (0.1-0.2)	0.2 (0.1-0.2)	0.735
IBil (mg/dL)	0.6 (0.4-0.8)	0.6 (0.4-0.9)	0.349
Insulin (mIU/L)	11.2 (9.29-15.6)	15.38 (10.28-23.55)	0.007
Adiponectin (µg/mL)	3.72 (2.77-5.01)	3.96 (3.04-5.38)	0.577
ADMA (µmol/L)	0.41 (0.33-0.51)	0.4 (0.33-0.48)	0.780
hs-CRP (mg/L)	1.75 (1.07-2.99)	2.11 (1.30-3.37)	0.249
HOMA-IR	2.45 (2.07-3.70)	3.66 (2.36-5.36)	0.008
AIP	0.64±0.044	0.62±0.031	0.596

Data are expressed as the mean±SE, and median (25th-75th interquartile range). p values were calculated using Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate. BMI: Body mass index, WC: Waist circumference, FPG: Fasting plasma glucose, TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL-C: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, GGT: Gamma-glutamyl transferase, UA: Uric acid, DBil: Direct bilirubin, IBil: Indirect bilirubin, ADMA: Asymmetric dimethylarginine, hs-CRP: High-sensitive C-reactive protein, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance, AIP: Atherogenic index of plasma

regression analysis. Additionally, among the other metabolic factors, such as BMI, WC, and lipid profile, AIP was the best predictor of NAFLD in this study. In another study, Dong et al. (21) analyzed the relationship between AIP and ultrasonographically diagnosed NAFLD in non-obese subjects. AIP was significantly and positively correlated with NAFLD. Moreover, in univariate and multivariate regression analysis, AIP is an independent risk factor for NAFLD. In another cross-sectional study conducted by Xie et al. (28), 7,838 subjects were involved in evaluating the association between AIP and FL and assessing the predictive ability of AIP for FL. AIP was significantly higher in the FL group than in the non-FL group. Additionally, a significantly elevated risk of FL was observed in the higher quartile of AIP compared with that in the lowest guartile following adjustment of gender and age. As far as we know, this is the first study in the literature to investigate the role of AIP in patients with MAFLD. However, no significant difference was observed between the groups with and without DSH in terms of the AIP levels and between patients with and without fibrosis. In correlation analysis, AIP was related to direct bilirubin and GGT levels. However, all histological findings, especially fibrosis, were not significantly associated with AIP levels in subjects with MAFLD. As mentioned above, all

the studies that investigated the association of AIP with NAFLD were conducted in subjects with ultrasonographically diagnosed FL. Although it is widely used in the evaluation of FL in clinical practice, liver ultrasonography lacks sufficient sensitivity and specificity to detect liver inflammation and fibrosis. Therefore, the major strength of our study was the use of liver biopsy to diagnose NAFLD, the gold standard method for evaluating liver histology. Considering our findings, we suggest that AIP is not a useful index for predicting MAFLD in routine clinical practice.

A large body of evidence suggests that NAFLD is associated with an increased risk of atherosclerosis and CVD, independently of classical risk factors and components of the MetS (29,30). Several key clinical paradigms are relevant concerning atherosclerosis and CVD formation in patients with NAFLD. For example, atherogenic dyslipidemia, oxidative stress, chronic subclinical inflammation, and dysregulation of adipokines, especially insulin resistance, are the main ones of these parameters (31,32). Recently, a growing body of evidence has indicated that AIP is a good predictor of atherosclerosis and a highly sensitive marker for predicting the risk of future CVD (33,34). Hence, it has been reported that AIP is significantly and positively associated with carotid artery intima-media

thickness, a surrogate marker of early atherosclerosis (35). Additionally, a large case-control study reported that elevated AIP was significantly associated with coronary artery disease (36). However, to the best of our knowledge, no study has investigated the role of AIP in the prediction of ED or atherosclerosis in subjects with NAFLD. In our work, we did not find any significant association between AIP and surrogate biomarkers of ED and early atherosclerosis, namely, ADMA, adiponectin, and hs-CRP levels. It has been reported that AIP is strongly associated with insulin resistance, obesity, and the risk of T2DM (37-40). Additionally, other studies revealed that elevated AIP is a risk factor for developing MetS independent of any components of MetS (41). As mentioned above, due to the small number of subjects with MetS, we couldn't perform an analysis to investigate the association of AIP with MetS in our study population. Because of the well-known relationship between ED with hypertension and T2DM, patients with these metabolic diseases were excluded from this study. Moreover, circulating markers of ED and atherosclerosis are affected by these metabolic confounders (42). Therefore, we believe that the study design by excluding confounding factors is important in terms of its results. After all, we think that the lack of relationship between AIP and ED observed in our study might be related to the absence of MetS in the study population. Considering these data, we suggest that AIP may not be a good predictor of ED in NAFLD and it contributes to the prediction of CVD by acting in concert with other metabolic abnormalities. Hence, there are conflicting reports in the literature regarding the relationship of AIP with CVD. In a cross-sectional study conducted among postmenopausal women, elevated AIP was not associated with the risk of CVD (43). Otherwise, in a prospective cohort study, a low AIP level in contrast with a high AIP level was an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with acute coronary syndrome (44).

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the role of AIP in the prediction of ED or atherosclerosis in patients with MAFLD. However, our study has several limitations. Firstly, the cross-sectional nature of the study precluded any determination of the role of AIP in the prediction of ED or atherosclerosis. For this reason, further prospective studies should be conducted to evaluate the significance of AIP in clinical practice. Secondly, the number of patients decreased because of the strict inclusion criteria. However, we believe that the study design was necessary to achieve the main objective. Thirdly, since the patient population consists of males, these results need to be studied and confirmed in women as well. Lastly, although it is widely used for estimating beta cell function and IR, the HOMA-IR index cannot be as accurate as the euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp method, which is the gold standard for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans.

Conclusion

In conclusion, AIP was not associated with either liver histopathology (hepatic inflammation or fibrosis) or surrogate markers of ED and atherosclerosis in the MAFLD patients. Further research is needed to better understand the role of AIP in predicting the clinical severity of MAFLD and the risk of CVD in this clinically relevant condition.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of Balikesir University Faculty of Medicine (approval no: 2020/164, date: 23.09.2020) and the study protocol conforms to the Helsinki Declaration.

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: H.Gü., H.G., G.Ç., S.T., A.F.Ç., Concept: A.K., A.S., T.D., Design: A.S., C.N.E., Data Collection or Processing: H.Gü., H.G., G.Ç., S.T., A.F.Ç., Analysis or Interpretation: A.C.Y., S.T., Literature Search: A.K., A.S., T.D., C.N.E., Writing: A.K., T.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology. 2016;64:73-84.
- Birkenfeld AL, Shulman GI. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, hepatic insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes. Hepatology. 2014;59:713-723.
- Atay K, Canbakan B, Koroglu E, et al. Apoptosis and disease severity is associated with insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Acta Gastroenterol Belg. 2017;80:271-277.
- Asrih M, Jornayvaz FR. Metabolic syndrome and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Is insulin resistance the link? Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2015;418:55-65.
- Paschos P, Paletas K. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic syndrome. Hippokratia. 2009;13:9-19.
- Tana C, Ballestri S, Ricci F, et al. Cardiovascular risk in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16:3104.
- Targher G, Bertolini L, Padovani R, et al. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its association with cardiovascular disease among type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1212-1218.
- Lin YC, Lo HM, Chen JD. Sonographic fatty liver, overweight and ischemic heart disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2005;11:4838-4842.

- Incalza MA, D'Oria R, Natalicchio A, Perrini S, Laviola L, Giorgino F. Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species in endothelial dysfunction associated with cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. Vascul Pharmacol. 2018;100:1-19.
- Gimbrone MA Jr, García-Cardeña G. Endothelial cell dysfunction and the pathobiology of atherosclerosis. Circ Res. 2016;118:620-636.
- Fleissner F, Thum T. Critical role of the nitric oxide/reactive oxygen species balance in endothelial progenitor dysfunction. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;15:933-948.
- Achari AE, Jain SK. Adiponectin, a Therapeutic Target for Obesity, Diabetes, and Endothelial Dysfunction. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18:1321.
- Landim MB, Casella Filho A, Chagas AC. Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) and endothelial dysfunction: implications for atherogenesis. Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2009;64:471-478.
- Sibal L, Agarwal SC, Home PD, Boger RH. The role of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) in endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2010;6:82-90.
- López-Jaramillo P, Gómez-Arbeláez D, López-López J, et al. The role of leptin/adiponectin ratio in metabolic syndrome and diabetes. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2014;18:37-45.
- Díez JJ, Iglesias P. The role of the novel adipocyte-derived hormone adiponectin in human disease. Eur J Endocrinol. 2003;148:293-300.
- Castro AR, Silva SO, Soares SC. The use of high sensitivity C-reactive protein in cardiovascular disease detection. J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2018;21:496-503.
- Niroumand S, Khajedaluee M, Khadem-Rezaiyan M, et al. Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP): A marker of cardiovascular disease. Med J Islam Repub Iran. 2015;29:240.
- Fernández-Macías JC, Ochoa-Martínez AC, Varela-Silva JA, Pérez-Maldonado IN. Atherogenic index of plasma: Novel predictive biomarker for cardiovascular illnesses. Arch Med Res. 2019;50:285-294.
- Wang Q, Zheng D, Liu J, Fang L, Li Q. Atherogenic index of plasma is a novel predictor of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in obese participants: a cross-sectional study. Lipids Health Dis. 2018;17:284.
- 21. Dong BY, Mao YQ, Li ZY, Yu FJ. The value of the atherogenic index of plasma in non-obese people with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a secondary analysis based on a cross-sectional study. Lipids Health Dis. 2020;19:148.
- Dogru T, Genc H, Tapan S, et al. Plasma fetuin-A is associated with endothelial dysfunction and subclinical atherosclerosis in subjects with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2013;78:712-717.
- Dogru T, Genc H, Tapan S, et al. Elevated asymmetric dimethylarginine in plasma: an early marker for endothelial dysfunction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease? Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2012;96:47-52.
- 24. Eslam M, Sanyal AJ, George J; International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: A consensus-driven proposed nomenclature

for metabolic associated fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2020;158:1999-2014.

- Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem. 1972;18:499-502.
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. 1985;28:412-419.
- 27. Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, et al. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2005;41:1313-1321.
- Xie F, Zhou H, Wang Y. Atherogenic index of plasma is a novel and strong predictor associated with fatty liver: a crosssectional study in the Chinese Han population. Lipids Health Dis. 2019;18:170.
- Gaggini M, Morelli M, Buzzigoli E, DeFronzo RA, Bugianesi E, Gastaldelli A. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and its connection with insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease. Nutrients. 2013;5:1544-1560.
- Stols-Gonçalves D, Hovingh GK, Nieuwdorp M, Holleboom AG. NAFLD and atherosclerosis: Two sides of the same dysmetabolic coin? Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2019;30:891-902.
- Kucukazman M, Ata N, Yavuz B, et al. Evaluation of early atherosclerosis markers in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;25:147-151.
- Xu X, Lu L, Dong Q, et al. Research advances in the relationship between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and atherosclerosis. Lipids Health Dis. 2015;14:158.
- Cai G, Shi G, Xue S, Lu W. The atherogenic index of plasma is a strong and independent predictor for coronary artery disease in the Chinese Han population. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e8058.
- Wu TT, Gao Y, Zheng YY, Ma YT, Xie X. Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP): a novel predictive indicator for the coronary artery disease in postmenopausal women. Lipids Health Dis. 2018;17:197.
- Hu YM, Tian HM, Liu R, Chen X. Atherogenic index of plasma is associated with carotid intima-media thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban. 2004;35:696-707.
- Wang L, Chen F, Xiaoqi C, Yujun C, Zijie L. Atherogenic index of plasma is an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease and a higher SYNTAX score. Angiology. 2021;72:181-186.
- Pourfarzam M, Zadhoush F, Sadeghi M. The difference in correlation between insulin resistance index and chronic inflammation in type 2 diabetes with and without metabolic syndrome. Adv Biomed Res. 2016;5:153.
- Shen SW, Lu Y, Li F, et al. Atherogenic index of plasma is an effective index for estimating abdominal obesity. Lipids Health Dis. 2018;17:11.

- Zhu X, Yu L, Zhou H, et al. Atherogenic index of plasma is a novel and better biomarker associated with obesity: a population-based cross-sectional study in China. Lipids Health Dis. 2018;17:37.
- 40. Song P, Xu L, Xu J, et al. Atherogenic index of plasma is associated with body fat level in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2018;16:589-595.
- Li Z, Huang Q, Sun L, Bao T, Dai Z. Atherogenic index in type 2 diabetes and its relationship with chronic microvascular complications. Int J Endocrinol. 2018;2018:1765835.
- 42. Tziomalos K, Athyros VG, Karagiannis A, Mikhailidis DP. Endothelial dysfunction in metabolic syndrome: prevalence,

pathogenesis and management. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2010;20:140-146.

- 43. Nansseu JR, Moor VJ, Nouaga ME, Zing-Awona B, Tchanana G, Ketcha A. Atherogenic index of plasma and risk of cardiovascular disease among Cameroonian postmenopausal women. Lipids Health Dis. 2016;15:49.
- 44. Hartopo AB, Arso IA, Setianto BY. Low plasma atherogenic index associated with poor prognosis in hospitalized patients with acute myocardial infarction. Acta Med Indones. 2016;48:106-113.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.96158 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:248-54

Association between diabetes mellitus and disability in hand osteoarthritis

Sanem Aslıhan Aykan¹, Serdar Kaymaz²

¹Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Istanbul, Türkiye ²Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Romatology, Denizli, Türkiye

Date submitted: 16.06.2021

Date accepted: 23.02.2022 Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Sanem Aslıhan Aykan, M.D., Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Istanbul, Türkiye sanemaykan@hotmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7335-5556

Keywords: Diabetes mellitus, osteoarthritis, hand disability, grip strength

ABSTRACT

Aims: Osteoarthritis (OA) and diabetes mellitus (DM) may coexist frequently. The increase in overall OA incidence is correlated with poor glycemic control and disease duration in patients with DM. However, the association between a DM diagnosis and specifically hand OA has not been explicitly determined. We assessed the association between DM and severity of disability in hand OA.

Methods: This single-center, case-control study prospectively enrolled outpatients with hand OA who visited a physical therapy and rehabilitation clinic. The patients were grouped according to the presence of DM diagnosis. Pain, hand function, grip strength, and quality of life were evaluated and compared between the two groups.

Results: The study included 100 participants [Age: 62.7 ± 10.7 years (33-92); female: 78%]. The mean Australian/Canadian OA hand index of patients with OA with (n=50) and without DM (n=50) was 30.7 ± 10.1 vs. 19.9 ± 9.6 , respectively (p<0.001). The mean lateral grip strength of the dominant hand of patients with and without DM was 4.5 ± 2.1 vs. 5.9 ± 2.1 , respectively (p=0.002). Lateral grip strength of the non-dominant hand showed a negative correlation with DM duration among women (r=-0.387, p=0.018) and a positive correlation with hemoglobin A1c level among men (r=0.609, p=0.027).

Conclusions: This study showed an association between DM diagnosis and severity of hand disability in patients with hand OA, with different patterns among women and men. Nevertheless, the results were unadjusted for relevant confounders.

Introduction

A greater incidence of soft-tissue and musculoskeletal system pathologies is observed in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) (1). Many pathological changes in soft tissues have been documented in DM, but the underlying mechanism of these musculoskeletal system disorders has not been understood (2). Bone, cartilage, and soft tissue diseases are commonly encountered in patients with DM (2), and it has been shown that DM is a risk factor for developing several rheumatic diseases (3). Besides, there is a high incidence of adhesive capsulitis, tendinitis, carpal tunnel syndrome, and Dupuytren's contracture in patients with DM (2). Connective tissue activating peptide (CTAP) is a CXC-type platelet chemokine

with immunomodulatory and angiogenic activity with effects on the metabolism of connective tissue (4). CTAP is elevated in inflammatory diseases and can delay the completion of the repair phase of inflammatory damage, thereby decreasing collagen formation. CTAP-3 has been detected in diabetics (5).

The incidence of osteoarthritis (OA) was correlated with poor glycemic control and length of time since DM diagnosis (3). Moreover, it was reported that people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy might have a greater risk of the aggressive form of OA (6). However, the mechanism behind the association between DM and OA has not been determined (7).

Limited joint mobility (LJM) in DM is caused by the noninflammatory thickening and increased stiffness in the periarticular structures (8). Although reported in the shoulder, LJM was first observed at hand (9). In the beginning, LJM may be painless and therefore unnoticed; however, LJM may precede severe upper extremity impairments associated with pain or disability. LJM and associated impairments at the hand may significantly impact functionality in patients with DM.

In this study, we compared patients with hand OA according to the presence of DM in terms of hand functionality, quality of life, pain level, and grip strength. We also determined any potential relationship between the DM duration, glycemic control, and hand OA, as well as the impact on the patient's ability to perform daily tasks.

Methods

Study design and participants

This observational and case-control study was conducted in Atatürk Training and Research Hospital after obtaining Ethics Committee Approval (approval number: 59, date: 22.03.2017). The data were collected from the Atatürk Training and Research Hospital Outpatient Clinic between March and June 2017 using a convenience sampling method. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. Inclusion criteria were; (i) patient age between 18 and 90 years, (ii) hand OA diagnosis based on the American Society of Rheumatology (10), and (iii) ability to cooperate and read and write in Turkish. Exclusion criteria were the presence of inflammatory, metabolic, and endocrine diseases other than DM that may lead to secondary OA and any neurological or rheumatological disorder in the hands or upper extremities. The participants were grouped with and without DM. The diagnosis of DM was self-reported and confirmed by the national health database.

Assessment of participants

The demographic characteristics, including gender, age, co-morbidity, and body mass index (BMI) were collected. The duration of DM and hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels were noted.

A hydraulic hand dynamometer (Baseline Hydraulic, Irvington, NY, USA) was used to determine the grip strength. Three measurements were done for each hand while the elbow was at a 90-degree flexion and the forearm and wrist were neutral. The results are reported as means in kg (11). A pinch gauge (Baseline Hydraulic, Irvington, NY, USA) was used to determine finger grip strength, and measurements were done in three different positions-lateral, fingertip, and palmar. For measuring lateral grip, the pinch gauge was pressed by the mid-distal phalanx of the thumb and supported from below by the lateral side of the second phalanx of the index finger. The fingertip grip was determined by squeezing the pinch gauge between the tip of the thumb and the index finger. Palmar measurements were carried out by supporting the pinch gauge laterally with the fingers while pressing on it with the inside of the thumb. Patients were instructed to squeeze the gauge with maximum strength, and each measurement was conducted bilaterally in triplicate, and the means were calculated.

Disability in hand functions was evaluated using three different scales. The Australian/Canadian OA hand index (AUSCAN) evaluates pain, stiffness, and difficulty performing daily activities (12). The validity and reliability of this index have been established, and it has been translated into various languages (12,13). The Duruoz hand index (DHI) measures hand and wrist functionality and consists of eighteen tests with scores ranging from 0-90. The higher the score, the greater the activity limit (14). The grip ability test (GAT) comprises three components: filling a glass with water, putting a paper clip on an envelope, and putting a sock over one hand. A high score indicates impaired hand function (15).

A visual analog scale (VAS) was used to quantify pain levels. A straight line was divided into ten 1-cm sections from 0 to 10, where 0 meant no pain and 10 meant the most severe pain, and patients were asked to indicate the number corresponding to their pain on the scale (16).

The Quality of Life (QoL) was evaluated by the short form-36 (SF-36) questionnaire, which consists of eight sub-groups: vitality, physical function, general health, pain, social function, physical-emotional role limitation, and mental health. It is scored from 0 to 100, with 0 being the worst health status, while 100 indicates the best health. The validity and reliability of the SF-36 have been adequately demonstrated in Türkiye (17).

Outcomes

The primary endpoints were hand grip strength and hand function in diabetic and non-diabetic patients with OA. The secondary endpoint was pain and QoL.

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows (version 20.0, IBM.Corp., Armonk, NY, 2011) was used for data analysis, and normal distribution was determined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation or percentage values. Where appropriate, case-control comparisons were performed by Student's t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, or chi-square test. Pearson's and Spearman's coefficients determined the correlation. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Results

The mean age of the study population was 62.7 ± 10.7 (33-92) years, and 78 patients (78%) were female. The mean age of patients with DM (n=50) was 62.2 ± 11.2 years, and those without DM (n=50) were 63.3 ± 10.3 years. The frequency of females in the patients with DM and without the group with diabetes was 74% and 82%. No significant difference was found between the groups regarding sex, age, BMI, and dominant hand (p>0.05). The mean duration of DM was 12.1±7.8 years, and HbA1c averaged 7.7±1.9 in patients with DM. Only two patients had type 1 DM.

The VAS pain scores of the group with DM in motion were significantly higher than those without DM (p=0.045). The VAS pain score measured at rest was numerically higher in the group with DM (p=0.057), but this was insignificant (Table 1).

AUSCAN, DHI, and GAT evaluated hand functionality and severity of the disability, and all were significantly higher in patients with DM than in those without DM. Two components of SF-36, pain, and function, were significantly lower in the group with DM (p<0.05) (Table 2). The dominant hand's lateral grip strength, fingertip grip strength, and palmar grip strength were significantly lower in the group with DM than in those without DM (p<0.05). However, in terms of power grip and palmar grip strength in the non-dominant hand, the groups were not statistically different (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Table 1. Clinical, demographic, and pain	Table 1. Clinical, demographic, and pain characteristics of hand osteoarthritis patients with and without DM						
	DM (n=50)	Without DM (n=50)	р				
Age, years, mean±SD	62.2±11.2	63.3±10.3	0.717				
Female sex, n (%)	37 (74)	41 (82)	0.334				
Right hand dominancy, n (%)	48 (96)	48 (96)	0.691				
BMI, mean±SD	30.0±4.7	28.4±4.7	0.091				
HbA1c, mean±SD	7.7±1.9	-	-				
Diagnosis duration, years, mean±SD	12.1±7.8	-	-				
VAS at rest, mean±SD	2.1±1.1	1.8±1.2	0.057				
VAS in motion, mean±SD	5.4±1.6	4.7±1.6	0.045				

Chi-square test, Mann-Whitney U test, Fisher's exact test and Student's t-test were used in comparisons according to the distribution characteristics of data. Statistically significant variables are shown in bold.

DM: Diabetes mellitus, SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index, HbA1c: Hemoglobin A1c, VAS: Visual analog scale

Table 2. Functional level and quality of life in OA patients with DM and those without DM						
	DM (n=50)	Without DM (n=50)	р			
AUSCAN	30.7±10.1	19.9±9.6	<0.001			
DHI	45.1±17.5	24.8±17.0	<0.001			
GAT	70.2±39.3	52.5±35.6	<0.001			
SF-36	-	-	-			
1. Pain	33.4±21.1	47.9±24.1	0.015			
2. Function	21.8±29.7	33.6±29.8	0.002			

Data are shown as mean±standard deviation. Mann-Whitney U test or Student's t-test were used in comparisons. Statistically significant variables are shown in bold. OA: Osteoarthritis, DM: Diabetes mellitus, AUSCAN: Australian/Canadian osteoarthritis hand index, GAT: Grip ability test, SF-36: Short form-36, DHI: Duruoz hand index

0) p
0.301
0.002
0.012
0.007
0.406
0.007
0.016
0.053

Data are shown as mean±standard deviation. Mann-Whitney U test was used in comparisons. Statistically significant variables are shown in bold. OA: Osteoarthritis, DM: Diabetes mellitus

The association and correlation of the AUSCAN, DHI, GAT, and two components of the QoL with the different types of grip strength were also evaluated. The functionality component of SF-36 was positively correlated with all indices of grip strength (Table 4).

Among women with DM, disease duration was inversely correlated with all non-dominant hand index strength measures

except for the power grip. However, among men with DM, HbA1c levels were positively correlated with lateral grip strength in both dominant and non-dominant hands (Table 5).

Discussion

This study was conducted on patients with hand OA and found that AUSCAN, DHI, VAS pain in motion, and GAT were

AUSCAN		DHI	DHI GAT		SF-36 (pain)		SF-36 (function)			
Grip types	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r
Dominant hand										
Power grip	<0.001	-0.446	<0.001	-0.336	0.001	-0.338	0.232	0.121	0.001	0.333
Lateral grip	<0.001	-0.577	<0.001	-0.500	<0.001	-0.362	0.070	0.209	<0.001	0.412
Fingertip	<0.001	-0.523	<0.001	-0.406	0.001	-0.330	0.247	0.117	0.003	0.297
Palmar grip	<0.001	-0.551	<0.001	-0.443	<0.001	-0.393	0.253	0.115	<0.001	0.435
Non-dominant hand)										
Power grip	<0.001	-0.460	<0.001	-0.374	0.021	-0.230	0.168	0.139	<0.001	0.364
Lateral grip	<0.001	-0.602	<0.001	-0.516	<0.001	-0.405	0.122	0.156	<0.001	0.357
Fingertip	<0.001	-0.448	<0.001	-0.345	0.004	-0.285	0.546	0.061	0.006	0.275
Palmar grip	<0.001	-0.515	<0.001	-0.432	0.001	-0.331	0.231	0.121	<0.001	0.467

Statistically significant variables are shown in bold.

AUSCAN: Australian/Canadian osteoarthritis hand index, DHI: Duruoz hand index, GAT: Grip ability test, SF-36: Short form-36

	Female (n=	37)		Male (n=	Male (n=13)				
	Length of DM		Hemoglo	Hemoglobin A1c		Length of DM		Hemoglobin A1c	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	
AUSCAN	0.141	0.404	0.006	0.971	-0.208	0.495	-0.347	0.245	
DHI	0.278	0.096	0.167	0.322	-0.094	0.761	-0.533	0.061	
GAT	0.086	0.611	-0.036	0.833	0.055	0.858	0.005	0.986	
SF-36-function	-0.050	0.767	-0.087	0.607	-0.007	0.982	0.296	0.326	
SF-36-pain	0.143	0.399	0.004	0.980	-0.218	0.474	0.078	0.799	
Morning stiffness	0.337	0.041	0.213	0.205	-0.261	0.390	0.218	0.474	
VAS in motion	0.094	0.581	0.125	0.460	-0.297	0.324	-0.273	0.367	
VAS in rest	-0.053	0.754	-0.141	0.405	0.019	0.950	-0.140	0.647	
Dominant hand									
Power grip	-0.098	0.563	-0.192	0.255	0.129	0.674	0.467	0.108	
Lateral grip	-0.127	0.452	-0.076	0.656	0.192	0.529	0.571	0.041	
Fingertip grip	-0.064	0.705	0.129	0.447	0.017	0.956	0.407	0.167	
Palmar grip	-0.280	0.094	-0.100	0.556	0.053	0.864	0.238	0.434	
Non-dominant hand									
Power grip	-0.270	0.106	-0.341	0.039	0.121	0.694	0.418	0.156	
Lateral grip	-0.387	0.018	-0.175	0.301	0.376	0.205	0.609	0.027	
Fingertip grip	-0.392	0.016	-0.211	0.211	0.182	0.552	0.464	0.110	
Palmar grip	-0.395	0.016	-0.305	0.067	0.182	0.552	0.276	0.362	

Statistically significant variables are shown in bold.

DM: Diabetes mellitus, AUSCAN: Australian/Canadian osteoarthritis hand index, DHI: Duruoz hand index, GAT: Grip ability test, SF-36: Short form-36, VAS: Visual analog scale

significantly higher, and SF-36 and grip strength were significantly lower in patients with DM compared with the patients without. Grip strength was inversely correlated with AUSCAN, DHI, and GAT. In parallel with the increase in the prevalence of DM and the life expectancy of the patients, DM-related musculoskeletal abnormalities are more commonly observed (18). However, no association between OA and DM has been definitively shown. In this study, we investigated whether DM was linked to impaired hand function and found that the hand function indices were worse, and the two components of the QoL and grip strength were lower in patients with DM.

Turan et al. (19) reported a significant correlation between DHI and dominant handgrip strength in patients with DM, which is consistent with the results of the present study. Also, in agreement with the current study, Savaş et al. (20) determined higher DHI scores in people with diabetes than in healthy controls. The reasons behind these observations may involve the pathological changes including Dupuytren's contracture, trigger finger, and cheiroarthropathy, attributed to DM itself and its duration. These are thought to be associated with microvascular complications (21). Besides, Sayer et al. (22) showed that dysregulation of blood glucose could decrease grip strength in type 2 patients with DM. Thus, these diabetic complications may increase DHI scores. Magnusson et al. (23) found that diabetic patients with OA suffered more severe pain in their hands and showed higher AUSCAN index scores. In another study by this group, long-term type 1 DM (>45 y) was strongly associated with increased pain (high AUSCAN index) and stiffness in the hands and more significant overall disability consistent with a diagnosis of erosive OA (24). Higher AUSCAN index and pain VAS scores than the control group support the findings of our study. Five components of SF-36 were found lower in patients diagnosed with type 2 DM compared to a group of healthy controls (25), which is consistent with our results that the pain and functional components of SF-36 were significantly lower among patients with DM.

Autonomic disorders and sensory neuropathy are common in DM, however, only a few studies have been published on the effect of DM on motor functions. Two studies reported that patients with DM had severe distal muscle weakness (26,27). Also, patients with DM have lower physical functional capacity and hand strength than healthy controls of the same age (28). Li et al. (29) found that although the grip strength of patients with type 2 DM was lower than age-matched controls, their muscle mass was comparable. Thus, handgrip strength can be considered a good indicator of DM that one group has proposed using it as a diagnostic tool in developing countries, along with BMI, age, blood pressure, and other factors to identify patients with DM (30). Additionally, Loprinzi and Loenneke (31) showed that grip strength was a good indicator of the prevalence and severity of type 2 DM in both men and women and that reduced grip strength was associated with higher HbA1c. In another study, de Carvalho e Silva et al. (32) reported that compared to healthy controls, hand function and grip strength were poorer in patients with DM but better than in the subjects diagnosed with hand OA. The current study showed that, compared with the non-diabetic group, hand function and grip strength were reduced in patients with OA with DM.

The mechanisms proposed to explain muscle weakness in the presence of DM is complex. Uncontrolled hyperglycemia can lead to muscle protein breakdown and inadequate energy availability, resulting in poor muscle function (33). Uncontrolled glycemia is also associated with increased production of systemic inflammatory cytokines, C-reactive protein, and fibrinogen, which adversely affect muscle function (34). In addition to the direct cytokine effect on muscle breakdown, neuropathy can be involved in poor muscle function in patients with DM. In an animal study, the relative loss of torque was greater via nerve stimulation (43%) than the force lost indirectly through stimulated muscle (24%), indicating a neural deficit in DM (35). In humans, the severity of diabetic neuropathy is associated with decreased muscle strength (36). Electrophysiological studies also support the findings that the functional neuronal deficit in DM is due to disrupted re-innervation after axonal loss (37).

Type 2 DM and type 1 DM patients have different features of hand OA. Although no relationship was found between type 2 DM severity or duration and hand OA (7), long-term type 1 DM was associated with increased hand pain, disability, and stiffness (24). However, none of the studies examined genderwide differences. Our results showed that the length of DM duration in women, and HbA1c level in men positively correlated with disability and the severity of hand OA. This novel finding needs to be further evaluated in future studies.

The limitations of our study include the small sample size, which did not allow adjusted analyses, and the lack of information about several comorbid conditions related to hand pain and dysfunction, such as polyneuropathy and carpal tunnel syndrome that are common in patients with DM (21). The lack of radiography evaluations is another limitation.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we showed reduced grip strength, and worse hand function and QoL in patients with hand OA having DM. These findings suggest that OA and type 2 DM have a complex relationship beyond age and BMI. DM may be considered an additional risk factor for OA. More studies are needed to fill in the gaps in our knowledge about how the prevention and control of DM can affect OA progression in humans.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This observational and casecontrol study was conducted in Atatürk Training and Research Hospital after obtaining Ethics Committee Approval (approval number: 59, date: 22.03.2017). The study was conducted under the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all patients.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: S.A.A., S.K., Design: S.K., Data Collection or Processing: S.A.A., S.K., Analysis or Interpretation: S.A.A., Literature Search: S.A.A., S.K., Writing: S.A.A., S.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Arkkila PE, Gautier JF. Musculoskeletal disorders in diabetes mellitus: an update. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2003;17:945-970.
- Kim RP, Edelman SV, Kim DD. Musculoskeletal Complications of Diabetes Mellitus. Clinical Diabetes. 2001;19:132-135.
- 3. Burner TW, Rosenthal AK. Diabetes and rheumatic diseases. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2009;21:50-54.
- Pilatova K, Greplova K, Demlova R, Bencsikova B, Klement GL, Zdrazilova-Dubska L. Role of platelet chemokines, PF-4 and CTAP-III, in cancer biology. J Hematol Oncol. 2013;6:42.
- Hoogewerf AJ, Leone JW, Reardon IM, et al. CXC chemokines connective tissue activating peptide-III neutrophil-activating peptide-2 are heparin/heparan sulfate-degrading enzymes. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:3268-3277.
- Shakoor N, Agrawal A, Block JA. Reduced lower extremity vibratory perception in osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59:117-121.
- Nieves-Plaza M, Castro-Santana LE, Font YM, Mayor AM, Vilá LM. Association of hand or knee osteoarthritis with diabetes mellitus in a population of Hispanics from Puerto Rico. J Clin Rheumatol. 2013;19:1-6.
- Silverstein JH, Gordon G, Pollock BH, Rosenbloom AL. Longterm glycemic control influences the onset of limited joint mobility in type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr. 1998;132:944-947.
- Starkman HS, Gleason RE, Rand LI, Miller DE, Soeldner JS. Limited joint mobility (LJM) of the hand in patients with diabetes mellitus: relation to chronic complications. Ann Rheum Dis. 1986;45:130-135.
- Altman R, Alarcón G, Appelrouth D, et al. The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of hand osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1990;33:1601-1610.
- Mathiowetz V, Weber K, Volland G, Kashman N. Reliability and validity of grip and pinch strength evaluations. J Hand Surg Am. 1984;9:222-226.

- Bellamy N, Campbell J, Haraoui B, et al. Clinimetric properties of the AUSCAN Osteoarthritis Hand Index: an evaluation of reliability, validity and responsiveness. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2002;10:863-869.
- Can A, Tezel N. The effects of hand splinting in patients with early-stage thumb carpometacarpal joint osteoarthritis: a randomized, controlled study. Turk J Med Sci. 2020;50:1857-1864.
- Duruöz MT, Poiraudeau S, Fermanian J, et al. Development and validation of a rheumatoid hand functional disability scale that assesses functional handicap. J Rheumatol. 1996;23:1167-1172.
- Dellhag B, Bjelle A. A Grip Ability Test for use in rheumatology practice. J Rheumatol. 1995;22:1559-1565.
- Carlsson AM. Assessment of chronic pain. I. Aspects of the reliability and validity of the visual analogue scale. Pain. 1983;16:87-101.
- Koçyiğit H, Aydemir Ö, Fişek G. Kısa Form-36'nın Türkçe versiyonunun güvenilirliği ve geçerliliği. İlaç ve Tedavi Dergisi. 1999;12:102-106.
- Sözen T, Başaran NÇ, Tınazlı M, Özışık L. Musculoskeletal problems in diabetes mellitus. Eur J Rheumatol. 2018;5:258-265.
- Turan Y, Duruöz MT, Aksakalli E, Gürgan A. Validation of Duruöz Hand Index for diabetic hand dysfunction. J Investig Med. 2009;57:887-891.
- Savaş S, Köroğlu BK, Koyuncuoğlu HR, Uzar E, Celik H, Tamer NM. The effects of the diabetes related soft tissue hand lesions and the reduced hand strength on functional disability of hand in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;77:77-83.
- 21. Papanas N, Maltezos E. The diabetic hand: a forgotten complication? J Diabetes Complications. 2010;24:154-162.
- Sayer AA, Dennison EM, Syddall HE, Gilbody HJ, Phillips DI, Cooper C. Type 2 diabetes, muscle strength, and impaired physical function: the tip of the iceberg? Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2541-2542.
- Magnusson K, Hagen KB, Østerås N, Nordsletten L, Natvig B, Haugen IK. Diabetes is associated with increased hand pain in erosive hand osteoarthritis: data from a population-based study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2015;67:187-195.
- 24. Magnusson K, Bech Holte K, Juel NG, et al. Long term type 1 diabetes is associated with hand pain, disability and stiffness but not with structural hand osteoarthritis features The Dialong hand study. PloS One. 2017;12:e0177118.
- Clouet F, Excler-Cavailher G, Christophe B, Masson F, Fasquel D. [Type 2 Diabetes and Short Form 36-items Health Survey]. Diabetes Metab. 2001;27:711-717.
- Cetinus E, Buyukbese MA, Uzel M, Ekerbicer H, Karaoguz A. Hand grip strength in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005;70:278-286.
- Dyck PJ, Kratz KM, Karnes JL, et al. The prevalence by staged severity of various types of diabetic neuropathy, retinopathy, and nephropathy in a population-based cohort: the Rochester Diabetic Neuropathy Study. Neurology. 1993;43:817-824.

- Ozdirenç M, Biberoğlu S, Ozcan A. Evaluation of physical fitness in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2003;60:171-176.
- Li JJ, Wittert GA, Vincent A, et al. Muscle grip strength predicts incident type 2 diabetes: Population-based cohort study. Metab Clin Exp. 2016;65:883-892.
- Eckman M, Gigliotti C, Sutermaster S, Butler PJ, Mehta K. Using handgrip strength to screen for diabetes in developing countries. J Med Eng Technol. 2016;40:8-14.
- Loprinzi PD, Loenneke JP. Evidence of a Link Between Grip Strength and Type 2 Diabetes Prevalence and Severity Among a National Sample of US Adults. J Phys Act Health. 2016;13:558-561.
- de Carvalho e Silva F, Jakimiu FO, Skare TL. Diabetic hands: A study on strength and function. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2014;8:162-165.

- Hernández-Ochoa EO, Vanegas C. Diabetic Myopathy and Mechanisms of Disease. Biochem Pharmacol (Los Angel). 2015;4:e179.
- Temelkova-Kurktschiev T, Henkel E, Koehler C, Karrei K, Hanefeld M. Subclinical inflammation in newly detected Type II diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetologia. 2002;45:151.
- Lesniewski LA, Miller TA, Armstrong RB. Mechanisms of force loss in diabetic mouse skeletal muscle. Muscle Nerve. 2003;28:493-500.
- Saka T, Yıldız Y, Deniz F, Hazneci B, Şekir U, Aydın T. Postural Stability and Functional Capacity in Recreational Athletes with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Turk J Med Sci. 2009;39:91-96.
- Parasoglou P, Rao S, Slade JM. Declining Skeletal Muscle Function in Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. Clin Ther. 2017;39:1085-1103.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.75437 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:255-61



Epithelium-off corneal cross-linking versus transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis-assisted corneal cross-linking in keratoconus patients with thin corneas

🕲 Betül Seher Uysal, 🛯 Murat Yüksel, 🖗 Mehmet Cüneyt Özmen, 🕏 Bahri Aydın, 🖗 Kamil Bilgihan

Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 27.12.2021

Date accepted: 25.04.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Betül Seher Uysal, M.D., Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Türkiye sehersertbas@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6357-877X

Keywords: Keratoconus, thin cornea, transepithelial iontophoresis-assisted cross-linking, epithelium-off cross-linking, hypo-osmolar riboflavin

ABSTRACT

Aims: To evaluate the efficacy and safety of transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresisassisted corneal cross-linking (DAI-CXL) and compare 24-month visual and topographic outcomes with accelerated CXL using hypo-osmolar riboflavin (A-CXL) in keratoconus patients with thin corneas (below 400 µm with epithelium).

Methods: This retrospective study included keratoconus patients who underwent DAI-CXL or A-CXL. Uncorrected and corrected distance visual acuity (UDVA and CDVA) and data obtained from corneal topography were analyzed at baseline and 12 and 24 months of follow-up. Corneal demarcation line depth (DLD) at 1 month and corneal endothelial cell density (ECD) at 24 months were also evaluated.

Results: The study included 25 eyes of 25 keratoconus patients (mean age: 25.48±6.69 years, male: 52%). DAI-CXL and A-CXL groups consisted of 13 and 12 patients, respectively. In both groups, median UDVA improved significantly at 24 months (p<0.05) whereas CDVA was similar despite a trend towards improvement. Median K-max decreased by 2.77 [interquartile range (IQR): 2.67] D and 2.24 (IQR: 4.38) D in DAI-CXL group (p=0.033) and A-CXL group (p=0.060), respectively. Corneal HOAs showed a significant improvement in only the DAI-CXL group (p=0.004). Average DLD was 237±67 μ m in DAI-CXL and 242±57 μ m in A-CXL (p=0.346). No significant changes in ECD were observed in both groups. Median follow-up changes in UDVA, CDVA, K-max, HOAs, and ECD were similar in the groups.

Conclusions: We observed similar efficacy of transepithelial DAI-CXL to A-CXL in slowing down the progression of keratoconus in thin corneas without notable effects during a 24-month follow-up period.

Introduction

Standard (epithelium-off) corneal cross-linking (CXL) has become the gold standard treatment to prevent or slow the progression of corneal ectatic disorders, with satisfactory longterm outcomes (1). After epithelial debridement, the minimum stromal thickness should be at least 400 µm to protect corneal endothelium and other intraocular tissues from irreversible adverse effects of ultraviolet (UV) irradiation based on experimental and clinical research (2,3).

A significant portion of keratoconus patients (25%) are diagnosed at an advanced stage, with a corneal thickness of

less than 400 µm, and these patients are at a higher risk of potential progression even after CXL therapy (4,5). To achieve safe and effective stabilization in progressive keratoconus patients with thin corneas (<400 µm), numerous modifications of the standard protocol have been proposed. These modifications include stromal swelling by using hypo-osmolar riboflavin (6), transepithelial and iontophoretic CXL (7,8), pachymetry-guided epithelial debridement (9), contact lens-assisted CXL (10), lenticule-assisted CXL (11), and recently introduced individualized CXL (sub400 protocol) (12).

Transepithelial (epithelium-on) approaches have several advantages over other epithelium-off techniques, including

256

protection against complications associated with epithelial debridement and preservation of thin corneal thickness before UV irradiation (13). Transepithelial CXL with modified riboflavin solutions including chemical enhancers has been developed to overcome the barrier effect of corneal epithelium against riboflavin. However, when compared with the epithelium-off CXL technique, transepithelial CXL has a reduced efficacy in arresting the progression of ectatic disorders (14,15).

Iontophoresis-assisted CXL (I-CXL), a recently introduced transepithelial treatment, has been found to enhance stromal riboflavin saturation in human cadaveric corneas much more than other transepithelial procedures (16,17). An electric current of 1 mA is used to transmit a negatively charged riboflavin solution with chemical enhancers through the epithelium into the stroma for 5 minutes in standard I-CXL (18). Several clinical trials have shown that the I-CXL is a safe and successful method in the treatment of progressive keratoconus; however, it has a lower therapeutic efficacy compared to epithelium-off CXL (19-22). With these promising outcomes, various changes to the original I-CXL have been proposed to enhance its efficacy (23-28). The total dose of UV-A exposure has been increased in one of these modifications to compensate for the natural barrier effect of epithelium against UV-A that is required for effective CXL (24,25). The iontophoresis cycle (imbibition period) was doubled in the other studies to increase stromal riboflavin saturation (26,28).

Bilgihan et al. (25) have also introduced a new modified I-CXL technique called transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis-assisted corneal cross-linking (DAI-CXL). Briefly in this technique, two enhancers, which are diluted alcohol (10% ethanol) and iontophoresis (DAI), are utilized to improve the stromal riboflavin saturation while protecting epithelial integrity, and the total UV-A dose was increased to 7.2 J/cm² to ensure proper cross-link formation in the stroma (29). The long-term clinical results of this new method have shown similar visual improvement and topographic changes compared to epithelium-off CXL during the 4-year follow-up (30). The present study was performed to compare the longitudinal effects of DAI-CXL and epithelium-off CXL using hypo-osmolar riboflavin on the prevention of the disease progression and visual, refractive and topographic outcomes in keratoconus patients with thin corneas.

Methods

Patient selection

This single-center, retrospective study included patients with thin corneas (<400 μ m) who underwent DAI-CXL or accelerated CXL with hypo-osmolar riboflavin solution (A-CXL) for progressive keratoconus between July 2018 and June 2019. After obtaining approval from the Local Ethics Committee of Gazi University Faculty of Medicine (approval number: E.32700,

date: 22.02.2021), data were collected from the electronic medical records of the patients.

Patients who had undergone CXL due to keratoconus progression in their clinical follow-up and had preoperative minimum corneal thickness (MCT) between 350 μ m and 400 μ m (with epithelium) were included in the current study. In addition, patients with a postoperative follow-up of at least 24 months were included in the analysis. Exclusion criteria were previous ocular surgery, the presence of a corneal scar, a history of herpetic keratitis, pregnancy, or lactation at the time of CXL treatment.

CXL procedures

In our clinical approach, based on the outcomes of a previous study (31), A-CXL is performed only in cases with preoperative MCT above 370 μ m. If MCT is lower than 370 μ m, the DAI-CXL method has been chosen for treatment to preserve the corneal thickness. The key differences between DAI-CXL and A-CXL are summarized in Table 1, and the routine procedures chosen in our clinic were briefly described below.

DAI-CXL protocol

The cornea is soaked in a dextran-free hypotonic riboflavin solution of 0.2% via a corneal iontophoresis device following exposure to 10% ethyl alcohol for 10 seconds. The positive (passive) electrode is placed on the same side of the treated eye's lateral malar area, while the negative (active) electrode, a plastic barrel with a stainless-steel mesh, is placed on the corneal surface. The riboflavin solution is poured into the barrel until the steel mesh is completely coated. Subsequently, the device is set to 1.0 mA for 5 minutes, and iontophoresis is repeated for additional 5 minutes.

Following the double-cycle corneal iontophoresis, the uniformity of riboflavin distribution in the stroma, as well as the presence of riboflavin solution in the anterior chamber is verified with a blue-cobalt filter. The riboflavin that remained on the corneal surface is carefully rinsed off before UV-A irradiation to avoid the attenuation of UV-A transmission through the cornea. The cornea is irradiated by a UV-A light of 365-nm wavelength at 9 mW/cm² power for 13 minutes (total energy density: 7.2 J/cm²). During irradiation, a balanced salt solution is administered to the corneal epithelium every 1 minute to keep it wet and minimize the probability of an epithelial defect. At the end of the procedure, the corneal surface is treated with a topical antibiotic and a therapeutic contact lens was applied.

A-CXL protocol

Corneal epithelium debridement is performed within an 8-mm diameter and corneal stroma is saturated with isoosmolar riboflavin solution 0.1%, one drop every minute for 30 minutes. Then, hypo-osmolar 0.1% riboflavin solution is applied every 30 seconds until the MCT reaches 400 μ m before UV irradiation. Corneal thickness is measured 3 times by ultrasonic pachymetry in the area corresponding to the thinnest location according to the preoperative pachymetry map. Finally, CXL is performed by exposing the cornea to UV-A light at an irradiance of 9 mW/cm² for 10 minutes (total energy density: 5.4 J/cm²). One drop of hypo-osmolar riboflavin solution is applied over the cornea every 2 minutes during irradiation. A topical antibiotic is applied at the end of the procedure, and a therapeutic CL is placed over the cornea.

Data collection and outcome measures

In our clinical practice, examination of visual acuity including the manifest refractive correction and also corneal topographic evaluation is performed to determine the status of disease progression. Moreover, the demarcation line depth (DLD) at 1 month and annual specular microscopic evaluation are routinely performed in all patients undergoing CXL procedure, and all data obtained are stored in their medical files. Data obtained from preoperative and postoperative 12- and 24-month followups of patients with at least 2 years of postoperative follow-up were analyzed.

The main outcomes in the current analysis were visual, refractive, and topographic parameters. The decimal values of uncorrected distance visual acuity (UDVA) and corrected distance visual acuity (CDVA) measured by the Snellen chart and converted to logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution (logMAR) units were retrieved for statistical analysis. Further, the manifest spherical equivalent (MSE) values were recorded. The parameters obtained from the corneal topography were as follows; maximum keratometry (K-max), mean keratometry (K-mean), cylindrical reading, MCT, and total corneal higher-order aberrations (HOAs). Corneal aberrations are routinely measured for a pupil diameter of 4 mm.

Data from the anterior segment optical coherence tomography (AS-OCT) were analyzed to evaluate the corneal demarcation line at 1 month. The distance from the corneal epithelium to the visible hyperreflective line in the stroma, measured using a flap tool option provided by the device, was defined as the DLD. The results of corneal endothelial cell density (ECD) measurement using specular microscopy were also recorded.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 20 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The distribution of the data was analyzed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Differences between visits within groups were analyzed using paired t-test for normally distributed data and Wilcoxon signed-rank test for non-normally distributed data. Inter-group analyses were performed by using the t-test for normally distributed data and Mann-Whitney U test for non-normally distributed data. Categorical variables were analyzed by using Fisher's exact test. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Electronic medical records of 187 CXL patients were reviewed and 13 patients [27.46 \pm 7.52 (19-34) years, 9 female (69.3%)] who underwent DAI-CXL and 12 patients [23.33 \pm 5.12 (17-29) years, 9 male (75.0%)] who underwent A-CXL between July 2018 and June 2019 were included in the analysis. Age distribution was similar in the two groups (p=0.152), whereas male sex ratio was more prominent in the A-CXL group (p=0.004). Preoperative and postoperative visual, refractive, and topographic data of the patients were summarized in Table 2. Baseline clinical parameters in the two groups were comparable in terms of visual acuity, K-readings, corneal thickness, and corneal aberrations (p>0.05) (Table 2).

Table 1. CXL methods		
	DAI-CXL	A-CXL
Epithelium status	On	Off
Protocol modification	Ethanol 10% for 10 seconds	Accelerated UV application
Chromophore (concentration)	Riboflavin 0.2%	Riboflavin 0.1%
Chromophore carrier	No enhancer, no dextran	Dextran
Chromophore osmolarity	Hypo-osmolar	Iso-osmolar and hypo-osmolar
Iontophoresis current (mA)	10	NA
Saturation time (minutes)	10 (2 cycles of 5 minutes)	30
Intensity of UVA (mW)	9	9
Duration of UVA (minutes)	13	10
Irradiation mode	Continuous	Continuous
UVA source	CXL-Vario; Peschke Meditrade GmbH,	CXL-Vario; Peschke Meditrade GmbH,
	Switzerland	Switzerland
Total fluence (J/cm ²)	7.2	5.4
DALOVIE TO SERVICE PARTICIPATION AND A		and a set of a second set of a second Park Park and Park Inc. A second second second second second second second

DAI-CXL: Transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis assisted corneal cross-linking, A-CXL: Accelerated corneal cross-linking with hypo-osmolar riboflavin solution, UVA: Ultraviolet A

	Group	Baseline	12 month	P [‡]	24 months	P‡	Median change	P [‡]
UDVA (logMAR)	DAI-CXL	1.30 (0.20)	1.30 (0.52)	0.144	0.70 (0.10)	0.028	-0.50 (0.30)	- 0.387
	A-CXL	0.52 (0.84)	0.52 (0.90)	0.039	0.52 (0.60)	0.046	0.00 (0.66)	
	P [†]	0.251	0.456		0.332			
	DAI-CXL	0.39 (0.12)	0.39 (0.17)	0.273	0.30 (0.10)	0.109	-0.12 (0.10)	0.077
CDVA (logMAR)	A-CXL	0.30 (0.50)	0.22 (0.51)	0.050	0.30 (0.19)	0.068	-0.08 (0.55)	0.277
	P [†]	0.829	0.601		0.730			
	DAI-CXL	-2.50 (3.50)	-2.50 (2.75)	0.102	-2.00 (2.20)	0.028	0.50 (0.95)	0 470
MSE (D)	A-CXL	-5.00 (7.00)	-6.25 (4.13)	0.678	-5.00 (7.50)	0.953	-0.50 (2.50)	0.470
-	P [†]	0.360	0.220		0.299			
	DAI-CXL	62.64 (7.12)	63.34 (11.38)	0.972	59.29 (7.45)	0.033	-2.77 (2.67)	- 0.936
K-max (D)	A-CXL	60.40 (16.19)	64.74 (18.34)	0.875	64.02 (14.74)	0.060	-2.24 (4.38)	
	P [†]	0.376	0.295		0.270			
	DAI-CXL	56.81 (7.10)	57.16 (7.76)	0.196	56.58 (8.26)	0.422	-0.23 (1.58)	0.270
K-mean (D)	A-CXL	52.03 (6.10)	53.37 (7.75)	0.480	51.76 (7.06)	0.092	0.10 (1.13)	0.270
	P [†]	0.152	0.152		0.098			
-	DAI-CXL	-8.11 (2.05)	-6.81 (3.02)	0.507	-5.51 (3.50)	0.388	1.19 (2.50)	0.026
Topographic cylinder (D)	A-CXL	-4.04 (4.60)	-4.42 (4.52)	0.019	-4.46 (4.55)	0.347	-0.15 (1.22)	- 0.936
	P [†]	0.728	0.689		0.936			
MCT (mm)	DAI-CXL	362.00 (64.50)	352.00 (26.00)	0.674	380.00 (41.00)	0.814	-15.00 (50.00)	0.502
	A-CXL	380.00 (41.50)	390.00(56.50)	0.814	372.00 (42.50)	0.754	10.00 (45.00)	0.503
	P [†]	0.060	0.295		0.810			
	DAI-CXL	2.02 (1.59)	1.29 (1.36)	0.098	1.41 (1.73)	0.004	-0.27 (0.58)	0 11 1
			4 = 2 (2 2 2 2)	0.000	4 50 (0.00)	0.405		- 0.114
Corneal HOAs (mm)	A-CXL	1.82 (1.35)	1.50 (0.86)	0.328	1.50 (0.93)	0.195	-0.27 (0.47)	

Table 2. Comparison of preoperative and postoperative visual, refractive and topographic outcomes of DAI-CXL (n=13) and A-CXL (n=12) groups

Data were shown as median (interquartile range). [†]Wilcoxon signed-rank test, [‡]Mann-Whitney U test. Boldface, significant values, p<0.05. Median change was calculated for each parameter as 24 months postop-preop. DAI-CXL: transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis assisted corneal cross-linking, A-CXL: Accelerated corneal cross-linking with hypo-osmolar riboflavin solution, UDVA: Uncorrected distance visual acuity, CDVA: Corrected distance visual acuity, IogMAR: Logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution, MSE: Manifest spherical equivalent, K-max: Maximum keratometry, K-mean: Mean keratometry, D: Diopter, MCT: Minimum corneal thickness, HOAs: Higher-order aberrations

Visual acuity and refractive outcomes

Median UDVA improved significantly in the A-CXL group at 12 and 24 months compared to baseline (p=0.039 and p=0.046, respectively). In the DAI-CXL group, UDVA improved only at 24 months (p=0.028). The improvement in both groups was similar at the 24-month follow-up visit (p=0.387). There was a trend of improvement in CDVA at 24 months in both groups, but not statistically significant. Comparative analysis of the change in CDVA was similar in both groups at the 24-month follow-up visit (p=0.277). Although median MSE decreased significantly only in the DAI-CXL group at 24 months (p=0.028), the changes in MSE values in both groups were similar at 24 months (p=0.470).

Topographic outcomes

Median K-max decreased by -2.77 [interquartile range (IQR): 2.67] D and -2.24 (IQR: 4.38) D in DAI-CXL group (p=0.033) and A-CXL group (p=0.060), respectively at 24 months. These improvements in K-max were similar in both groups (p=0.936).

Median K-mean slightly improved in both groups, without statistical significance (p=0.363 and p=0.311, respectively). Similarly, no difference was found in improvement in K-mean between groups at the end of the follow-up (p=0.270). The median topographic cylinder improved statistically only in the A-CXL group at 12 months and inter-group analyses did not show statistical significance (p=0.936). During the follow-up, there was a non-significant decrease in MCT in the A-CXL group and the changes in corneal thickness were similar between the groups at 24 months (p=0.503). Total corneal HOAs analysis showed a significant improvement in only the DAI-CXL group at 24 months (p=0.004), but there was no difference in the median changes in HOAs between groups at the 24-month follow-up visit (p=0.114).

Efficacy of procedures

An evident corneal demarcation line was identified using AS-OCT in all eyes 1 month after the procedures, with an average DLD of 237.07±67.91 μ m (range: 145 to 301 μ m) in DAI-CXL and 242.55±57.52 μ m (range: 154 to 317 μ m) in A-CXL (p=0.346). At the 24-month follow-up visit, the K-max values in the DAI-CXL group remained stable (≤1 D change) or decreased more than 1 D in 12 eyes (92.31%). Similarly, stabilization or improvement in K-max was observed in 11 eyes (91.67%) in the A-CXL group. Disease progression (increase in K-max >1 D) further occurred in 1 eye in each group during the follow-up period (p=1.000).

Safety of procedures

At 24 months, mean ECD changed from 2534.12 \pm 163.20 cells/cm² to 2418.75 \pm 186.42 cells/mm² in DAI-CXL group and from 2504.42 \pm 126.07 cells/cm² to 2425.64 \pm 109.31 cells/mm² in A-CXL group at 12 months postoperatively (p=0.273 and p=0.099, respectively). The mean change of ECD was not statistically significant between the groups (-113.75 \pm 119.93 cells/cm² in DAI-CXL vs -76.85 \pm 63.12 cells/cm² in A-CXL, p=0.927).

The postoperative epithelial defect was not observed in any patient and contact lenses were removed from all patients on the first postoperative day in the DAI-CXL group. After A-CXL treatment, the epithelial defect was closed within 3-4 days, after which the contact lens was removed. None of the treated patients in either group developed vision-threatening haze/scar or infection during the follow-up.

Discussion

Herein, we demonstrate that DAI-CXL is as effective as A-CXL with hypo-osmolar riboflavin in the stabilization of keratoconus in patients with very thin corneas (below 400 μ m with epithelium) during the 2-year follow-up. Moreover, visual and corneal topographic changes are similar between groups without any deterioration in ECD at 2 years.

The management of keratoconic corneas thinner than 400 µm is still an important issue to be solved. One of the suggested methods is transepithelial I-CXL which is effective and safe in halting keratoconus progression in thin corneas (8). However, I-CXL still has a less therapeutic effect compared to standard CXL (20,21). To improve the efficacy of the original I-CXL, many modifications have been proposed (23-28). Transepithelial DAI-CXL is one of these techniques which improves the stromal riboflavin concentration while preserving epithelial integrity via 10% ethanol instead of enhancers in riboflavin solution. The preliminary and long-term clinical results of this new method have shown similar visual and topographic improvement compared to standard CXL (25,30).

To overcome the epithelial barrier to riboflavin, dilute alcohol (10% for 10 seconds) was administered to loosen the adhesions of hemidesmosomes to increase epithelial permeability in the DAI-CXL procedure (32). The other enhancer was iontophoresis, which increased riboflavin diffusion. Furthermore, compared

to standard I-CXL, the iontophoresis cycle time was doubled (10 minutes). Because the concentration of riboflavin in corneas treated with 5-minute iontophoresis is two-fold lower in conventional I-CXL than that in corneas treated with an epithelium-off protocol (16,33). Although the exact concentration of stromal riboflavin needed for proper corneal cross-link formation is unknown, preclinical and clinical studies have shown that doubling the imbibition time (2 cycles of iontophoresis) enhanced riboflavin saturation to up to 80% of that yielded with the epithelium-off technique, as well as the effectiveness of the I-CXL in halting the disease progression (26-28,34).

The epithelial photo attenuation of UV-A energy during corneal exposure is another aspect that could limit the CXL reaction in the epithelium-on method. This limitation could be overcome by increasing the overall UV-A fluence (29). In DAI-CXL, the total fluence was increased from 5.4 J/cm² to 7.2 J/cm². Similarly, Mazzotta et al. (24) enhanced the UV-A energy dose to 7 J/cm² and utilized pulsed-light UV-A irradiation (18 mW/ cm² for 6.28 minutes of exposure duration). The 3-year clinical findings of this modified approach, called enhanced fluence pulsed light iontophoresis (EF I-CXL), showed that it was able to stop keratoconus progression with a significant reduction in K-max of 1.4±0.8 D, but no changes in CDVA and corneal thickness. These findings are in line with our 2-year results. We observed that median CDVA and MCT remained stable, while median K-max improved significantly by 2.77 (IQR: 2.67) D in the DAI-CXL group and the median changes in K-max did not differ between groups after 2 years of follow-up.

Cantemir et al. (8) reported the first clinical outcomes of standard I-CXL in keratoconus patients with thin corneas (below 400 µm with epithelium). Fifteen eyes of 15 patients were evaluated and postoperative follow-up was 12 months. The authors have demonstrated improvements in UDVA and CDVA by 0.15 LogMAR which is consistent with our results on UDVA. However, CDVA was not changed after DAI-CXL in our study cohort. There was a significant decrease in K-max by 0.4 D in the previous study but in our case series there was an improvement in K-max by 1.54 D. Moreover, a visible demarcation line was only observed in 5 patients (30%) with an average depth of 184±26 µm in their case series, while there was a prominent demarcation line in all our patients with an average depth of 237±67 um. Considering the improvement in K-max and DLD values, our results are more favorable compared to the aforementioned study by Cantemir et al. (8), which could be due to changes in the DAI-CXL protocol, such as a combination of extended imbibition time and compensated UV-A irradiation.

According to several authors, the depth of the demarcation line evaluated by AS-OCT or confocal microscopy is an indirect predictor of CXL therapy success (35,36). This measurement could be more beneficial when evaluating the efficacy of a new modified approach, particularly in cases involving I-CXL. In

most standard I-CXL studies, the penetration depth varied from 100 to 240 µm (8,19,37). Wu et al. (34) extended the imbibition period (two cycles of iontophoresis) in EI-CXL and obtained a penetration depth approximately two-fold higher (251 µm) than that achieved with the same iontophoretic device for 5 minutes. After a 5-year follow-up, this 10-minute iontophoretic imbibition improved penetration depth, resulting in comparable keratometric and visual results to standard CXL. Nonetheless, the DLD in the EI-CXL group was still more shallow than in the standard CXL group (34). Furthermore, increasing the total UV-A fluence in EF I-CXL allowed the demarcation line to appear in 80 % of eyes with an average depth of 285 µm (24). In DAI-CXL with the combination of these two modifications, the demarcation line was visible in all patients at an average depth of 237 µm. This is slightly lower than that of the A-CXL group (242 µm), but this difference was not statistically significant.

The protection of the corneal endothelium from UV irradiation is a major safety concern of the CXL technique in thin corneas. Kymionis et al. (3) found a significant decrease in ECD following the standard CXL protocol in keratoconus patients with MCT less than 400 µm after epithelial removal. Permanent endothelial damage caused by CXL could result in a corneal scar and consequent significant visual loss (38). In addition to the efficacy of modified CXL treatment in thin corneas, its safety should be demonstrated by clinical data, including ECD. The safety of this modified method has been also verified by measuring ECD and the maintenance of corneal clarity after the procedure. There was no significant change in ECD 2 years after DAI-CXL. Similarly, Cantemir et al. (8) have also stated the safety of standard I-CXL in thin corneas with no evident changes in ECD.

Cantemir et al. (8) demonstrated an improvement in visual and topographical results in thin corneas following standard I-CXL. However, due to the lack of a control group treated with the epithelium-off approach in the previous study (8), no definite conclusion could be reached regarding the efficacy of the I-CXL method.

This study has several strengths and limitations. The inclusion of a reference intervention is considered the major strength of the present study. However, the single-center and retrospective study design, small sample size, and uneven gender distribution limit the generalizability of the results. We were also not able to perform adjusted analyses due to the low sample size. Finally, although a 24-month follow-up period may be considered sufficient to draw sound conclusions, a longer follow-up duration is required to demonstrate the clinically important outcomes.

Conclusion

In conclusion, DAI-CXL has been proved to be effective in halting keratoconus progression in thin corneas without any side

effects during the 2-year follow-up period. This modified I-CXL method could provide a safe and effective alternative epitheliumon CXL treatment option in advanced keratoconus patients.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Gazi University Faculty of Medicine of Local Ethics Committee (approval number: E.32700, date: 22.02.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.S.U., M.C.Ö., B.A., K.B., Concept: B.S.U., M.C.Ö., K.B., Design: B.S.U., M.C.Ö., B.A., K.B., Data Collection or Processing: M.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: B.S.U., M.C.Ö., B.A., K.B., Literature Search: B.S.U., M.Y., Writing: B.S.U., M.C.Ö., K.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Raiskup F, Theuring A, Pillunat LE, Spoerl E. Corneal collagen crosslinking with riboflavin and ultraviolet-A light in progressive keratoconus: ten-year results. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2015;41:41-46.
- Wollensak G, Spörl E, Reber F, Pillunat L, Funk R. Corneal endothelial cytotoxicity of riboflavin/UVA treatment in vitro. Ophthalmic Res. 2003;35:324-328.
- Kymionis GD, Portaliou DM, Diakonis VF, Kounis GA, Panagopoulou SI, Grentzelos MA. Corneal collagen crosslinking with riboflavin and ultraviolet-A irradiation in patients with thin corneas. Am J Ophthalmol. 2012;153:24-28.
- Han Y, Xu Y, Zhu W, et al. Thinner corneas appear to have more striking effects of corneal collagen crosslinking in patients with progressive keratoconus. J Ophthalmol. 2017;2017:6490915.
- Koller T, Mrochen M, Seiler T. Complication and failure rates after corneal crosslinking. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2009;35:1358-1362.
- Hafezi F, Mrochen M, Iseli HP, Seiler T. Collagen crosslinking with ultraviolet-A and hypoosmolar riboflavin solution in thin corneas. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2009;35:621-624.
- Spadea L, Mencucci R. Transepithelial corneal collagen crosslinking in ultrathin keratoconic corneas. Clin Ophthalmol. 2012;6:1785-1792.
- Cantemir A, Alexa AI, Galan BG, et al. Outcomes of iontophoretic corneal collagen crosslinking in keratoconic eyes with very thin corneas. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e8758.
- Mazzotta C, Ramovecchi V. Customized epithelial debridement for thin ectatic corneas undergoing corneal cross-linking: epithelial island cross-linking technique. Clin Ophthalmol. 2014;8:1337-1343.

- Jacob S, Kumar DA, Agarwal A, Basu S, Sinha P, Agarwal A. Contact Lens-Assisted Collagen Cross-Linking (CACXL): A New Technique for Cross-Linking Thin Corneas. J Refract Surg. 2014;30:366-372.
- Sachdev MS, Gupta D, Sachdev G, Sachdev R. Tailored stromal expansion with a refractive lenticule for crosslinking the ultrathin cornea. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2015;41:918-923.
- Hafezi F, Kling S, Gilardoni F, et al. Individualized Corneal Cross-linking With Riboflavin and UV-A in Ultrathin Corneas: The Sub400 Protocol. Am J Ophthalmol. 2021;224:133-142.
- Ashwin PT, McDonnell PJ. Collagen cross-linkage: a comprehensive review and directions for future research. Br J Ophthalmol. 2010;94:965-970.
- Caporossi A, Mazzotta C, Paradiso AL, Baiocchi S, Marigliani D, Caporossi T. Transepithelial corneal collagen crosslinking for progressive keratoconus: 24-month clinical results. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2013;39:1157-1163.
- Soeters N, Wisse RP, Godefrooij DA, Imhof SM, Tahzib NG. Transepithelial versus epithelium-off corneal cross-linking for the treatment of progressive keratoconus: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Ophthalmol. 2015;159:821-828.
- Mastropasqua L, Nubile M, Calienno R, et al. Corneal crosslinking: intrastromal riboflavin concentration in iontophoresisassisted imbibition versus traditional and transepithelial techniques. Am J Ophthalmol. 2014;157:623-630.
- Mencucci R, Ambrosini S, Paladini I, et al. Early effects of corneal collagen cross-linking by iontophoresis in ex vivo human corneas. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2015;253:277-286.
- Vinciguerra P, Randleman JB, Romano V, et al. Transepithelial iontophoresis corneal collagen cross-linking for progressive keratoconus: initial clinical outcomes. J Refract Surg. 2014;30:746-753.
- Jouve L, Borderie V, Sandali O, et al. Conventional and iontophoresis corneal cross-linking for keratoconus: efficacy and assessment by optical coherence tomography and confocal microscopy. Cornea. 2017;36:153-162.
- Vinciguerra P, Romano V, Rosetta P, et al. Transepithelial iontophoresis versus standard corneal collagen cross-linking: 1-year results of a prospective clinical study. J Refract Surg. 2016;32:672-678.
- 21. Lombardo M, Giannini D, Lombardo G, Serrao S. Randomized controlled trial comparing transepithelial corneal cross-linking using iontophoresis with the Dresden protocol in progressive keratoconus. Ophthalmology. 2017;124:804-812.
- Malhotra C, Gupta B, Jain AK, Dhar S, Gupta A, Balyan M. Comparison of Contact Lens Assisted and Transepithelial Corneal Cross Linking with Standard 'Epithelium Off' Cross Linking for Progressive Keratoconus: 24-Month Clinical Results. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2022;48:199-207.
- Vinciguerra P, Montericcio A, Catania F, et al. New perspectives in keratoconus treatment: an update on iontophoresis-assisted corneal collagen crosslinking. Int Ophthalmol. 2021;41:1909-1916.

- 24. Mazzotta C, Bagaglia SA, Sgheri A, et al. Iontophoresis Corneal cross-linking with enhanced fluence and pulsed UV-A light: 3-year clinical results. J Refract Surg. 2020;36:286-292.
- Bilgihan K, Yesilirmak N, Altay Y, Yuvarlak A, Ozdemir HB. Conventional corneal collagen cross-linking versus transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis-assisted corneal cross-linking in progressive keratoconus. Cornea. 2017;36:1492-1497.
- Hayes S, Morgan SR, O'Brart DP, O'Brart N, Meek KM. A study of stromal riboflavin absorption in ex vivo porcine corneas using new and existing delivery protocols for corneal crosslinking. Acta Ophthalmol. 2015;94:109-117.
- Gore DM, O'Brart DP, French P, Dunsby C, Allan BD. A comparison of different corneal iontophoresis protocols for promoting transepithelial riboflavin penetration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015;56:7908-7914.
- Bikbova G, Bikbov M. Standard corneal collagen crosslinking versus transepithelial iontophoresis-assisted corneal crosslinking, 24 months follow-up: randomized control trial. Acta Ophthalmol. 2016;94:600-606.
- 29. Kolozsvari L, Nogradi A, Hopp B, Bor Z. UV absorbance of the human cornea in the 240- to 400-nm range. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2002;43:2165-2168.
- Bilgihan K, Uysal BS, Cüneyt Özmen M, Eskalen O, Gurelik G. Transepithelial Diluted Alcohol and Iontophoresis-Assisted Corneal Crosslinking for Progressive Keratoconus in Adults: 4-Year Clinical Results. Cornea. 2022;41:462-469.
- Hafezi F. Limitation of collagen cross-Linking with hypoosmolar riboflavin solution: failure in an extremely thin cornea. Cornea. 2011;30:917-919.
- Gabler B, Winkler von Mohrenfels C, Dreiss AK, Marshall J, Lohmann CP. Vitality of epithelial cells after alcohol exposure during laser-assisted subepithelial keratectomy flap preparation. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2002;28:1841-1846.
- Cassagne M, Laurent C, Rodrigues M, et al. Iontophoresis transcorneal delivery technique for transepithelial corneal collagen crosslinking with riboflavin in a rabbit model. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57:594-603.
- Wu H, Luo S, Fang X, et al. Transepithelial corneal crosslinking assisted by two continuous cycles of iontophoresis for progressive keratoconus in adults: retrospective 5-year analysis. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2021;259:239-246.
- 35. Seiler T, Hafezi F. Corneal cross-linking-induced stromal demarcation line. Cornea. 2006;25:1057-1059.
- Mazzotta C, Traversi C, Baiocchi S, et al. Corneal healing after riboflavin ultraviolet-A collagen cross-linking determined by confocal laser scanning microscopy in vivo: early and late modifications. Am J Ophthalmol. 2008;146:527-533.
- Bonnel S, Berguiga M, De Rivoyre B, et al. Demarcation line evaluation of iontophoresis-assisted transepithelial corneal collagen cross-linking for keratoconus. J Refract Surg. 2015;31:36-40.
- Raiskup F, Hoyer A, Spoerl E. Permanent corneal haze after riboflavin-UVA-induced cross-linking in keratoconus. J Refract Surg. 2009;25:824-828.



Caffeine intake and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women

Kübra Tel Adıgüzel¹, ÖÖzlem Köroğlu²

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Gaziler Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 14.04.2022

Date accepted: 03.08.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Kübra Tel Adıgüzel, Ph.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye dyt.kubra@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1010-4316

Keywords: Osteopenia, osteoporosis, caffeine, bone mineral densitometry, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, DXA

ABSTRACT

Aims: Osteoporosis is a metabolic bone disease characterized by low bone mass and deteriorated bone tissue. There is ongoing debate about the effect of caffeine intake on bone metabolism due to inconsistent study results. This study aimed to assess the association between caffeine intake and bone mineral density (BMD).

Methods: This single center cross-sectional study, prospectively enrolled postmenopausal women aged between 41 and 65 years who underwent bone mineral density measurement by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) at the lumbar spine and femoral neck. Caffeine intake was estimated using a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and a caffeine-specific FFQ. Patients consuming more than 260 mg/day caffeine were classified as high consumers.

Results: The study included 80 subjects (mean age: 57.1 ± 5.6 years). Daily caffeine intake was 229.7±119.5 mg, and 36.3% (n=29) of the patients was classified as high consumers. The mean total T-score was -1.4 ± 0.9 at the lumbar spine and -1.7 ± 0.9 at femoral neck. High and low caffeine consumers had similar mean total T-score at the lumbar spine (-1.4 ± 1.1 vs. -1.4 ± 0.8 , p=0.849). However, femoral neck mean T-score was significantly lower in high caffeine consumers (-2.0 ± 0.9 vs. -1.5 ± 0.7 , p=0.033). The amount of daily caffeine intake showed a negative, moderate correlation with femoral neck T-score (r=-0.251, p=0.025).

Conclusions: The results of this study suggest that higher caffeine intake may be associated with lower T-scores on DXA of the femoral neck.

Introduction

Osteoporosis is a metabolic bone disease, characterized by low bone mass, deteriorated bone tissue and disrupted bone microarchitecture, which results in increased fracture risk and decreased quality of life. Osteoporosis is an important public health problem, associated with adverse health effects and economic burden. In parallel with the globally increasing aging population, osteoporosis is also increasing worldwide. Osteoporosis is diagnosed either through a history of a fragility fracture without a serious trauma or bone mineral density (BMD) measurement (1) by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). The risk factors of osteoporosis can be classified as modifiable (low physical activity, inadequate calcium and vitamin D intake, high alcohol and caffeine intake, smoking, and low muscle mass) and non-modifiable factors (hereditariness, Caucasian ethnicity, age, female sex, hormonal status) (2,3). The risk of osteoporosis in women increases after menopause (1,4,5). Inadequate calcium intake and low serum 25 (OH) vitamin D_3 [25(OH) D_3] levels are important risk factors for osteoporosis because of increased bone turnover (6).

Caffeine intake may not harm human health unless the amount of consumption exceeds the safe limit (7). However,

high doses of caffeine may lead to damaging effects on bone metabolism, bone healing and osteoblastic activity (8). Caffeine can also reduce calcium absorption and increase its elimination (5). A study on postmenopausal women showed that high caffeine intake can increase lumbar bone loss (9). Another study reported that three or more cups consumption of coffee in a day may be a risk factor for osteoporosis (1). Nevertheless, the effect of caffeine consumption on bone metabolism is still controversial (10). This study aimed to evaluate the association between caffeine intake and bone density health among postmenopausal women with osteopenia or osteoporosis.

Methods

This single-center, cross-sectional study was conducted between May 2019 and December 2021 at Gaziler Hospital Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Unit. Postmenopausal women aged between 41 and 65 years were included. Patients were excluded if they had secondary osteoporosis, diabetes mellitus. hyperthyroidism, primary hyperparathyroidism, hematologically or gastrointestinal disorders, and autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, or renal diseases. Other exclusion criteria were the history of metabolic bone disease, regular use of vitamin D and/or calcium supplements, anti-acids with calcium; medications that influence bone mass (e.g., corticosteroids, thyroid hormone, lithium, heparin, furosemide and proton pump inhibitors), and smoking. All participants provided signed, informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (no: 19/197, date: 14.05.2019). All the study procedures followed the Declaration of Helsinki and the Uniform Requirements for articles submitted to biomedical journals.

Demographic and anthropometric data (body weight, height, hip, and waist circumferences) were collected. Body mass index was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m²). The widest perimeter of the hip was recorded for hip circumference and the waist circumference was measured at 2-cm distal from the umbilicus. Serum 25(OH)D₃ and serum total calcium levels were retrieved from the hospital registries.

Bone density assessment

Osteopenia or osteoporosis was diagnosed by DXA (Osteosys Primus device, Seoul, Korea). BMD results were classified according to Bone Health and Osteoporosis Foundation Guideline (11). BMD within 1.0 standard deviation (SD) of the mean for a young-adult reference population was classified as 'normal', BMD between 1.0 and 2.5 SD for a young-adult population was classified as 'osteopenia' and BMD 2.5 SD or more below the mean for a young-adult reference population was classified as 'osteoporosis'.

Nutritional evaluation

Two food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) were used in the study to evaluate food intake over the last month: FFQ for nutrient intake (including 42 foods and beverages), and a caffeine-specific FFQ to determine foods and beverages with caffeine content. The adequacy of nutrient intake was assessed according to age and gender using the Turkey Dietary Guidelines (12). The daily intake of macro- and micronutrients, and energy was calculated from the data obtained in the FFQ, using BeBiS software version 7.2 (Bebispro for Windows, 2010). In this study, the caffeine-containing food list used in the article by Isgin et al. (13) was updated and a caffeine-specific FFQ was applied. The consumption of 35 different foods and beverages (coffee, tea, cola, chocolate, etc.) with caffeine content was recorded. The following responses regarding the consumption frequency were used: never, once a month, twice a month, 1-2 times a week, 3-4 times a week, 5-6 times a week and every day. After obtaining data on the caffeine specific FFQ, a national study (14) and US Food Data Central (15) were used to detail how much caffeine each food and beverage contained, and the total caffeine intake was calculated. According to recent data (16), patients consuming more than 260 mg/day were classified as high consumers.

Assessment of physical activity

Physical activity level (PAL) was calculated by dividing the total (durations of activity in minutes multiplied by the physical activity ratio for each activity) by 1,440 min. The calculated PAL values were evaluated as follows: <1.40 sedentary, 1.40-1.69 light, 1.70-1.99 moderate, 2.00-2.40 heavy, >2.40 very heavy activity (17).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for Mac, version 22.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Categorical variables are presented as numbers and percentages, and the numerical variables as mean and SD. The normality distribution was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Categorical data were compared using the chi-square test, and continuous data were compared using the Student's t-test. Correlation coefficients were calculated using the Pearson's test. P<0.05 was accepted to be statistically significant.

Results

The study included 80 subjects (mean age: 57.1 ± 5.6 years). Mean postmenopausal duration was 8.1 ± 4.4 years. Table 1 shows the basic characteristics of the participants. No patient was underweight, 37.4% (n=30) were overweight and 26.4% (n=21) were obese. Most patients (40.0%, n=32) were graduates of university or higher. The mean PAL value was

1.3±1.1, and most patients were sedentary. When the patients were grouped as low or high consumers of caffeine, there was no statistically significant difference between these groups in terms of main characteristics.

The daily energy, nutrients, and caffeine intake of the participants are shown in Table 2. Mean caffeine intake was 229.7±119.5 mg, with 36.3% (n=29) as high consumers. There was no statistically significant difference between the high consumer and low consumer groups in terms of nutrient intake. Calcium intake was inadequate in 90.0% (n=72) of the patients.

Most patients had osteopenia (61.2% according to the lumbar spine total T-score and 66.3% according to the femoral neck T-score). Classification of the patients according to the lumbar total and femoral neck T-scores showed significant differences

Table 1. Basic characteristics of the patient	nts				
Age, years, mean (SD)	57.1 (5.5)				
Serum vitamin D (ng/mL), mean (SD)	26.9 (16.8)				
Serum calcium (mg/dL), mean (SD)	10.5 (9.5)				
Postmenopausal period (year), mean (SD)	8.1 (4.4)				
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	27.1 (4.4)				
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	98.3 (10.8)				
Hip circumference (cm), mean (SD)	106.1 (9.7)				
Waist/hip ratio, mean (SD)	0.9 (0.05)				
BMI classification					
Underweight, n (%)	-				
Normal, n (%)	29 (36.3)				
Overweight, n (%)	29 (36.3)				
Obese, n (%)	21 (26.4)				
Education					
Illiterate, n (%)	2 (2.5)				
Primary school, n (%)	27 (33.8)				
Secondary-high school, n (%)	18 (22.5)				
University or Higher, n (%)	32 (40.0)				
PAL classification					
Sedentary, n (%)	43 (53.8)				
Light activity, n (%)	36 (45.0)				
Moderate activity, n (%)	1 (1.2)				
Heavy activity, n (%)	0 (0.0)				
Very heavy activity, n (%)	0 (0.0)				
SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index, PAL: Physical activity level					

concerning the diagnosis of osteopenia or osteoporosis (p=0.013) (Table 3).

The mean total T-score was -1.42 \pm 0.89 at the lumbar spine and -1.69 \pm 0.87 at femoral neck. High and low caffeine consumers had similar mean total T-score at the lumbar spine (-1.4 \pm 1.1 vs. -1.4 \pm 0.8, p=0.849). However, femoral neck mean T-score was significantly lower in high caffeine consumers (-2.0 \pm 0.9 vs. -1.5 \pm 0.7, p=0.033).

While 84.3% of patients (n=43) had osteopenia, 15.7% of patients (n=8) had osteoporosis in low caffeine consumers. In high caffeine consumers, 58.6% of patients (n=17) had osteopenia, and 41.4% of patients (n=12) had osteoporosis. compared to low caffeine consumers, the percentage of patients with osteoporosis was significantly higher in high caffeine consumers (p=0.011).

A negative moderate correlation was determined between caffeine intake and the femoral neck T-score (Table 4). There was no correlation between total caffeine intake and the total T-score.

Discussion

The results of this study suggest that high caffeine intake deteriorates BMD in postmenopausal women, particularly in the femoral neck. Caffeine intake is widely common worldwide (18).

Table 2. Daily energy and nutrient intake	•
Caffeine (mg), mean (SD)	229.7 (119.5)
Total Energy intake [kcal], mean (SD)	1661.6 (388.2)
Carbohydrates [g/day], mean (SD)	150.5 (47.4)
Carbohydrates, n (%)	37.2 (7.4)
Protein [g/day], mean (SD)	66.5 (17.9)
Protein, n (%)	16.5 (2.5)
Fat [g/day], mean (SD)	86.2 (23.7)
Fat, n (%)	46.2 (6.6)
Cholesterol [mg/day], mean (SD)	313.8 (115.8)
Fiber [g/day], mean (SD)	20.0 (7.2)
Vitamin A, mean (SD)	1055.7 (867.9)
Vitamin C, mean (SD)	81.0 (40.2)
Vitamin E, mean (SD)	15.4 (6.5)
Calcium, mean (SD)	777.1 (272.0)
Phosphorus, mean (SD)	1189.7 (335.3)
Magnesium, mean (SD)	269.6 (86.8)
SD: Standard deviation	

Table 3. The distribution of patients according to the lumbar total and femoral neck T-scores						
	Lumbar total T-score		Femoral ne	Femoral neck T-score		
	n	%	n	%	p*	
Normal	20	25.0	13	16.3		
Osteopenia	49	61.2	53	66.3	0.013	
Osteoporosis	11	13.8	14	17.4		
*Chi-square test						

Table 4. Correlation between caffeine intake and total lumbar spine and femoral neck T-score				
		Lumbar spine	Femoral neck	
Caffeine	r	-0.12	-0.251	
	p*	0.915	0.025	
*Pearson test				

Coffee, tea, energy drinks and many carbohydrated drinks, as well as cocoa, chocolate and some dietary supplements contain caffeine (19). Approximately 80% of adults consume at least one caffeine-containing beverage per day (20).

Caffeine consumption is classified as one of the modifiable risk factors for osteoporosis development (2). Reviews of the safe limits of caffeine consumption concluded that 200 mg in a single dose and 400 mg throughout the day should not be exceeded, and that caffeine will not cause harm when the consumption remains in the recommended range (21). In this study, the mean caffeine intake was 229.7±119.5 mg/d that is consistent with the previous data (22).

With respect to the clinical effects of caffeine intake on bones (e.g., BMD loss, fractures), previous research findings are inconsistent. Hallström et al. (5) reported a small reduction in bone density with caffeine intake but no increase in the risk of new fractures. Harter et al. (23) found no association between caffeine intake and calcium intake and bone mass. In contrast, in a meta-analysis by Lee et al. (24), a positive dosedependent association between caffeine and fracture formation among women was reported. De França et al. (25) investigated the dietary patterns in postmenopausal Brazilian women and observed an inverse relationship between coffee, tea, sweet food consumption and total femoral BMD.

Correlation analysis in the current study showed that the femoral neck T-score but not the lumbar spine T-score was inversely related to the amount of caffeine intake. The differences in T-scores between the BMD measurement sites might have influenced the correlation analyses. Because, differences are common between the BMD measurement sites. Alarkawi et al. (26) reported lower lumbar spine BMD than the femoral neck BMD. Rochmis et al. (27) also reported discordance between the femoral total and femoral neck BMD measurements. Further studies are necessary to explain the exact reason for the sitespecific relationship between caffeine intake and BMD.

In this study, 36.3% of the patients who were classified as high consumers, and the femoral total T-score among high consumers was lower than those of the low consumers. This result was in concordance with the correlation analysis, which showed an inverse relationship with caffeine intake. Similarly, Hallström et al. (5) investigated the effect of long-term caffeine consumption on BMD and fracture risk. When the high consumers (\geq 4 cups) were compared with low consumers (\leq 1 cup), high coffee intake was associated with 2% lower BMD in proximal femoral BMD and 4% in the lumbar spine.

Concerns related to the correct assessment of caffeine intake have been discussed previously (23). Issues of objectivity occur due to biased methods reliant on patient reports (16). In this study, dietary assessment and caffeine intake were assessed using the FFQ administered by a registered dietician to optimize the method of evaluation of the amount of caffeine intake. In addition to the measurement method of caffeine intake, differences in the metabolism and absorption of caffeine between individuals can change the biological effects of caffeine (28). As can be seen in the results section, the percentage of adequate calcium intake was very low. Calcium is bound to collagen fibers in the form of hydroxyapatite and is essential for bone strength. Low calcium intake has been identified as a risk factor for developing osteoporosis (29). High calcium intake can improve bone mineral content and thus reduce the risk of fractures in menopause (30). However, it should be remembered that taking calcium alone is not enough to reduce the risk of new fractures in the postmenopausal period, and it should be taken with 25(OH)D₃ (31).

There are some limitations of this study, such as the relatively small sample size and lack of longitudinal follow-up. The use of T-scores and the lack of bone density values may also be a limitation as the calculation of T-scores consider additional parameters. Finally, we could not perform adjusted analysis due to small sample size. The major strength of this study was that the food consumption records were taken directly by an experienced dietician.

Conclusion

The results of this study suggest that higher caffeine intake may be associated lower T-scores on DXA of the femoral neck.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was approved by the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (no: 19/197, date: 14.05.2019).

Informed Consent: All participants provided signed, informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices - Concept - Design - Data Collection or Processing - Analysis or Interpretation - Literature Search - Writing: K.T.A., Ö.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Bijelic R, Milicevic S, Balaban J. Risk factors for osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Med Arch. 2017;71:25-28.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Jonsson B, De Laet C, Dawson A. Risk of hip fracture according to the World Health Organization criteria for osteopenia and osteoporosis. Bone. 2000;27:585-590.
- Pouresmaeili F, Kamalidehghan B, Kamarehei M, Goh YM. A comprehensive overview on osteoporosis and its risk factors. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2018;14:2029-2049.
- Weaver CM, Gordon CM, Janz KF, et al. The National Osteoporosis Foundation's position statement on peak bone mass development and lifestyle factors: a systematic review and implementation recommendations. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27:1281-1386.
- Hallström H, Byberg L, Glynn A, Lemming EW, Wolk A, Michaëlsson K. Long-term coffee consumption in relation to fracture risk and bone mineral density in women. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;178:898-909.
- Garnero P, Munoz F, Sornay-Rendu E, Delmas PD. Associations of vitamin D status with bone mineral density, bone turnover, bone loss and fracture risk in healthy postmenopausal women. The OFELY study. Bone. 2007;40:716-722.
- Mitchell DC, Knight CA, Hockenberry J, Teplansky R, Hartman TJ. Beverage caffeine intakes in the U.S. Food Chem Toxicol. 2014;63:136-142.
- Berman NK, Honig S, Cronstein BN, Pillinger MH. The effects of caffeine on bone mineral density and fracture risk. Osteoporos Int. 2022;22:1235-1241.
- Rapuri PB, Gallagher JC, Kinyamu HK, Ryschon KL. Caffeine intake increases the rate of bone loss in elderly women and interacts with vitamin D receptor genotypes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;74:694-700.
- 10. Li S, Dai Z, Wu Q. Effect of coffee intake on hip fracture: a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. Nutr J. 2015;14:38.
- Leboff MS, Greenspan SL, Insogna KL, Lewiecki EM, Saag KG, Singer AJ, Siris ES. The clinician's guide to prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2022. doi:10.1007/ s00198-021-05900-y.
- Türkiye Beslenme Rehberi. Last Accessed Date: 11.04.2022. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/ saglikli-beslenme-hareketli-hayat-db/Yayinlar/rehberler/2015beslenme-rehberi.pdf

- Işgın K, Kabasakal Çetin A, Yiğit M, Büyüktuncer Z, Besler HT, Gökmen Özel H. Adolesanlarda kafein içeren yiyecek ve içecek tüketimi üzerine bir araştırma. Beslenme ve Diyet Dergisi. 2015;2:119-125.
- Hanci M, Bayram S, Karahan S, Kaya E, Bakırci S. Caffeine Levels in Turkish Coffee and Some Beverages Sold in Turkey. Duzce Med J. 2013;15:34-38.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service. FoodData Central, 2019. Last Accessed Date: 10.04.2022. Available from: fdc.nal.usda.gov.
- Berman NK, Honig S, Cronstein BN, Pillinger MH. The effects of caffeine on bone mineral density and fracture risk. Osteoporos Int. 2022;33:1235-1241.
- Food and Agriculture Organization. Food and Nutrition Technical Report Series. Human energy requirements. Last accessed date: 11.03.2022. Available from: https://www.fao. org/3/y5686e/y5686e.pdf
- O'Callaghan F, Muurlink O, Reid N. Effects of caffeine on sleep quality and daytime functioning. Risk Manag Healthc Policy. 2018;11:263-271.
- 19. Barone JJ, Roberts HR. Caffeine consumption. Food Chem Toxicol. 1996;34:119-129.
- Ogawa N, Ueki H. Clinical importance of caffeine dependence and abuse. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2007;61:263-268.
- 21. Scientific Opinion on the safety of caffeine. EFSA J. 2015;13:4102.
- Hansen SA, Folsom AR, Kushi LH, Sellers TA. Association of fractures with caffeine and alcohol in postmenopausal women: the Iowa Women's Health Study. Public Health Nutr. 2000;3:253-261.
- Harter DL, Busnello FM, Dibi RP, Stein AT, Kato SK, Vanin CM. Association between low bone mass and calcium and caffeine intake among perimenopausal women in Southern Brazil: cross-sectional study. Sao Paulo Med J. 2013;131:315-322.
- Lee DR, Lee J, Rota M, et al. Coffee consumption and risk of fractures: a systematic review and dose-response metaanalysis. Bone. 2014;63:20-28.
- de França NA, Camargo MB, Lazaretti-Castro M, Peters BS, Martini LA. Dietary patterns and bone mineral density in Brazilian postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: a crosssectional study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2016;70:85-90.
- Alarkawi D, Bliuc D, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA, Center JR. Contribution of lumbar spine BMD to fracture risk in individuals with T-score discordance. J Bone Miner Res. 2016;31:274-280.
- Rochmis PG, Sheridan MJ, Perry L. Is the NHANES III femoral neck database discordant with the total hip and trochanteric region databases? J Clin Densitom. 2009;12:224-228.
- Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board, Committee on Military Nutrition Research. Caffeine for the Sustainment of Mental Task Performance: Formulations for Military Operations. 1st ed. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2001

- 29. Rizzoli R, Bischoff-Ferrari H, Dawson-Hughes B, Weaver C. Nutrition and bone health in women after the menopause. Womens Health (Lond). 2014;10:599-608.
- Bonjour JP, Benoit V, Rousseau B, Souberbielle JC. Consumption of vitamin D-and calcium-fortified soft white cheese lowers the biochemical marker of bone resorption

TRAP 5b in postmenopausal women at moderate risk of osteoporosis fracture. J Nutr. 2012;142:698-703.

 Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, et al. Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86:1780-1790.



Decreased vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with Celiac disease: A nationwide cross-sectional study

© Zülfikar Akelma¹, © Melikşah Keskin², © Şenay Savaş Erdeve², © Nurbanu Bursa³, © Osman Çelik⁴, © Ersan İmrat⁵, © Mustafa Mahir Ülgü⁵, © Murat Çağlayan⁶, © Naim Ata⁷, © Şuayip Birinci⁸

¹Ankara Yildirim Beyazit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics; University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology, Children Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, Ankara, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology, Children Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Endocrinology, Ankara, Türkiye

³Hacettepe University Faculty of Science, Department of Statistics, Ankara, Türkiye

⁴Republic of Turkey, Ministry of Health, Public Hospitals General Directorate, Ankara, Türkiye

⁵Republic of Turkey, Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Health Information Systems, Ankara, Türkiye

⁶University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Diskapi Yildirim Beyazit Training and Research Hospital, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Ankara, Türkiye

7Republic of Turkey, Ministry of Health, Department of Strategy Development, Ankara, Türkiye

⁸Republic of Turkey, Ministry of Health, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 15.06.2022 Date accepted:

11.08.2022 Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Zülfikar Akelma, M.D., Assoc. Prof., Ankara Yildirim Beyazit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics; University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology, Children Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, Ankara, Türkiye akelma@gmail.com

ORCID:

orcid.org/0000-0003-0140-5053

Keywords: 25-hydroxyvitamin D, vitamin D deficiency, transglutaminase antibody, gluten-free diet

ABSTRACT

Aims: Vitamin D deficiency results from malabsorption in Celiac disease (CD), and it may also be involved in the pathogenesis of CD. There is no clarity regarding vitamin D deficiency in CD. We investigated the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in children with CD compared with controls.

Methods: The database of the Turkish Ministry of Health was used for the cross-sectional descriptive study. Children with CD whose serum tissue transglutaminase (tTG) and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] levels were available in the registry were included. The CD group was further subdivided into tTG (IgG and/or IgA) antibody-negative and positive subgroups. Individuals with CD were classified as compatible and non-compatible with a gluten-free diet (GFD) (GFD-compatible and GFD-non-compatible groups), respectively. Children who had no known malabsorption syndrome formed the control group.

Results: The median serum 25(OH)D level was 18.5 ng/mL in children with CD (n=6717) and 30.7 ng/mL in the control group (n=6717) (p<0.001). The vitamin D levels of the GFD-compatible (n=1102) and GFD-non-compatible groups (n=5615) were 19.36 ng/mL and 18.30 ng/mL, respectively (p<0.001). The rate of vitamin D deficiency was 56% in the CD group and 12% in the control group (p<0.001).

Conclusions: This study found significantly lower serum vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with CD. The results suggest children with CD should be evaluated for vitamin D levels and followed periodically.
Introduction

Celiac disease (CD) is an immune-mediated systemic disease triggered by the intake of gluten in genetically susceptible individuals. The prevalence of CD in the general population is estimated to be 1% in the world (1). Malabsorption caused by villous damage in CD may result in several nutritional deficiencies, including vitamin D (2). Exist different approaches to the routine evaluation of vitamin D levels and treatment of vitamin D deficiency in patients with CD (2).

Vitamin D is a micronutrient that plays an important role in calcium and bone metabolism (3,4). Vitamin D deficiency in the early stages of life may be associated with autoimmune diseases, including CD. Vitamin D might also be a potential protective factor for CD due to its role in immune system regulation (3-5). The variation in the frequency of CD according to the season of birth is partly explained by the seasonal fluctuation in vitamin D levels (6-11). Similarly, a higher frequency of CD in societies living in northern latitudes is partially associated with lower sun exposure (12). Apart from the role of vitamin D in the pathogenesis of CD, vitamin D deficiency observed in patients with CD has been associated with intestinal malabsorption caused (2). A low vitamin D level causes changes in bone metabolism decreasing bone mineral density and an increase in fracture risk (13).

The literature is inconsistent about the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in children with CD. There is also no consensus on the evaluation of vitamin D levels in CD. It has been emphasized that larger studies are required (2). This study evaluated the vitamin D levels in a large series consisting of children and adolescents diagnosed with CD. We investigated the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in children with CD compared with the controls.

Methods

This nationwide study was conducted using the ICD10 registry of the Turkish Ministry of Health National Electronic Database, which covers the public health insurance of more than 95% of the Turkish population, under the supervision of the Ministry of Health. We included child and adolescent (age ≤18 years) patients with CD (ICD: K90.0) who had a serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] measurement in the registry and was prescribed gluten-free nutrients provided by the Social Security Institution, between 2014 and 2021. The cases were identified using the ICD10 codes. We excluded patients without a tissue transglutaminase antibody (tTG, IgG and IgA) result. We also excluded patients who were diagnosed with other forms of malabsorption (ICD: K90.1-9). Demographic characteristics (e.g., sex, age), standardized 25(OH)D (ng/mL), and the date of the measurements (for seasonality purposes) were recorded. The CD group was further divided into tTG (IgG and/or IgA)

antibody-positive and negative subgroups. Antibody-negative patients were considered compatible with a gluten-free diet (GFD) (GDF-compatible group), and positive patients as GFD-non-compatible (GFD-non-compatible group) (14).

The control group included persons who had none of the above-mentioned malabsorption syndromes, including CD, and who had a 25(OH)D measurement in the registry. Before the analyses, there were 8.317 patients and 47,072 control subjects aged 1-18 years. Since only the subjects with a vitamin D level between 1 and 50 ng/mL were included in the analysis, the sample size was reduced to 8127 in the study and 44,786 in the control group. The propensity score matching was used with the nearest neighbor method and 1:1 allocation ratio yielding 6.717 subjects in each group. Sex, age, and seasonality were considered in the propensity score matching analysis. We excluded patients and controls who were prescribed vitamin D supplements during the previous year. Figure 1 shows a flowchart of the study design.

Serum 25(OH)D levels were analyzed with the immunoassay method or high-pressure liquid chromatography in Turkey. Vitamin D deficiency was defined as <20 ng/mL (50 nmol/L), and vitamin D insufficiency was defined as 20 to 29.9 ng/mL (50-74.9 nmol/L) (15,16). 25(OH)D levels higher than 30 ng/mL were considered normal; vitamin D deficiency was defined as a serum 25(OH)D level less than 20 ng/mL, and insufficiency between 20 and 30 ng/mL.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using R software (R Core Team, 2020). The normality of data distribution was investigated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables are presented as medians (quartile deviation). The Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis H tests were used to test between-group differences. To prevent any p-hacking problems when studying a large sample, the r effect size was given for Mann-Whitney U tests, and the eta-squared effect size was given for the Kruskal-Wallis H tests. To determine the correlations between age and vitamin Ds, Spearman's correlation coefficients were calculated. Differences in different vitamin D-level categories were compared using Pearson's chi-square test. Dunn-Bonferroni post hoc test was conducted for pairwise comparisons. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was used to determine the optimal cut-off value for vitamin D in the patient and control groups using the Youden J index. Two-sided p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The median age of the CD group (n=6717) and control group (n=6717) was 10 years (4 quartile deviation). The proportion of male sex in the CD group and control group was 60%. The median vitamin D levels in the CD group and the control group

were 18.49 ng/mL and 30.70 ng/mL, respectively, and the difference was statistically significant (p<0.001) (Table 1).

The median vitamin D levels in the GFD-compatible (n=1102) and GFD-non-compatible (n=5615) groups were 19.36 ng/mL and 18.30 ng/mL, respectively, and the difference was statistically significant. In a post hoc analysis, vitamin D levels were significantly different (p<0.001) in all pairwise comparisons (Table 2).

Vitamin D deficiency was detected in 56% of the CD group and 12% of the control group. The percentage of patients with vitamin D insufficiency was 30% in the CD group and 35% in the control group. Vitamin D level was normal at 14% in the CD group and 53% in the control group (p<0.001) (Table 3).

There was an inverse correlation between age and vitamin D levels in the CD and control groups (r=-0.268 and r=-0.473, respectively; p<0.001).



Figure 1. Flow chart of the study population

tTG: Tissue transglutaminase antibody, CD: Celiac disease

Table 1. Serum 25(OH)D levels in the CD group and control group					
	Overall (n=13,434)	CD group (n=6,717)	Control group (n=6,717)	p value	
Vitamin D, ng/mL, median (quartile deviation)	24.78 (8.18)	18.49 (6.39)	30.70 (7.19)	<0.001*	
*Mann-Whitney U test; means statistically significant. 25(OH)D: 25-hydroxyvitamin D, CD: Celiac disease					

Table 2. Serum 25(OH)D levels in the CD group and control group according to gluten-free diet compatibility					
	CD group (n=6,717)		Control group		
	Non-compatible group (n=5,615)	Compatible group (n=1,102)	 Control group (n=6,717) 	p value	
Vitamin D, ng/mL, median (quartile deviation)	18.30 (6.36)	19.37 (6.50)	30.70 (7.19)	<0.001*	
Post-hoc analysis for *Kruskal-Wallis H test; dia 25-hydroxyvitamin D	ferences in the level of vitamin D signifi	cant in all pairwise comparisons	s (p<0.001). CD: Celiac dis	ease, 25(OH)D:	

Table 3. Comparison of the rates of vitamin D deficiency, insufficiency, and normal vitamin D levels between the CD group control group

	Vitamin D deficiency (vitamin D <20 ng/mL)	Vitamin D insufficiency (vitamin D 20-29.9 ng/mL)	Normal vitamin D (vitamin D >30 ng/mL)	p value	
CD group n, (%)	3,774 (56)	1,997 (30)	938 (14)	— <0.001*	
Control group n, (%)	820 (12)	2,349 (35)	3,528 (53)		
*Pearson chi-square test, CD; C	eliac disease				

Figure 2 shows the results of the area under the ROC curve analysis. According to Youden's index, the cut-off value of ≤23.195 ng/mL for vitamin D had 68% sensitivity and 80% specificity to predict the classification of an individual as CD.

Discussion

This study found lower vitamin D levels among patients with CD than the controls. The proportion of patients with normal vitamin D levels was 12% in the CD group and 56% in the control group. However, in patients with CD, vitamin D levels in patients with good adherence to a GFD were higher than in patients with poor GFD adherence, suggesting still lower vitamin D levels among CD patients with worse GFD compliance.

Several studies have concluded controversial results on serum 25(OH)D levels at the time of CD diagnosis, and while receiving GFD therapy in patients followed up with CD (17,18). Recently, Ahlawat et al. (19) reported that there was no difference between 25(OH)D levels in patients with newly diagnosed CD and controls. Similarly, Villanueva et al. (20) reported that vitamin D levels in patients with CD were not different from the controls. Lerner et al. (21) compared the vitamin D levels in patients with newly diagnosed CD and children with nonspecific abdominal pain and observed no difference. In contrast, in the study by Lionetti et al. (2), vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with CD were found to be lower at the time of diagnosis compared with the control group. In this study, the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in patients with CD was 31%, whereas this rate was 12% in the control group. In previous retrospective studies conducted with a limited number of cases, the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in patients with CD ranged from 27% to 70% (22-24).

Consistent with the literature, the frequency of vitamin D deficiency in the current study was 56% in patients with CD and 12% in the control group. Ciacci et al. (17) reported lower



Figure 2. The cut-off value of vitamin D for predicting the CD group vs. control group. For vitamin D AUC=0.795, p<0.001, cut-off value 23.195 ng/mL, 68% sensitivity, 80% specificity

AUC: Area under the curve, CD: Celiac disease

vitamin D levels in adult patients with newly diagnosed CD and in adult patients with good adherence to a GFD. In our study, we observed that the vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with CD were lower than in the controls. Similarly, vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with good adherence to GFD were higher than in patients with poor GFD adherence and lower than in the control group. Similar to our study, Lu et al. (25) reported that patients with CD had lower vitamin D levels. Additionally, they found that patients with CD receiving a GFD had vitamin D levels close to those of the control group. The author group hypothesized that vitamin D might play a potential role in the pathogenesis of CD (25). Deora et al. (22) reported that micronutrients other than vitamin D and iron returned to normal in the 18th month in the follow-up of patients with CD who were started a GFD, but they remained at a suboptimal level even though there was an increase in vitamin D and iron levels. In our study, despite a slightly higher level of vitamin D with the GFD, it was still suboptimal.

There is no clear consensus on the routine evaluation of 25(OH)D level and vitamin D supplementation in patients with CD (2). In 2016, The North American Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition recommended serum 25(OH)D measurement at the time of diagnosis and annual follow-up after celiac serology returns to normal in children with CD (26). The European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition have not published any recommendations in this regard. The results obtained in our study with many patients suggest the necessity for evaluating vitamin D in CD. It is also recommended to ensure the maintenance of vitamin D levels at normal levels in all children and adolescents (2,3). Our analysis also showed that, although the vitamin D levels in patients with CD were higher with GFD, it was still suboptimal. This result points to the importance of vitamin D therapy in patients with CD.

The potential causes of lower levels vitamin D levels in patients with CD are controversial. Traditionally, it is thought to be due to the malabsorption of fat-soluble vitamins (2). Relatively improved vitamin D levels in patients CD with a GFD in our study supports this notion. However, another interesting hypothesis is that vitamin D deficiency observed in the early stages of life may play a role in the pathogenesis of CD rather than its outcome (25,27). Various conditions such as genomic polymorphism and variability in the gut microbiota observed in patients with CD contribute to the low vitamin D levels concerning low vitamin D synthesis (2).

The limitations of our study are that it was designed retrospectively, and the data were obtained through the ICD codes. Another limitation may be the potential differences in the measurement of vitamin D levels in different laboratories. The use of vitamin D supplements was retrieved from the prescription records, limiting the exact knowledge of their use by the patients. Data such as obesity, which may affect vitamin D levels, and geographical features of the region where the patients lived were also not evaluated. Among the strengths of the current study are its large sample size, representation of all regions across the country, and children of all ages and weights.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study showed lower vitamin D levels in children with CD. Although some improvement was observed in vitamin D levels in patients who were GFD-compatible, it was still lower than in the control group. Due to the close relationship between bone and skeletal health and CD, we suggest that all children with CD be evaluated for vitamin D levels at diagnosis and periodically after that and that children with a deficiency should be managed properly.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent: This nationwide study was conducted with the permission of the Ministry of Health. Ethics committee approval and informed consent were not required for national data studies.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., O.Ç., M.M.Ü., N.A., Ş.B., Design: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., O.Ç., E.İ., M.Ç., N.A., Ş.B., Data Collection or Processing: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., O.Ç., E.İ., M.M.Ü., N.A., Ş.B., Analysis or Interpretation: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., N.B., E.İ., M.M.Ü., M.Ç., N.A., Ş.B., Literature Search: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., N.B., M.Ç., N.A., Writing: Z.A., M.K., Ş.S.E., N.B., O.Ç., E.İ., M.M.Ü., M.Ç., N.A., Ş.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Sahin Y. Celiac disease in children: A review of the literature. World J Clin Pediatr. 2021;10:53-71.
- Lionetti E, Galeazzi T, Dominijanni V, et al. Lower Level of Plasma 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in Children at Diagnosis of Celiac Disease Compared with Healthy Subjects: A Case-Control Study. J Pediatr. 2021;228:132-137.
- Saggese G, Vierucci F, Prodam F, et al. Vitamin D in pediatric age: consensus of the Italian Pediatric Society and the Italian Society of Preventive and Social Pediatrics, jointly with the Italian Federation of Pediatricians. Ital J Pediatr. 2018;44:51.
- 4. Aranow C. Vitamin D and the immune system. J Investig Med. 2011;59:881-886.
- Rewers M, Ludvigsson J. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2016;387:2340-2348.
- Ivarsson A, Hernell O, Nyström L, Persson LÅ. Children born in the summer have increased risk for coeliac disease. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2003;57:36-39.
- Lewy H, Meirson H, Laron Z. Seasonality of birth month of children with celiac disease differs from that in the general population and between sexes and is linked to family history and environmental factors. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2009;48:181-185.
- Lebwohl B, Green PHR, Murray JA, Ludvigsson JF. Season of birth in a nationwide cohort of coeliac disease patients. Arch Dis Child. 2013;98:48-51.

- Tanpowpong P, Obuch JC, Jiang H, et al. Multicenter study on season of birth and celiac disease: evidence for a new theoretical model of pathogenesis. J Pediatr. 2013;162:501-504.
- Capriati T, Francavilla R, Castellaneta S, Ferretti F, Diamanti A. Impact of the birth's season on the development of celiac disease in Italy. Eur J Pediatr. 2015;174:1657-1663.
- Assa A, Waisbourd-Zinman O, Daher S, Shamir R. Birth Month as a Risk Factor for the Diagnosis of Celiac Disease Later in Life: A Population-based Study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;67:367-370.
- Unalp-Arida A, Ruhl CE, Choung RS, Brantner TL, Murray JA. Lower Prevalence of Celiac Disease and Gluten-Related Disorders in Persons Living in Southern vs Northern Latitudes of the United States. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:1922-1932.
- Zingone F, Ciacci C. The value and significance of 25(OH) and 1,25(OH) vitamin D serum levels in adult coeliac patients: A review of the literature. Dig Liver Dis. 2018;50:757-760.
- Isaac DM, Rajani S, Yaskina M, Huynh HQ, Turner JM. Antitissue Transglutaminase Normalization Postdiagnosis in Children With Celiac Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;65:195-199.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:1911-1930.
- Saggese G, Vierucci F, Boot AM, et al. Vitamin D in childhood and adolescence: an expert position statement. Eur J Pediatr. 2015;174:565-576.
- Ciacci C, Bilancio G, Russo I, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D, and Peripheral Bone Densitometry in Adults with Celiac Disease. Nutrients. 2020;12:929.
- Herrmann M, Farrell CL, Pusceddu I, Fabregat-Cabello N, Cavalier E. Assessment of vitamin D status - a changing landscape. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2017;55:3-26.

- Ahlawat R, Weinstein T, Markowitz J, Kohn N, Pettei MJ. Should We Assess Vitamin D Status in Pediatric Patients With Celiac Disease? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;69:449-454.
- Villanueva J, Maranda L, Nwosu BU. Is vitamin D deficiency a feature of pediatric celiac disease? J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2012;25:607-610.
- Lerner A, Shapira Y, Agmon-Levin N, et al. The clinical significance of 25OH-Vitamin D status in celiac disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2012;42:322-330.
- Deora V, Aylward N, Sokoro A, El-Matary W. Serum Vitamins and Minerals at Diagnosis and Follow-up in Children With Celiac Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;65:185-189.
- Imam MH, Ghazzawi Y, Murray JA, Absah I. Is it necessary to assess for fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies in pediatric patients with newly diagnosed celiac disease? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2014;59:225-228.
- Wessels MM, van Veen II, Vriezinga SL, Putter H, Rings EH, Mearin ML. Complementary Serologic Investigations in Children with Celiac Disease Is Unnecessary during Follow-Up. J Pediatr. 2016;169:55-60.
- Lu C, Zhou W, He X, Zhou X, Yu C. Vitamin D status and vitamin D receptor genotypes in celiac disease: a meta-analysis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2021;61:2098-2106.
- Hill ID, Fasano A, Guandalini S, et al. NASPGHAN Clinical Report on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Gluten-related Disorders. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2016;63:156-165.
- Tanpowpong P, Camargo CA. Early-life vitamin D deficiency and childhood-onset coeliac disease. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17:823-826.



Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of residents and specialists working in tertiary healthcare institutions about drug allergy

Hale Ateş¹, D Enes Seyda Şahiner²

¹Ataturk Sanatoryum Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Immunology and Allergy, Ankara, Türkiye ²Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 24.07.2022

Date accepted: 15.08.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Hale Ateş, M.D., Ataturk Sanatoryum Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Immunology and Allergy, Ankara, Türkiye dr.haleates@hotmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8374-5814

Keywords: Anaphylaxis, angioedema, drug side effects, hypersensitivity reaction

Presented in: This study was presented as an oral presentation at the 6th International Health Science and Family Medicine Congress, 16-18 April 2021, Izmir, Türkiye.

ABSTRACT

Aims: We evaluated the knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of residents and specialists working in tertiary healthcare institutions about drug allergy.

Methods: Residents and specialist medical doctors working at a tertiary health institution were included in the study. A questionnaire consisting of questions evaluating occupational and demographic characteristics, knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors about drug allergy was prepared and administered to the participants.

Result: Only 26 (21.3%) of the participants had attended any training on drug allergies. Of the participants, 73 (59.8%) felt competent in taking and interpreting an accurate allergy history for drugs. Of the participants, 107 (87.7%) knew that it is often impossible to reach a definite conclusion about drug allergy based on anamnesis alone. Only half of the participants stated that they could spare enough time for detailed anamnesis about drug allergy in their daily practice. Only 19 (15.6%) of the participants stated that they referred patients with suspected drug allergies to an allergist at a rate of 90-100%. When the answers of the assistant and specialists were compared; the proportion of respondents to the question of the most important drug classes responsible for allergic reactions, including antibiotics and aspirin/other NSAIDs (28.9% vs. 67.7%; p<0.001). And the rate of those who responded corticosteroids+antihistamines+adrenaline to the question of the most recommended drug classes to treat drug allergies was found to be higher in specialist physicians (19.8% vs. 71%; p<0.001).

Conclusion: This cross-sectional study showed a low level of awareness, knowledge, and competency in the management of drug allergies among residents and specialists from different fields.

Introduction

Drug allergy accounts for less than 10% of drug side effects (1). Drug allergies are seen in 1-2% of hospital admissions and 3-5% of hospitalized patients. However, the actual incidence of drug allergy in children and adults in the community is unknown. Because the diagnosis of allergic drug reactions is often based on history taking, diagnostic tests are not performed, past studies have been mostly conducted with selected patient groups or special reaction types and standardized questionnaires or tests

are not used in the evaluation, the data about the true frequency of hypersensitivity reactions due to drugs are limited (2-4).

It is often misleading to reach a diagnosis by only history taking in drug allergies. However, only 5-30% of cases with suspected drug allergies can be confirmed after the tests (5). However, both underdiagnosis (due to underreporting) and overdiagnosis (due to overuse of the term "allergy") are common, as the diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity is largely based on history (6). Determining whether the drug is responsible for the allergic condition by applying an algorithmic approach using objective methods is an important practice in patients with suspected drug allergies. In this way, recurrent drug allergies can be prevented in patients, their anxiety about drug use can be reduced, and unnecessary drug restrictions can be avoided (7). Therefore, increasing the awareness of drug allergy among physicians in different specialties, especially among primary care and emergency physicians, is essential (8). Physicians should review the drug allergy history, particularly for the drugs they frequently recommend to their patients, to prevent potential drug reactions (9). Patients with a positive history should be informed to avoid using the related drug and other structurally similar drugs, along with a referral to an allergist for further evaluation (6,10).

Given the lack of sufficient data about the awareness of drug allergies among different specialties in the local context, this study evaluated the knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of residents and specialists working in tertiary healthcare institutions about drug allergies.

Methods

A cross-sectional survey was designed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the Good Clinical Practice Guidelines. The study was approved by the Ankara City Hospital Ethics Committee (protocol no: E2-21-270, date: 10.03.2021).

The study population included residents and specialists working in a tertiary healthcare institution, over the age of 18 who agreed to participate in the study. The following questionnaire was used to evaluate the knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors about drug allergy;

Questionnaire

- 1. How do you assess the clinical significance of drug allergies in your daily practice?
 - a. Critical
 - b. Important
 - c. Less important
- 2. How often do you encounter patients with drug allergies in your current clinical practice?
 - a. Every day
 - b. 1-2 times a week
 - c. Every 2-3 months
 - d. Almost never
- 3. Can you spare enough time for detailed anamnesis about drug allergy in your daily practice?

- 4. Do you feel competent to take and interpret an accurate history of allergy to drugs?
 - a. Yes
 - **b.** No
- 5. Do you think it is often possible to reach a definite conclusion about drug allergy based on anamnesis alone?
 - a. Yes
 - **b.** No
- 6. Have you attended any training on drug allergies?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 7. In the presence of which of the following clinical conditions that develop after drug intake, do you suspect drug allergy? (you can tick more than one option)
 - a. Urticaria plaques
 - b. Localized/generalized angioedema
 - c. Eczematous/maculopapular/bullous skin rashes
 - d. Bronchospasm (cough, shortness of breath, wheezing)
 - e. Gastrointestinal findings (nausea-vomiting, diarrhea)
 - f. Rhinitis, conjunctivitis
 - g. Laryngeal edema
 - h. Hypotension
 - i. Anaphylaxis
- 8. What percentage of patients with suspected drug allergies have you referred to an allergist?
 - **a.** <10%
 - **b.** 20-40%
 - **c.** 50-80%
 - **d.** 90-100%
- 9. What is your first advice to a patient with a suspected drug allergy?

a. I tell the patients to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction

b. I give information about drug allergy

c. I have placed a consultation at the allergic diseases department

- d. I refer the patient to the dermatology department
- e. I have suggested another drug that he can use orally without testing
- **f.** I tell the patients to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction and provide information about drug allergy
- **g.** I tell the patients to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction and refer them to the allergic diseases department

275

a. Yes **b.** No

- 10. Is there an allergic disease clinic in your workplace?
 - a. Yes
 - **b.** No

c. I don't know

- 11. Would you ask a patient describing a drug allergy if he/ she has a drug allergy promotion card/tag/necklace?
 - a. Yes
 - **b.** No
- 12. What are the most important classes of drugs that you consider responsible for allergic reactions?
 - a. Antibiotics
 - b. Aspirin/Other NSAIDs
 - c. Muscle relaxants
 - d. Flu medications
- 13. Proton pump inhibitors/H₂ receptor antagonists/ Radiocontrast agent
 - a. Local/General anesthetics
 - b. Vaccines
- 14. What are the most recommended classes of drugs for treating drug allergies?
 - a. Corticosteroids
 - b. Antihistamines
 - c. Adrenalin
 - d. Alternative treatments
 - e. I do not know
- 15. How do you evaluate the effectiveness of alternative methods, such as acupuncture and homeopathy, in the diagnosis and treatment of drug allergies?
 - a. Very effective
 - b. Effective
 - c. Ineffective
 - d. I don't know

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences 18 (SPSS) for Windows 20 (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The normality of the distribution was evaluated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Numeric variables showing normal distribution were displayed as mean ± standard deviation, and skewed numeric variables were displayed as median (minimum-maximum). Categorical variables are expressed as numbers and percentages. The chi-square test was used to compare the differences between the categorical variables in the residents and specialists. P<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

The study population consisted of 122 participants, 91 residents, and 31 specialists. The mean age was 30.3±6.4 years (range: 24-65 years) and there was a 1:1 ratio between women and men. Most participants were medical doctors working in the internal medicine department (82.8%).

The answers given by the participants to the survey questions are shown in Table 1. Only 26 (21.3%) of the participants had attended any training on drug allergies. However, 73 (59.8%) of the participants felt competent/sufficient to take an accurate allergy history for drugs and interpret it. Of the participants, 107 (87.7%) knew that it is often impossible to reach a definite conclusion about drug allergy based on anamnesis alone. Only half of the participants stated that they could spare enough time for detailed anamnesis about drug allergy in their daily practice. Only 19 (15.6%) of the participants stated that they referred patients with suspected drug allergies to an allergist at a rate of 90-100%. When the responses from the residents and specialists were compared; the proportion of respondents to the question of the most important drug classes responsible for allergic reactions was different in the two groups, including antibiotics and aspirin/other NSAIDs (28.9% vs 67.7%; p<0.001). The rate of responses to corticosteroids+antihistamines+adrenaline as the most recommended drug classes to treat drug allergies, was also different and higher among specialists (19.8% vs. 71%; p<0.001). The proportion of participants who received training on drug allergies (26.4% vs. 6.5%; p=0.022) and the proportion of correct responses to the question of which clinical conditions that develop following exposure to a drug may suggest drug allergies were lower among the specialists (49.5% vs. 6.5%; p<0.001).

Discussion

We conducted this study to evaluate the level of knowledge about drug allergies among residents and specialists in a tertiary healthcare institution. Drug allergies are not considered direct drug side effects. Moreover, they account for a small proportion of unwanted side effects associated with drugs. Several risk factors take part in the development of drug-induced allergic reactions. These are primarily the drug-related, personal, immunogenic, and pharmacogenetic factors and comorbidities. Considering these risk factors, it is often unpredictable whether a drug-induced allergic reaction may develop or not. Therefore, health teams working in emergency departments, outpatient services, clinics, or intensive care units should be well-equipped about drug allergies.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, when the vaccines, a glimmer of hope at the end of the pandemic, came into use, allergic reactions related to vaccines undoubtedly came to the fore in the whole society. Vaccines were not given due to the fear of an allergic reaction due to the vaccine in many cases.

Table 1. Questionnaire on knowledge, attitudes and be	haviors of resident	ts and specialists about	drug allergy	
Questions	Total (n=122)	Assistants (n=91)	Specialists (n=31)	p value
How do you assess the clinical significance of drug al	lergies in your dail	y practice?		
Very important	69 (56.6%)	50 (54.9%)	19 (61.3%)	
Important	48 (39.3%)	36 (39.6%)	12 (38.7%)	0.545
Less important	5 (4.1%)	5 (5.5%)	0 (0)	
How often do you encounter patients with drug allergie	es in your current o	clinical practice?		
Every day	0	0	0	
1-2 times a week	19 (15.6%)	16 (17.6%)	3 (9.7%)	0.040
Every 2-3 months	79 (64.8%)	60 (65.9%)	19 (61.3%)	0.249
Almost never	24 (19.7%)	15 (16.5%)	9 (29.0%)	-
Can you spare enough time for a detailed anamnesis a	about drug allergy i	n your daily practice?		
Yes	61 (50.0%)	48 (52.7%)	13 (41.9%)	0.400
No	61 (50.0%)	43 (47.3%)	18 (58.1%)	- 0.406
Do you feel competent/competent to take and interpret	t an accurate histo	ry of allergy to drugs?		
Yes	73 (59.8%)	59 (64.8%)	14 (45.2%)	0.000
No	49 (40.2%)	32 (35.2%)	17 (54.8%)	- 0.060
Do you think it is often possible to reach a definite cor	nclusion about drug	g allergy based on anam	nesis alone?	
Yes	15 (12.3%)	12 (13.2%)	3 (9.7%)	0.750
No	107 (87.7%)	79 (86.8%)	28 (90.3%)	- 0.758
Have you attended any training on drug allergies?				
Yes	26 (21.3%)	24 (26.4%)	2 (6.5%)	0.000*
No	96 (78.7%)	67 (73.6%)	29 (93.5%)	- 0.022*
Urticaria plaques	113 (92.6%)	84 (92.3%)	29 (93.5%)	0.999
Localized/generalized angioedema	103 (84.4%)	83 (91.2%)	20 (64.5%)	0.001*
Eczematous/maculopapular/bullous skin rashes	83 (68.0%)	73 (80.2%)	10 (32.3%)	<0.001*
Bronchospasm (cough, shortness of breath, wheezing)	119 (97.5%)	89 (97.8%)	30 (96.8%)	0.999
Gastrointestinal findings (nausea-vomiting, diarrhea)	82 (67.2%)	67 (73.6%)	15 (48.4%)	0.018*
Rhinitis, conjunctivitis	55 (45.1%)	48 (52.7%)	7 (22.6%)	0.007*
Laryngeal edema	118 (96.7%)	87 (95.6%)	31 (100.0%)	0.546
Hypotension	108 (88.5%)	79 (86.8%)	29 (93.5%)	0.49
Anaphylaxis	117 (95.9%)	89 (97.8%)	28 (90.3%)	0.197
What percentage of patients with suspected drug aller	gies have you refe	rred to an allergist?		
<10%	54 (44.3%)	45 (49.5%)	9 (29.0%)	
20-40%	25 (20.5%)	13 (14.3%)	12 (38.7%)	0.0001
50-80%	24 (19.7%)	18 (19.8%)	6 (19.4%)	- 0.036*
90-100%	19 (15.6%)	15 (16.5%)	4 (12.9%)	-
Urticaria plaques	113 (92.6%)	84 (92.3%)	29 (93.5%)	0.999
Localized/generalized angioedema	103 (84.4%)	83 (91.2%)	20 (64.5%)	0.001*
Eczematous/maculopapular/bullous skin rashes	83 (68.0%)	73 (80.2%)	10 (32.3%)	<0.001*
Bronchospasm (cough, shortness of breath, wheezing)	119 (97.5%)	89 (97. 8%)	30 (96.8%)	0.999
Gastrointestinal findings (nausea-vomiting, diarrhea)	82 (67.2%)	67 (73.6%)	15 (48.4%)	0.018*
Rhinitis, conjunctivitis	55 (45.1%)	48 (52.7%)	7 (22.6%)	0.007*
Laryngeal edema	118 (96.7%)	87 (95.6%)	31 (100.0%)	0.546
Hypotension	108 (88.5%)	79 (86.8%)	29 (93.5%)	0.49
Anaphylaxis	117 (95.9%)	89 (97.8%)	28 (90.3%)	0.197

Table 1. Continued					
Questions	Total (n=122)	Assistants (n=91)	Specialists (n=31)	p value	
What percentage of patients with suspected drug allerg	gies have you referre	ed to an allergist?			
<10%	54 (44.3%)	45 (49.5%)	9 (29.0%)		
20-40%	25 (20.5%)	13 (14.3%)	12 (38.7%)	0.026*	
50-80%	24 (19.7%)	18 (19.8%)	6 (19.4%)	- 0.036*	
90-100%	19 (15.6%)	15 (16.5%)	4 (12.9%)		
What is your first advice to a patient with suspected dr	ug allergy?				
I tell the patient to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction	91 (74.6%)	78 (77.2%)	13 (61.9%)		
I give information about drug allergy	12 (9.8%)	10 (9.9%)	2 (9.5%)		
I place a consultation at the allergic diseases department	10 (8.2%)	7 (6.9%)	3 (14.3%)		
I refer the patient to the dermatology department	1 (0.8%)	0	1 (4.8%)		
I suggest another drug that he can use orally without testing	5 (4.1%)	3 (3.0%)	2 (9.5%)	0.173	
I tell the patient to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction and give information about drug allergy	2 (1.6%)	2 (2.0%)	0		
I tell the patient to avoid the drug that causes the allergic reaction and refer to the allergic diseases department	1 (0.8%)	1 (1.0%)	0		
Is there an allergic diseases clinic in your workplace?					
Yes	92 (75.4%)	69 (75.8%)	23 (74.2%)	_	
No	9 (7.4%)	1 (1.1%)	8 (25.8%)	<0.001*	
I don't know	21 (17.2%)	21 (23.1%)	0 (10%)	_	
Would you ask the patient describing a drug allergy if h	ne/she has a drug all	ergy promotion card/t	ag/necklace?		
Yes	54 (44.3%)	48 (52.7%)	6 (19.4%)	0.001*	
No	68 (55.7%)	43 (47.3%)	25 (80.6%)		
What are the most important classes of drugs you const	sider responsible for	allergic reactions?			
Antibiotics	114 (93.4%)	83 (91.2%)	31 (100.0%)	0.198	
Aspirin/Other NSAIDs	55 (45.1%)	34 (37.4%)	21 (67.7%)	0.006*	
Muscle relaxants	15 (12.3%)	8 (8.8%)	7 (22.6%)	0.089	
Flu medications	8 (6.6%)	5 (5.5%)	3 (9.7%)	0.695	
Proton pump inhibitors/H ₂ receptor antagonists/ Radiocontrast agent	4 (3.3%)	3 (3.3%)	1 (3.2%)	0.999	
Local/General anesthetics	68 (55.7%)	40 (44.0%)	28 (90.3%)	<0.001*	
Vaccines	27 (22.1%)	16 (17.6%)	11 (35.5%)	0.047*	
Antibiotics	35 (28.7%)	26 (28.6%)	9 (29.0%)	0.999	
What are the most recommended classes of drugs for		es?			
Corticosteroids	68 (55.7%)	51 (50.5%)	17 (81.0%)	0.021*	
Antihistamines	93 (76.2%)	73 (72.3%)	20 (95.2%)	0.049*	
Adrenalin	57 (46.7%)	44 (43.6%)	13 (61.9%)	0.196	
Alternative treatments	3 (2.5%)	3 (3.0%)	0	0.980	
I do not know	1 (0.8%)	1 (1.0%)	0	0.999	
How do you evaluate the effectiveness of alternative m treatment of drug allergies?	ethods such as acup	ouncture and homeopa	athy in the diagnosis	and	
Very effective	0	0	0		
Effective	9 (7.4%)	7 (7.7%)	2 (6.5%)	0.502	
Ineffective	27 (22.1%)	18 (19.8%)	9 (29.0%)	- 0.502	
I don't know	86 (70.5%)	66 (72.5%)	20 (64.5%)		
NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs					

For this reason, we planned the current study to determine how much knowledge healthcare teams had about drug allergies.

We observed that approximately 20% of our study population had seldom encountered drug allergies. This is a significant finding because drug allergies are rare, contrary to what is known. It was determined that approximately 50% of the population did not have enough time to question their drug allergies while taking anamnesis. However, it was also determined that approximately 40% of the study population did not consider themselves sufficient to take anamnesis about drug allergies and interpret the results. Overall, these results did not differ between residents and specialists, suggesting the lack of anamnesis which is a fundamental practice to identify potential drug allergies in a tertiary healthcare institution. With the help of detailed anamnesis, whether the developing-allergic reaction is related to a drug hypersensitivity reaction and whether it is an immunogenic reaction or a non-immunogenic reaction can be evaluated (11,12). Additionally, information about the severity of the reaction, systemic involvement, and which organs are involved can be obtained through history taking (13-15). Nevertheless, approximately 87% of the study population thought that it was insufficient to draw a firm conclusion about drug allergies based on anamnesis alone. Considering the collected information, there seems an open area in the local context to increase the awareness of relevant history taking to assess past-allergic reactions to estimate potential future events.

We observed that specialists reported a lesser involvement in training in drug allergies compared with residents. Blurring of consciousness, tachycardia, tachypnea, hypotension, arrhythmia, urticaria plaques, general, or local angioedema, rhonchi, wheezing, wheezing, fixed drug eruptions and sweating are the frequently encountered findings in drug allergies. Concerning the responses, signs and symptoms of anaphylaxis, such as urticaria plaques, hypotension, laryngeal edema, and bronchospasm, were similarly marked by the two groups. However, the awareness of residents was higher in findings such as localized/generalized angioedema, gastrointestinal findings, rhinoconjunctivitis, and skin rashes (16,17).

Concerning the behavior of referring a patient to an allergist in case of a suspicious drug allergy, approximately 44% of the study population was identified with the lowest 10% positive responses. The rate of referral of the residents to allergy specialists was slightly higher than that of the specialist doctors. This finding suggests another point for improvement among physicians as such the need for an allergy specialist to determine the type of reaction through diagnostic tests, as well as to recommend safer alternatives and, in some cases, to perform desensitization.

The participants selected recommendations of "stopping the drug that causes an allergic reaction" and "referring to the allergy department" in case of allergic reactions related to a drug. Although this was a satisfactory finding, fewer than half of the participants did prepare a "drug allergy identification card, tag and necklace" for their patients. As such tags can be life-saving in patients presenting with confusion or severe symptoms (14), the information and awareness in this regard need to be improved.

Antibiotics, aspirin and other NSAIDs, and radiocontrast were the most selected agents responsible for allergic reactions, which is consistent with the general practice (10,18-20). The participants responded satisfactorily to the most commonly used medications to treat drug allergies, such as corticosteroids, antihistamines, and adrenaline. The awareness of specialists is higher in this regard. Knowledge and awareness of acupuncture and homeopathy for treating drug allergies were limited in the study group.

The main limitations of our study are its cross-sectional design and small sample size. The major strength is the inclusion of specialists at a high-level care facility. It should also be emphasized that the study provides a comparison between postgraduate specialists and fellows in training, enabling the determination of gaps in experience in early career medical doctors.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study showed a low level of awareness and knowledge on the role of history taking about drug allergies, a low level of competency in the interpretation of an accurate drug allergy, and insufficient experience in recognizing the clinical conditions that may develop after taking a drug and guiding a patient with suspected drug allergy.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ankara City Hospital Ethics Committee (protocol no: E2-21-270, date: 10.03.2021).

Informed Consent: A cross-sectional survey study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices - Concept - Design - Data Collection or Processing - Analysis or Interpretation - Literature Search - Writing: H.A., E.S.Ş.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Thong BYH, Tan TC, Epidemiology and risk factors for drug allergy. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;71:684-700.
- Torres M, Romano A, Celik G, et al. Approach to the diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity reactions: similarities and differences between Europe and North America. Clin Transl Allergy. 2017;7:7.
- Kvedariene V, Sitkauskiene B, Tamasauskiene L, et al. Prevalence of self-reported drug hypersensitivity reactions among Lithuanian children and adults. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2019;47:32-37.
- Sousa-Pinto B, Fonseca JA, Gomes ER. Frequency of self-reported drug allergy: a systematic review and metaanalysis with meta-regression. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017;119:362-373.
- Solymosi D, Sárdy M, Pónyai G. Interdisciplinary significance of food-related adverse reactions in adulthood. Nutrients. 2020;12:3725.
- Demoly P, Adkinson NF, Brockow K, et al. International Con sensus on drug allergy. Allergy. 2014;69:420-437.
- Blumenthal KG, Harkness T, Phillips EJ, et al. Patient characteristics and concerns about drug allergy: a report from the United States Drug Allergy Registry. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020;8:2958-2967.
- Wang Y, Zhu R, Huang N, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices survey of drug allergy among healthcare practitioners in central China: a multicenter study. Asia Pac Allergy. 2016;6:105-111.
- 9. Schultz L, Ettling M, Chitsulo L, et al. A nation-wide malaria knowledge, attitudes and practices survey in Malawi: objectives and methodology. Trop Med Parasitol. 1994;45:54-56.

- Warrington R, Silviu-Dan F, Wong T. Drug allergy. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2018;14(Suppl 2):60.
- Pichler WJ, Adam J, Daubner B, Gentinetta T, Keller M, Yerly D. Drug hypersensitivity reactions: pathomechanism and clinical symptoms. Med Clin North Am. 2010;94:645-664.
- 12. Pichler WJ. Immune mechanism of drug hypersensitivity. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2004;24:373-397.
- 13. Schnyder B. Approach to the patient with drug allergy. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2009;29:405-418.
- Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters; American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. Drug allergy: an updated practice parameter. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2010;105:259-273.
- 15. Mirakian R, Ewan P, Durham S, et al. BSACI guidelines for the management of drug allergy. Clin Exp Allergy. 2009;39:43-61.
- McKenna JK, Leiferman KM. Dermatologic drug reactions. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2004;24:399-423.
- Bircher AJ, Scherer K. Delayed cutaneous manifestations of drug hypersensitivity. Med Clin North Am. 2010;94:711-725.
- Warrington R, Silviu-Dan F. Drug allergy. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2011;7(Suppl 1):10.
- Torres MJ, Blanca M, Fernandez J, et al. Diagnosis of immediate allergic reactions to beta-lactam antibiotics. Allergy. 2003;58:961-972.
- Doña I, Barrionuevo E, Blanca-Lopez N, et al. Trends in hypersensitivity drug reactions: more drugs, more response patterns, more heterogeneity. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2014;24:143-153.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.67209 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:281-4



Hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis coexistence in patients with Down syndrome: A case series

Neslihan Demirel Öğüt¹, Pelin Eşme², Ercan Çalışkan²

¹Usak University Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Dermatology and Venereology, Usak, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Dermatology and Venereology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 25.08.2021

Date accepted: 23.11.2021 Online publication date:

08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Neslihan Demirel Öğüt, M.D., Usak University Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Dermatology and Venereology, Usak, Türkiye neslihandemirel459@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5051-5481

Keywords: Down syndrome, hidradenitis suppurativa, psoriasis

ABSTRACT

Down syndrome is the most common chromosomal disorder associated with skin conditions, including psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa. Patients with Down syndrome are more likely to be overweight or obese and diagnosed with metabolic comorbidities such as cardiovascular disorders, inflammatory joint diseases as in psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa. Although both hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis are associated with Down syndrome, concurrent psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa in the same patient with Down syndrome have not been reported in the literature. Here, we describe three patients with Down syndrome having both hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis by discussing the common etiopathogenesis considering the current literature.

Introduction

Down syndrome or trisomy 21 is the most common chromosomal abnormality, with a worldwide incidence of 1 in 800 live births. Besides the common phenotypic characteristics such as upslanted palpebral fissures, flattened nasal bridge, nuchal folds, and single palmar flexion crease, individuals with Down syndrome have a higher risk of congenital anomalies and multiorgan comorbidities, including skin disorders (1). Follicular occlusion disorders are frequently observed in patients with Down syndrome, and hidradenitis suppurativa is one of the most common follicular conditions following folliculitis, keratosis pilaris, and acne vulgaris (2). Psoriasis prevalence is also observed higher in patients with Down syndrome compared to controls, even though the exact association between psoriasis and Down syndrome has not been established yet (3). Psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa share common immunologic and inflammatory pathways in pathogenesis. In a large-scale population study, it has been shown that there is a significant association between psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa (4). However, as far as we know, the coexistence of these disorders has not been previously described in patients with Down syndrome.

Here, we report three patients with Down syndrome being affected by hidradenitis suppurativa and concomitant psoriasis, describe their clinical features, and discuss the common etiopathogenetic pathways.

Case Presentation

The demographic and clinical characteristics of three patients with Down syndrome who had also been diagnosed with both psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa are provided in Table 1. All patients were male, obese with a body mass index over 30 kg/m², and had congenital thyroid disorders in common. Case 1 had epilepsy and recurrent lower respiratory tract infections. Case 2 had a history of acute lymphoblastic leukemia and familial Mediterranean fever. None of the patients had a family history of hidradenitis suppurativa or psoriasis. The severity of hidradenitis suppurativa was Hurley stage 2 in case 1 and case 3, and Hurley stage 1 in case 2. The type of psoriasis was plaque-type in all patients. Figures 1 and 2 represent the lesions of the hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis of Case 1, respectively. Previous treatments of the patients for hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis are shown in Table 1. Case 1 was given oral acitretin with a dose of 25 mg/kg per day and the psoriatic lesions improved significantly, but hidradenitis suppurativa lesions did not show sufficient improvement in the three-month period of the treatment. Cases 2 and 3 have been under topical corticosteroid treatment for psoriasis with excellent response. Case 2 benefited from topical clindamycin 2% solution for hidradenitis suppurativa lesions, while oral doxycycline 200 mg BID treatment showed efficacy in case 3.

Discussion

Hidradenitis suppurativa is one of the most common skin disorders in patients with Down syndrome, and the risk of hidradenitis suppurativa is five times higher in patients with Down syndrome than in the normal population (5,6). It has been shown that Down syndrome-related hidradenitis suppurativa appears earlier in life and shows a mild or moderate disease course as in current cases staged as Hurley 1 and 2 (7). The genetic background of hidradenitis suppurativa is based on disrupted notch signaling due to loss-of-function mutations in the genes encoding gamma-secretase transmembranous enzyme complex (8). Blok et al. (9) have suggested that the association between hidradenitis suppurativa and Down syndrome results from the overexpression of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) gene, located on chromosome 21. APP and notch receptors are competitive substrates for the gammasecretase transmembranous enzyme complex. Thus, increased APP expression may lead to the disruption of notch signaling. Increased expression of APP and consequent notch signaling impairment may stimulate impaired keratinocyte adhesion, migration, and proliferation, causing follicular plugging, which is thought to play a significant role in hidradenitis suppurativa pathogenesis (9). Besides, impaired notch signaling pathways may contribute to the dysregulation of the inflammatory response in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa and Down syndrome.

Characteristics	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3
Age (years)/gender	27/male	24/male	20/male
Body mass index (kg/m²)	34.2	32	42.6
Family history for hidradenitis suppurativa	No	No	No
Onset of hidradenitis suppurativa	17 years old	15 years old	19 years old
Hidradenitis involvement	Axilla, inguinal folds, abdomen, pubic and intergluteal region	Back	Axilla, intergluteal region
Hurley stage of hidradenitis suppurativa	2	1	2
Family history of psoriasis	No	No	No
Onset of psoriasis	13 years old	20 years old	18 years old
Type of psoriasis	Vulgaris	Vulgaris	Vulgaris
Psoriasis involvement	Dorsum of the hands and feet, bilateral shins, fingernails, and toenails	Dorsum of the hands and fingers, bilateral elbows	Dorsum of the hands bilateral elbows
PASI score	8	1.6	1.8
Comorbidities	Epilepsy, hypothyroidism, Recurrent lower respiratory tract infections	ALL, FMF, hyperthyroidism	Hypothyroidism
Concomitant treatments	Levothyroxine, levetiracetam, sodium valproate	Allopurinol, colchicine	Levothyroxine

ALL: Acute lymphoblastic leukemia, FMF: Familial Mediterranean Fever, PASI: Psoriasis area severity index



Figure 1. Hidradenitis suppurativa lesions of case 1: Multiple abscesses, postinflammatory hyperpigmented and atrophic scars in axillary (A, B), abdominal, pubic, and inguinal regions (C)



Figure 2. Psoriasis skin and toenail involvement of case 1: Erythematous papules and plaques with a silvery scale on the dorsal aspect of the hands (A, B) and the feet, and yellow discoloration and subungual hyperkeratosis on toenails, well-demarcated brownish-red patches on anterior tibial surfaces (C)

Psoriasis is an immune-mediated and chronic inflammatory skin disorder (10). The frequency of psoriasis in patients with Down syndrome has been demonstrated to be approximately 9% (2,6). As these data are based solely on case studies, the relationship between psoriasis and Down syndrome remains to be elucidated. It has been proposed that the high frequency of psoriasis in patients with Down syndrome is related to elevated serum levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha, interleukin (IL)-1 beta, and interferon (IFN)-gamma (4). All of which are thought to be involved in psoriasis pathogenesis and high serum levels of INF-gamma and increased sensitivity to IFN-gamma due to chromosome 21 ploidy in patients with Down syndrome (3). The IL-23/Th17 and TNF-alpha pathways are common in the molecular pathogenesis of psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa. Further, psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa share common aggravating factors and comorbidities such as smoking, obesity, and metabolic syndrome (4). Patients with the dual diagnosis of hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis have been revealed to have a higher prevalence of obesity (4,11). Obesity occurs in more than 50% of adults with Down syndrome (1). Thus, the association between Down syndrome, hidradenitis suppurativa, and psoriasis may be attributed to the common pathophysiological mechanisms: dysregulated notch signaling and inflammatory mechanisms, and obesity. Psoriasis and hidradenitis suppurativa share common therapeutic options due to similarities in their pathogenic mechanisms (4). As patients with Down syndrome have a mild severity of hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis, treatment with topical corticosteroids and antibiotics may be sufficient to control the diseases (7). Oral acitretin and adalimumab, showing high efficacy on both hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis, may be required options in recalcitrant and moderate to severe cases (11,12). However, comorbidities requiring multiple medications and a dysregulated immune system ensuing susceptibility to infections and malignancies in Down syndrome may restrict treatment options (1). Dermatologists should exercise caution, and close follow-up should be recommended when using these treatments in patients with Down syndrome.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the coexistence of hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis in patients with Down syndrome is rare but should be kept in mind. Patients with Down syndrome should be carefully examined for accompanying dermatologic disorders. The management of the condition is challenging; hence, patients should be monitored closely after appropriate treatment selection.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices - Concept - Design - Data Collection or Processing - Analysis or Interpretation - Literature Search - Writing: N.D.Ö., P.E., E.Ç.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Bull MJ. Down Syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:2344-2352.
- Firsowicz M, Boyd M, Jacks SK. Follicular occlusion disorders in Down syndrome patients. Pediatr Dermatol. 2020;37:219-221.
- Marmon S, De Souza A, Strober BE. Psoriasis and Down syndrome: a report of three cases and a potential pathophysiologic link. Dermatol Online J. 2012;18:13.
- Kridin K, Shani M, Schonmann Y, et al. Psoriasis and Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Large-scale Population-based Study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2018:0190-9622.
- Garg A, Strunk A, Midura M, Papagermanos V, Pomerantz H. Prevalence of hidradenitis suppurativa among patients with Down syndrome: a population-based cross-sectional analysis. Br J Dermatol. 2018;178:697-703.
- Rork JF, McCormack L, Lal K, Wiss K, Belazarian L. Dermatologic conditions in Down syndrome: A single-center retrospective chart review. Pediatr Dermatol. 2020;37:811-816.
- Giovanardi G, Chiricozzi A, Bianchi L, et al. Hidradenitis Suppurativa Associated with Down Syndrome Is Characterized by Early Age at Diagnosis. Dermatology. 2018;234:66-70.
- Jfri AH, O'Brien EA, Litvinov IV, Alavi A, Netchiporouk E. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Comprehensive Review of Predisposing Genetic Mutations and Changes. J Cutan Med Surg. 2019;23:519-527.
- Blok J, Jonkman M, Horváth B. The possible association of hidradenitis suppurativa and Down syndrome: is increased amyloid precursor protein expression resulting in impaired Notch signalling the missing link?. Br J Dermatol. 2014;170:1375-1377.
- Armstrong AW, Read C. Pathophysiology, Clinical Presentation, and Treatment of Psoriasis: A Review. JAMA. 2020;323:1945-1960.
- Pinter A, Sarlak M, Zeiner KN, et al. Coprevalence of Hidradenitis Suppurativa and Psoriasis: Detailed Demographic, Disease Severity and Comorbidity Pattern. Dermatology. 2021;237:759-768.
- Orenstein LAV, Nguyen TV, Damiani G, Sayed C, Jemec GBE, Hamzavi I. Medical and Surgical Management of Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Review of International Treatment Guidelines and Implementation in General Dermatology Practice. Dermatology. 2020;236:393-412.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.96729 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:285-6



Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination"

Kazım Emre Karaşahin

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 10.02.2022 Date accepted: 19.02.2022 Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Kazım Emre Karaşahin, M.D., Prof., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Türkiye emre.karasahin@sbu.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4624-4874

Keywords: Vaccination, anti-vaxxer, anti-vaccination

Dear Editor,

I read the valuable article "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination" by Karabulut and Zengin (1), focusing on the opinions and experiences of parents and healthcare professionals about childhood vaccination and anti-vaccination, as well as evaluating the ethical aspects of the subject. They clearly state anti-vaccination as a dangerous situation for public health, but also mention it as a sign of "transition from sociality to individuality." I thank them for their meticulous work.

Karabulut and Zengin (1) very delicately point out the importance of ethical values to being respected by people, so that they can make their own choices freely. They also state that "limiting one's actions harm other individuals" is not curtailing the freedom, concluding ethically, one should try to balance and protect individual autonomy and social utility and that, vaccination is vital for protecting children's right to life.

However, for some, "vaccination isn't just an individual choice; it protects those who can't be vaccinated" as mentioned in (2). Since the outbreak of Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) began, there have been many extreme views: Anti-vaccination campaigns hitting record rates, along with the economic difficulties that have caused opportunities for anti-vaccination campaigners to target those who are vulnerable to anti-vaccination sentiment. This article warns that the anti-vaccination community may use anything that would go wrong to create "fear against vaccines" (2).

Exercising autonomy and refusing vaccination may be valid for sensitive personal issues, but if a certain percentage of the population does not get vaccines causing the immunization rate to fall below the herd immunity threshold- varying in every disease, this would harm the population in question (3). Vaccination of a critical number of individuals in a certain population reducing the risk of outbreaks of infectious diseases and protecting other members of the community has also been mentioned by Karabulut and Zengin (1).

The COVID-19 outbreaks had devastating effects on the people's well-being worldwide, not only health wise but also economically and socially. This would eventually raise the question of whether vaccination should be a topic of discussion, when the present data supports the lighter effects of the COVID-19 (and the variants) on vaccinated individuals, necessitating less intensive care unit hospitalizations and faster recovery possibilities having better overall effects on the people in general.

It is worth considering - while authors very kindly suggest "increasing the awareness of the anti-vaxxers behaviors damaging effect on public health"(1)- whether more direct and strict precautions to be taken for the good of community and public health. In my opinion, the importance and necessity of education cannot be denied, and providing reliable information to antivaccine community is the best way to promote the overall health of the populations, but as this takes a long time, in urgent events such as the unexpected pandemic we faced recently, strict global measures may have to be taken for the good of the people.

Ethics

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Karabulut SD, Zengin HY. Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes towards anti-vaccination. Gulhane Med J. 2021;63:260-266.
- Meggett K. Even COVID-19 can't kill the anti-vaccination movement. BMJ. 2020;369:m2184.
- Hussain A, Ali S, Ahmed M, Hussain S. The Anti-vaccination Movement: A Regression in Modern Medicine. Cureus. 2018;10:e2919.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2022.96729-reply Gulhane Med J 2022;64:287-8



Reply to: Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination"

Seyhan Demir Karabulut

Baskent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Date submitted: 26.08.2022

Date accepted: 30.08.2022

Online publication date: 08.09.2022

Corresponding Author:

Seyhan Demir Karabulut, Ph.D., MSc, Baskent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey seyhandem@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5473-573X

Keywords: Anti-vaccination, bioethics, individual autonomy, risk and benefits, slippery slope arguments

Dear Editor,

We would like to thank the author for his comments on our article "Parents' and healthcare professionals" views and attitudes towards anti-vaccination" (1).

As the author has mentioned, we have emphasized the importance of childhood vaccination in order to protect the best interests of children based on scientific knowledge. The group we have focused on was children younger than 18 years of age and therefore considered vulnerable. The responsibility of this vulnerable group rests with the parents. The point that parents should consider is parents have the responsibility and authority to make medical decisions on behalf of their children. They are, however, not as free in making the decision about their child as they would be about themselves and are responsible for caring for their children from the scientific perspective when it comes to life and health. Giving parents' beliefs and cultural values a priority and acquiescing in their decision not to vaccinate their children results in too much focus on their wishes rather than their children's benefits (2).

It is, an important ethical value that we should respect the right of people to make choices of their own free will. However, what is generally overlooked is that limiting one's actions that harm other individuals is not the same as curtailing one's freedom (2). This issue should be approached from John Stuart Mill's Harm Principle, which holds that one should be free to act however one wishes unless one's actions cause harm to somebody else (3). Mill also argues that not only one's actions but also one's failure to act may cause harm, for which one is therefore held responsible. From that perspective, vaccine hesitancy is about failure to act. It should always be kept in mind that a person who causes harm, whether by acting or failing to act, is held responsible for that harm either for acting or for failing to act (3).

However, the sentence" in urgent events such as the unexpected pandemic we faced recently, strict global measures may have to be taken for the good of the people" that the author has suggested (4) needs to be thought through and carefully evaluated. This discourse emphasizes the concept of "compulsory vaccination".

It would not be the right action for us to use the concept of "compulsory vaccination" so clearly when we evaluate this case, especially for autonomous people over the age of 18, whose benefit-risk assessment results are unclear yet. Because in ethics, "slippery slope" arguments lead us to think. The following is what is intended to be explained with this argument; an innocent step to be taken in the direction of situations that are likely to lead to unacceptable consequences for ethical values may cause undesirable situations. Starting to slide on the slope is used in the sense that the values drift to an uncontrollable and unstoppable point. If we formulate it, if the first step, step A, is taken, step B, which

defines an undesirable situation for which we have no reason to refuse it, will follow, followed by step C and will result in an unstoppable course from C to N. Unfortunately, step N is an ethically unacceptable step. If an action of type A is accepted, many actions of type B, type C, and from C to N actions will become accepted. For this reason, it is necessary not to take the first step, that is, step A, or to draw justified boundaries before reaching that area by noticing in advance the gray area where the loss of control begins. However, it is important that this limit is meaningful and drawn in order to protect ethical values (5-7). Based on this argument, it would be appropriate for the expression "strict global measures" to be evaluated by a scientific commission, including ethical experts in particular, and even if it is, its boundaries should be very clearly defined.

We would like to thank the author again for his interest and valuable contributions to our study.

Ethics

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

- Karabulut SD, Zengin HY. Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes towards anti-vaccination. Gulhane Med J. 2021;63:260-266.
- Türk Tabipleri Birliği. Aşı Konusunda Yaşanan Tereddütler, Aşı Reddi ve Aşı Karşıtlığı Konusunda Etik Kurul Görüşü. 2018. Erişim Adresi: http://www.ttb.org.tr. Son Erişim Tarihi: 02/01/2019.
- Avcı E. Childhood vaccination. In the U.S. and Turkey. Liberal Perspective: Analysis, 2017;6:5-35. Last Accessed Date: 01.01.2019. Available from: https://oad.org.tr/yayinlar/ analiz/ cocukluk-donemi-asilarina-iliskin-karsilastirmali-biranalizamerika-birlesik-devletleri-ve-turkiye/
- Karaşahin KE. Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals" views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination" Gulhane Med J. 2022;285-286
- Hartogh GA. "The Slippery Slope Argument". In: Kuhse H, Singer P (Edit), A Companion to Bioethics. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford. 1998;280-290.
- Oğuz NY, Tepe H, Büken NÖ, Kucur DK. Biyoetik Terimleri Sözlüğü. Türkiye Felsefe Kurumu. 1. Basım, Ankara, 2005.
- Walton D. The Slippery Slope Argument in The Ethical Debate on Genetic Engineering of Humans. Sci Eng Ethics. 2017;23:1507-1528.

CONTENTS

REVIEW

208 A systematic review and meta-analysis on blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in COVID-19 cases Mazaher Ramezani, Houshang Nemati, Farid Najafi, Babak Sayad, Masoud Sadeghi; Kermanshah, Iran

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

217 Changes in neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio following treatment with dapagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus

Süleyman Baş, Funda Müşerref Türkmen; İstanbul, Türkiye

- **222** Characteristics of fetal conotruncal heart anomalies Ayşe Keleş, Osman Yılmaz, Özge Yücel Çelik, Gülşah Dağdeviren, Gülşah Aynaoğlu Yıldız, Aykan Yücel, Dilek Şahin; Ankara, Türkiye
- **229** Efficacy of ifosfamide, carboplatin and etoposide chemotherapy protocol in relapsed refractory germ cell tumors Musa Barış Aykan, İsmail Ertürk, Ramazan Acar, Gül Sema Keskin, Ece Örnek, Nuri Karadurmuş; Ankara, Türkiye
- **235** The impact of oocyte denudation without a pre-incubation on intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes Zehra Beyza Düzgün, Mehmet Cincik, Yaprak Dönmez Çakıl, Şenay Kanaat, Belgin Selam; Istanbul, Türkiye
- 240 The relationship of atherogenic index of plasma with endothelial dysfunction biomarkers in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease

Ali Kırık, Hasan Gürel, Halil Genç, Gürkan Çelebi, Ali Cem Yekdeş, Serkan Tapan, Ali Fuat Çiçek, Sultan Türel, Cemal Nuri Erçin, Alper Sönmez, Teoman Doğru; Balikesir, Samsun, Izmir, Ankara, Nigde, Türkiye

- **248** Association between diabetes mellitus and disability in hand osteoarthritis Sanem Aslıhan Aykan, Serdar Kaymaz; İstanbul, Denizli, Türkiye
- 255 Epithelium-off corneal cross-linking versus transepithelial diluted alcohol and iontophoresis-assisted corneal cross-linking in keratoconus patients with thin corneas Betül Seher Uysal, Murat Yüksel, Mehmet Cüneyt Özmen, Bahri Aydın, Kamil Bilgihan; Ankara, Türkiye
- 262 Caffeine intake and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women Kübra Tel Adıgüzel, Özlem Köroğlu; Ankara, Türkiye
- 268 Decreased vitamin D levels in children and adolescents with Celiac disease: A nationwide cross-sectional study Zülfikar Akelma, Melikşah Keskin, Şenay Savaş Erdeve, Nurbanu Bursa, Osman Çelik, Ersan İmrat, Mustafa Mahir Ülgü, Murat Çağlayan, Naim Ata, Şuayip Birinci; Ankara, Türkiye
- 274 Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of residents and specialists working in tertiary healthcare institutions about drug allergy

Hale Ateş, Enes Seyda Şahiner; Ankara, Türkiye

CASE REPORT

281 Hidradenitis suppurativa and psoriasis coexistence in patients with Down syndrome: A case series Neslihan Demirel Öğüt, Pelin Eşme, Ercan Çalışkan; Usak, Ankara, Türkiye

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR

- **285** Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination" Kazım Emre Karaşahin; Ankara, Türkiye
- **287** Reply to: Comment on "Parents' and healthcare professionals' views and attitudes toward anti-vaccination" Seyhan Demir Karabulut; Ankara, Turkey